

Walden University ScholarWorks

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2017

# Strategies for Effective Financial Management in Vincentian Small Businesses

Kishore Nalin Shallow *Walden University* 

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations Part of the <u>Business Administration, Management, and Operations Commons, Finance and</u> <u>Financial Management Commons, and the Management Sciences and Quantitative Methods</u> <u>Commons</u>

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection at ScholarWorks. It has been accepted for inclusion in Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks. For more information, please contact ScholarWorks@waldenu.edu.

## Walden University

College of Management and Technology

This is to certify that the doctoral study by

Kishore Shallow

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee Dr. Julia East, Committee Chairperson, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Dr. Cheryl McMahan, Committee Member, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Dr. Anne Davis, University Reviewer, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Chief Academic Officer Eric Riedel, Ph.D.

Walden University 2017

Abstract

Strategies for Effective Financial Management in Vincentian Small Businesses

by

Kishore N. M. Shallow

MBA, University of Wales Institute, Cardiff, 2009

BSc, University of Sunderland, 2007

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Business Administration

Walden University

August 2017

Abstract

The lack of strategies for effective financial management has been an impediment to the survival and growth of many small businesses in Saint Vincent (St. Vincent), an island in the Caribbean. Inadequate adoption of strategies by small business owners is a prime contributing factor to small business failure. The purpose of this research was to identify strategies that small business owners use for effective financial management. Institutional theory served as the conceptual framework for this multiple case study. Participants consisted of 4 St. Vincent small business owners who had demonstrated effective financial management strategies in the operation of their businesses. Data collection occurred through semistructured interviews and a review of documentation, which was complemented by the use of member checking to strengthen the credibility and trustworthiness of findings. Three themes emerged through thematic data analysis: (a) strategic accounting practices, (b) set patterns, and (c) financial planning. Prudent accounting practices and sound financial planning are to be standard adoption by small business owners to have effective financial management. A conclusion, based on study findings, is that identification and implementation of effective financial management strategies may increase small business success, potentially resulting in growth in the number of small businesses in St. Vincent and an improved economy. Subsequent positive social change for Vincentians may include poverty reduction, lower unemployment, and a diminished crime rate.

## Strategies for Effective Financial Management in Vincentian Small Businesses

by

Kishore N. M. Shallow

MBA, University of Wales Institute, Cardiff, 2009

BSc, University of Sunderland, 2007

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Business Administration

Walden University

August 2017

#### Dedication

Everything I have achieved is due to my mother, Debra Shallow, to whom I mainly dedicate the success of my doctoral journey. This achievement is also a gift to my grandmother, Lucinda Shallow, who, like my mom, has gone to the great beyond. I also dedicate this accomplishment to my daughter, Ma'K-lei Shallow; other family members; friends; colleagues; young entrepreneurs; and the people of my country of birth, St. Vincent and the Grenadines.

#### Acknowledgments

Despite my mother not being alive when I started this doctoral journey, the ambitions and principles that she instilled in me are the foundation on which I was able to undertake this magnificent task. I am eternally grateful for having such a splendid role model. My family and friends have been a real source of inspiration throughout this journey, and I want to thank them immensely.

The Walden experience would not have been a success without the valuable contribution of Dr. Julia East, my chair. I thank you for your patience and astute guidance. I also acknowledge my additional DBA committee members, Dr. Cheryl McMahan and Dr. Anne Davis, for their timely involvement. The classmates whom I shared this journey with were incalculably supportive, and I express my gratitude to each. My appreciation also goes to the participants of the study, who were all very cooperative.

Section 1: Foundation of the Study	1
Background of the Problem	1
Problem Statement	2
Purpose Statement	2
Nature of the Study	3
Research Question	4
Interview Questions	4
Conceptual Framework	5
Operational Definitions	6
Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations	7
Assumptions	7
Limitations	7
Delimitations	
Significance of the Study	8
A Review of the Professional and Academic Literature	10
Institutional Theory	11
Studies on Financial Management Practices	
Financial Management	
Small Business Strategies	
Economic Insight of St. Vincent and the Grenadines	
Entrepreneurship	

## Table of Contents

Entrepreneurship Impact on Crime Rate	
Small Businesses	
Risk Management in Small Businesses	
Transition	
Section 2: The Project	41
Purpose Statement	41
Role of the Researcher	42
Participants	44
Research Method and Design	46
Research Method	46
Research Design	47
Population and Sampling	49
Ethical Research	52
Data Collection Instruments	54
Data Collection Technique	56
Data Organization Technique	59
Data Analysis	60
Reliability and Validity	62
Reliability	62
Validity	63
Transition and Summary	65
Section 3: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Change	67

Introduction	67
Presentation of the Findings	68
Demographic Characteristics of the Participants	69
Theme 1: Strategic Accounting Practices	
Theme 2: Set Patterns	74
Theme 3: Financial Planning	79
Institutional Theory Themes in Financial Management	
Correlation of Findings to the Literature	
Applications to Professional Practice	88
Effective Accounting	89
Recruitment of Appropriate Personnel	
Financial Adjustments	
Implications for Social Change	93
Recommendations for Action	94
Recommendations for Further Research	96
Reflections	98
Conclusion	100
References	101
Appendix A: Interview Protocol	159
Appendix B: Interview Questions	160

#### Section 1: Foundation of the Study

Globally, the presence and growth of small businesses are notable due to their significant economic value (Coffey, Tate, & Toland, 2013). The small business sector has a positive impact on economic growth (Schoonjans, Cauwenberge, & Bauwhede, 2013), job creation (Gross & Campbell, 2015), and poverty reduction (Bowale & Hesanmi, 2014). Scholars have identified factors that impede the success of the small businesses, with one major area being financial management (Nkosi, Bounds, & Goldman, 2013; Turyahebwa, Sunday, Burani, & Eliabu, 2013). The purpose of this qualitative multiple case study was to identify the strategies that small business owners in St. Vincent use for effective financial management. St. Vincent is the mainland of the 32 islands Caribbean country, Saint Vincent and the Grenadines.

#### **Background of the Problem**

Though small businesses are significant to economies around the world (Karadag, 2015), there continues to be a high failure rate (Mungal & Garbharran, 2014), with up to 66% not surviving beyond 6 years (Arasti, Zandi, & Bahmani, 2014). Ng, Harrison, and Akroyd (2013) implied that small businesses tend to have higher failure rates than large firms due to limited management accounting practices in the former. In the Caribbean, government leaders have made efforts to increase the small business sector by instituting entrepreneurial policy (Smith & Deslande, 2014). Without the establishment of proper practices, such efforts may be futile, since the limited management of these small businesses would lead to failure, eventually.

Many factors contribute to the challenges faced by owners of small businesses (Chhabra & Pattanayak, 2014). Effective financial management is one factor. The ability of some administrators to execute effective financial management is insufficient (Karadag, 2015). Several small businesses struggle to survive because they operate without formal financial accounting practices (Chhabra & Pattanayak, 2014) or formal structures for management (Reynoso, Osuna, & Figueroa, 2014). While literature exists on the problems that contribute to high failure rate of small business (Agwu & Emeti, 2014; Anderson & Ullah, 2014), there appears to be a gap in the literature on comprehensive practices that small business administrators could use to curtail the issue.

#### **Problem Statement**

Small businesses are critical to a country's economic growth, yet these businesses have a high failure rate because of mismanagement, particularly in the area of finance (Mutanda, De Beer, & Myers, 2014). Chhabra and Pattanayak (2014) stressed that proper financial accounting practices are lacking in small business enterprises around the world. Mungal and Garbharran (2014) confirmed that small businesses are affected by economic issues; according to the researchers, 40% make a profit, 30% break even, and 30% continually lose money. Stated differently, 60% of small businesses are unable to make a profit. The general business problem was that some small business owners do not use successful financial management practices. The specific business problem was that some small business owners lack strategies for effective financial management.

#### **Purpose Statement**

The purpose of this qualitative multiple case study was to explore the strategies

that small business owners use for effective financial management. The study population consisted of small business owners in four small firms in St. Vincent that have been in existence for more than 5 years and that have effective financial management. Implications for positive social change include possible growth in the number of profitable small businesses in St. Vincent. Such growth may lead to an increased employment rate (Parilla, 2013), an improved economy (Ahmad & Abdullah, 2015), and a reduction in the national crime rate (K'nIfe & Haughton, 2013).

#### Nature of the Study

I used a qualitative method for the study. Use of qualitative methods helps researchers to gain an understanding of work practices, including new ways of working (Garcia & Gluesing, 2013). A rationale is that qualitative method involves an interpretive and naturalistic approach to conducting research (Khan, 2014). In contrast, the focus of quantitative research is on explaining phenomena by analyzing numerical data. Yilmaz (2013) insinuated that quantitative methods are most appropriate for testing theory that includes variables. Vohra (2014) explained that use of quantitative methods is insufficient for investigating a business phenomenon in which multiple levels of leadership roles are present. A rationale is that leadership has dynamic elements that require interpretive analysis. Because of my desire to explore financial management practices in depth, I decided to use a qualitative method for this study. Mixed-methods research involves the combination of quantitative and qualitative methods for a single study (Venkatesh, Brown, & Bala, 2013). Due to the unsuitability of quantitative methods for my research, I opted not to use a mixed methods approach. I used was a case study research design. I also considered grounded theory and ethnographic research designs. As Lawrence and Tar (2013) noted, grounded theory is more suitable for developing theory; because theory development was not my objective, I opted against using this design. Ethnography primarily centers on exploring human cultures (Brown-Saracino, 2014); as this was not the focus of this financial management research, my decision was not to use this design. I decided to use a multiple case study design, which required the obtainment and interpretation of descriptive information from administrators. Vohra (2014) described multiple case study is also conducive to the generation of interpretative data, this approach only includes one case, unlike the multiple case design that consists of various, offering greater reliability.

#### **Research Question**

The central research question for the study was, what strategies do small business owners use for effective financial management?

#### **Interview Questions**

In this research, I used the following interview questions, which are also included in Appendix B:

- 1. What practices do you use to manage the finance of the business?
- 2. What are the essential strategies you use to manage the finance of the business?
- 3. What strategies do you use to select the financial management?
- 4. What assessment have you used to determine the success of the strategies that you use to manage finance in your business?

- 5. What educational background and experience do you have in the area of financial management?
- 6. What additional information can you share about your strategies for effective financial management?

#### **Conceptual Framework**

The conceptual framework for the study was institutional theory. In creating institutional theory, Selznick (1948) identified social processes as the prime standpoint of an organization. Social processes include the rules, norms, routines, and rituals, which influence organizational behavior (Selznick 1948). According to Selznick, environmental factors affect the behavior, strategies, governance, structure, and processes of an organization. Selznick posited that individuals and organizations could independently determine what structures and practices are in an organization. However, Selznick argued that many organizations' leaders appreciate that the status of legitimacy enhances organizations' image and reputation. Accordingly, Selznick stated that managers of new firms typically adopt structures and practices from similar organizations to conform to expectations within the institution. Brandau, Endenich, Trapp, and Hoffjan (2013), Löfving (2016), and Palermo (2014) reiterated that organizations' practices often reflect those that pre-exist in similar organizations.

I explored three concepts (rules, routines, and knowledge) through the lens of institutional theory (Selznick, 1948) in four Vincentian small businesses. Understanding the influence of these concepts as they relate to small business owners' adoption of strategies for effective financial management could be of considerable theoretical and practical value. Knowledge on financial management could be useful for small business owners (see Karadag, 2015), and also may contribute to effective strategies (see Froelich, 2015). As Angonese and Lavarda (2014) noted, having a better understanding of the institutional dynamics of an organization is helpful when exploring financial management practices. Thus, institutional theory is a useful base for this research.

#### **Operational Definitions**

*Cash management*: Cash management is the management of cash flows in and out of the business, which will have readily available cash balances of the firm (Ahmad & Abdullah, 2015).

*Financial management*: Financial management are activities related to record keeping of the finances of an organization, and may include financial planning, budgeting, reporting, cash flow management, and working capital management (Turyahebwa, Sunday, & Ssekajugo, 2013).

*Small business*: Small business is a privately operated enterprise that is mainly in the forms of sole proprietorship and partnership, with operations that reflect the low volume of trade (Nkuah, Tanyeh, & Gaeten, 2013), and comprises fewer than 50 employees (Simionescu & Bica, 2014).

*Small business administrator*: A small business administrator is a person who is responsible for a managerial role in a small business, with the chief responsibility of realizing methods to increase efficiency in the operations of the firm (Kurowska-Pysz, 2014).

*Small business sector*: Small business sector is a fraction of the economy that includes only privately owned small businesses (Loader, 2013).

#### Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations

#### Assumptions

Assumptions in research refer to presupposes ideas that are not confirmed with facts (Paechter, 2013). The use of assumptions offers significant value in helping to broaden understanding of a subject (Francis, 2014). Scherdin and Zander (2014) observed that assumptions could be useful for establishing boundaries in researches when exploring theory and knowledge. There were three assumptions in this study. The first assumption was that qualitative case studies would be an appropriate approach for my research. Another assumption was that I would have access to supporting documents, which I could analyze in addition to interviews to triangulate my findings. The third assumption was that the participants would provide adequate information about the strategies they used for financial management.

#### Limitations

Limitations encompass the shortcomings of research as well as the implications of these deficiencies (Brutus, Aguinis, & Wassmer, 2013). All research studies have limitations (Wilson-Genderson & Pruchno, 2015). There were three main potential constraints in this study. Firstly, my use of a tape recorder during interviews could have created a researcher-participant relationship that might have hindered interviewees from bringing forward a true insiders' perspective (see Samnani & Singh, 2013). The potential for bias on my part constituted the second limitation. In qualitative research, there is an

unavoidable bias on the part of the researcher, as the main data collection instrument in the study (Tufford & Newman, 2012). The last limitation was the reluctance of two participants to share actual financial documents and figures with me, as a preventative measure to maintain privacy of their financial position.

#### Delimitations

Delimitations refer to the outer limits or scope of a study as established by the researcher. As Hang Sub and Bong Gyou (2015) noted, a delimitation is a boundary of a particular subject. A delimitation of my research was that I focused on small businesses in St. Vincent in contrast to a wider geographic area. Smith and Deslandes (2014) pointed out many definitions of business with the key distinction being the size of staff. The last delimitation related to my sample size of four small businesses and four interviewees. When interviewees have broad knowledge of a subject, their views could be limited to their context and experiences, resulting in less potential for transferability, according to Kai (2014). A sample of only four small business owners may not have revealed all the dynamics of strategies for effective financial management.

#### **Significance of the Study**

The potential failure of small businesses in St. Vincent is a concern for the government of St. Vincent and the Grenadines due to the possible economic value of the small business sector (Gonsalves, 2016). A critical area for avoiding failure of small businesses is financial management practices (Wolmarans & Meintjes, 2015). In this study, I identified strategies that small business owners use for effective financial management of Vincentian small businesses. Such knowledge may, I believe, positively

impact the success of small businesses in St. Vincent.

Mungal and Garbharran (2014) found that small business owners lack the necessary skills and tools to identify problem areas within their businesses. Many scholars have written on financial management practices (see Nkosi et al., 2013; Turyahebwa, Sunday, Burani et al., 2013). Coates, Wicker, Feiler, and Breuer (2014) also elaborated on financial management practices from the perspective of funding. Notwithstanding, there has been a scarcity of studies for financial management practices for small businesses in the Caribbean, and more specifically in St. Vincent. My research may fill such a void.

This research included exploration of existing financial management practices using the conceptual framework of institutional theory (Selznick, 1948). There is a presentation of the applicability of institutional theory. Moreover, there are potential improvements to the existing financial management practices. The social impact of my research might have some positive impact in St. Vincent. Some of these impacts include increased profitability of small businesses, growth in the national employment rate, improvements in the economy, and reduction in the crime rate. In developing countries where small businesses are necessary for job creation and economic growth (Adebisi & Gbegi, 2013), a high success rate in the small business sector could be a positive reflection. Moreover, there is a positive correlation between crime rate and unemployment (K'nIfe & Haughton, 2013), which indicates that job creation could help to reduce the crime rate.

#### A Review of the Professional and Academic Literature

The purpose of this review of the professional and academic literature is to provide an overview of the literature on the subject of financial management practice, particularly for Vincentian small businesses. The academic literature review includes six main sections. The first section is a discussion of institutional theory, which includes other theories I considered for the conceptual framework. Also, the first section includes the themes that might emerge from the research study. I used the first section of the literature review to draw attention to the principles of institutional theory that may reflected the successful strategies for effective financial management in Vincentian small businesses. The second section is comprised of review of studies on financial management practices and further discussion of financial management of small businesses, which includes the challenges facing small businesses and the financial management competencies that are necessary. An overview of small business strategies is the focus of the third section. The fourth section provides insight on the economy of St. Vincent and the Grenadines (SVG), the geographical sample where the research occurred, as it pertains to small businesses. The next section includes a discussion of entrepreneurship, in particular, two facets that pertain to financial management practices: education and behavior. Additionally, there is a discussion on entrepreneurship's impact on crime. The sixth section includes a review of small businesses in developing countries. It is comprised of subsections on success factors of small businesses, factors that fuel the failure of small businesses, the competencies of small business administrators, and risk management of small businesses.

The prime sources for the literature review were peer-reviewed journals and seminal work. I acquired the literature sources from multiple journals, which I accessed primary from Walden University Library databases. The specific databases that I used to locate sources were EBSCOhost, ProQuest, Emerald, Sage, and Google Scholar. Government departments in St. Vincent and the Grenadines were also a source of other documents. A total of 260 sources comprise the literature review, of which 256 (98.5%) represent peer-reviewed sources. Of the 260 total sources in the literature review, 222 (85.4%) were published 5 years or less from the anticipated completion of this study in 2017.

The use of the following specific terms and keywords were helpful in finding suitable literature: *institutional theory*, *institutional pressure*, *isomorphism*, *legitimacy*, *resourced-based view*, *St. Vincent and the Grenadines*, *Caribbean*, *strategies*, *rules*, *routines*, *knowledge*, *entrepreneurship*, *small businesses*, *knowledge*, *entrepreneurial education*, *entrepreneurial behavior*, *financial management*, *small business administrator*, *management skills*, *financial management qualifications*, *developing countries*, and *developing economies*. These terms were in alignment with the purpose of this qualitative multiple case study, to gain an understanding of the strategies that small business owners use for effective financial management. The central research question for the study was, as follows: What strategies do small business owners use for effective financial management?

#### **Institutional Theory**

The conceptual foundation for my exploration of financial management practices

was institutional theory. Selznick (1948) initiated the development of institutional theory, which reflects alignment of environmental dynamics to the practices, strategies, and processes of an organization. The fundamental premise of institutional theory is that organizations are influenced by economic and social factors (Selznick, 1948).

Many scholars have expressed various definitions in work on institutional theory. Wang and Ching (2013) explained that institutions are structures that humans use to determine their economic and social interactions. According to Burns and Scapens (2000), an institution involves the imposition of form and social coherence upon human activity, which is repeated through individuals' thoughts and actions. Furthermore, institutional theorist Selznick (1948) posited that the social element of institutional influence is more important than the economic element. Suddaby (2014) confirmed that the institutional view is an understanding of organizations and management practices as they are influenced by social pressures. In addition, researchers have defined institutional theory as an exploration of the impact of rules, social norms, and rationalized concepts on formal organizational structures, practices, and procedures (Brandau et al., 2013).

While institutions can be robust in developed countries, often they may be weak in developing economies (LiPuma, Newbert, & Doh, 2013). Theorists have categorized institutions into formal and informal structures (Wang & Ching, 2013). Formal institutions are comprised of political, legal, and economic structures (Williams & Vorley, 2014), whereas informal institutions are socially shared rules that are not documented (Williams, Horodnic, & Windebank, 2015; e.g., norms and code of conduct [Williams & Vorley, 2014]). Formal and informal institutional mechanisms account for the different approaches and strategic choices of organizational leaders (Bruton, Lau, & Obloj, 2014). In consideration of the dynamics of institutional theory, Selznick has developed a useful framework for researchers to explore qualitative studies, particularly on topics relating to management of organizations.

**Institutional dynamics.** There are various dynamics that impact the mechanisms and approaches of an organization. One such dynamic that is topical in institutional theory is institutional pressure. Institutional pressure refers to the pressures that are imposed by an industry's external stakeholders on organizational leaders for adoption of certain practices (Dhalla & Oliver, 2013). Responses to institutional pressure can be valuable to organizations (Adebanjo, Ojadi, Laosirihongthong, & Tickle, 2013), with benefits such as obtainment of legitimacy, resources, and success (Dhalla & Olliver, 2013; Honig & Karlsson, 2013).

Conformity is another factor that is pertinent to institutional dynamics. An organizational leader might need to demonstrate practices that are in line with institutional guidelines in order to be eligible to obtain privileges in a certain environment (Mitchell, 2014). Furthermore, organizational leaders typically need to conform to tax laws and other financial regulations to meet business legitimacy (Tan, Braithwaite, & Reinhart, 2014). Oulasvirta (2014) outlined the existence of accounting standards that influence which financial practices organizations adopt. Scholars shared the sentiment that because bigger firms are more visible, managers in these firms may make greater efforts to comply with institutional regulations (El Ouirdi, El Ouirdi, Segers, & Pais, 2015). Conformity by organizational leaders could be in the best interest of their

organizations.

Compliance to institutional pressures prompts isomorphism (Nell, Puck, & Heidenreich, 2015). Isomorphism is the general tendency to use similar practices across organizations, something that Teodoro (2014) identified as homogenization. Coffey et al. (2013) postulated that the desire by organizational leaders to reach legitimacy status leads to a homogenized industry. Differently put, organizations would reflect mostly standard practices in accordance with the institution.

From an institutional view, legitimacy is the perception that the actions of an organization are positive and appropriate by the standards of the society within which the organization is present (Suchman, 1995). A key tenet of institutional theory is that businesses should adopt practices and structures that are legitimate (Li & Dong. 2013). Fikru (2014) echoed that organizations obtain legitimacy by conforming to recognized environmental practices. Brandau et al. (2013) reported that the operations of organizations are influenced significantly by established norms and concepts in order for the organization to have a legitimate status. Organizations are likely to be successful if they have economic and social legitimacy (Li & Ding, 2013).

Institutional theorists have postulated three pillars of legitimacy: regulative, normative, and cultural-cognitive (Doherty, Chen, & Alexander, 2014; Yang & Su, 2014). Normative legitimacy is the alignment of actions to social expectations (Cai, 2013). Regulative legitimacy relates to the organization being compliant with the legal requirements, rules, and regulations of the environment (Yeo, 2016). Cultural-cognitive legitimacy describes fitting in to the norm of the established culture (Yeo, 2016). Meyer and Rowan (1977) elaborated that in an effort to realize legitimacy, a focus should standardize the practices and structures across similar organizations. The institutional view is that legitimacy is achieved through isomorphism (Guo, Tang, & Su, 2014). The development of isomorphism by DiMaggio and Walters (1983) was intended to rationalize similarities of practices and structures in industries (Bromley & Meyer, 2014). DiMaggio and Walters made seminal contributions to the new institutional theory by expounding on three institutional isomorphic mechanisms that reflect similarities within an industry: coercive, mimetic, and normative. Coercive isomorphism is the set of fixed regulations that exist in the environment, as well as other political policies (Cai, 2013). Mimetic isomorphism is the copying of practices and methods that are appropriate, which may be instigated by lack of knowledge or uncertainty (Löfving, 2016). Palermo (2014) posited that normative isomorphism represents the process whereby professionals execute similar earned approaches and practices. Organizational leaders could explore gaining legitimacy by adopting any of the three isomorphisms.

Extant literature reflects that conformity is not always most efficient (Meyer & Rowan, 1977), and has led to failure to adopt common practices and regulations. Where such adaption is absent, Meyer and Rowan opined the occurrence of loose coupling, which is the process of unconformity to existing rules and instead adopting other practices as routine. Loose coupling occurs when the routine and rules are not in alignment (Angonese & Lavarda, 2014).

Institutional theory is present in many studies, including financial management areas, such as management accounting (Angonese & Lavarda, 2014; Burns & Scapens, 2000). Angonese and Lavarda stated institutional factors; namely institutional power, knowledge, rules, and routines were part of the exploration to gain an understanding of a management accounting system change. Two companies were the composition of the sample for Angonese and Lavarda's qualitative research. Their study reflected that environmental factors were impactful on the eventual management accounting system. A commonality of this study and Angonese and Lavarda's study is the need to understand the factors of knowledge, rules, and routines, which have bearing on the practices present in an organization.

Institutional theory was also present in the study of Burns and Scapens (2000), who demonstrated the applicability of the theory in management accounting. According to Burns and Scapens, stable rules and routines influence the practices in similar organizations, which would be the sample type of the current research study. Burns and Scapens opined that to understand the practices and approaches of organizations; there must be appreciation of the institutional characters.

Brandau et al. (2013) explained that institutional theory, particularly isomorphism, is conducive to exploring financial management practices. In the study of Brandau et al., there was appreciation for the institutional factors that influence the decisions and actions of an organization. Brandau et al. researched the topic of management accounting with a sample of 20 corporations in Germany and Brazil. Their study reflected the three isomorphic mechanisms, namely coercive, mimetic, and normative as being influential of the management accounting practices.

Rules, routines, and knowledge. Rules are mechanisms put in place as guides

for people's behavior and actions (Ménard, 2014). The institutions that establish financial regulations are government departments or central banks, financial firms, and research institutes (Martle & Scherer, 2016), and transnational financial policy communities (Tsingou, 2015). Some different categories of rules are accounting rules, nonaccounting rules, and organizational rules (Robalo, 2014). Some specific rules that impact small businesses include tax enactment, such as depreciation policies (Bruce, Deskins, & Gurley-Calvez, 2014; Oestreich, Toole, & Williamson, 2015); the Dodd–Frank law of the U.S. (Swagel, 2015); and bankruptcy regulation (Jappelli, Pagano, & Di Maggio, 2013). There has also been a changing environment of the banking sector since the recession that includes the evolution of new banking regulations (Munir & Baird, 2016).

The decisions that owners make regarding financing often determine the structures and financial policies of the firm (Leary & Roberts, 2014). Scholars have noted the lack of conformity to formal rules by small business owners (Parry, 2016) and particularly in emerging economies (McCarthy & Puffer, 2016). In some cases, advocates for better monitoring for adherence to regulations have indicated the need for audit committees (Badolato, Donelson, & Ege, 2014).

Rules and routines in an institutional setting are interrelated. However, they are different, rules are formal guides established, whereas routines are repetitive actions that do not have to be formal (Robalo, 2014). Because routines are essential aspects of institutions (Kang, Hwang, & Moon, 2015), the adoption of institutional theory is an appropriate lens to understand the routines present in an organization (McCarthy & Puffer, 2016).

Small business owners have major control of management and therefore are most influential on the routines in their businesses (Parry, 2016). Where the owners are in control, there is a high probability of informal routines in the initial stages of the business, but with the potential to transform into formal rules as the business grows and expands (Cleary & Quinn, 2016). Though routines and rules may become stable in financial management situations, the potential exists for them to change (Hiebl, Feldbauer-Durstmüller, & Duller, 2013). In fact, in the case of institutional change, failure to adapt and change routines could lead to the failure of the organization (Oertel, Thommes, & Walgenbach, 2016).

The financial management knowledge within a business consists of the past personal experiences of the owner, employees, and other external sources (Cleary & Quinn, 2016). Knowledge of financial management is available at universities and in different programs (Garcia, 2013). Notwithstanding, there are still owners of small businesses who lack knowledge in the areas of financial management (Mutanda et al., 2014). An increase of knowledge for small business owners in finance could improve their overall management of small businesses (Alpar & Winkelsträter, 2014; Drexler, Fischer, & Schoar, 2014).

McClelland's competence concept. I considered different theories to conduct the study, including McClelland's competence concept and resource-based view theory. McClelland's concept, introduced in 1973, is a collection of multiple facets, including technical skills, knowledge, behavior, and attitudes about someone's ability to execute a job efficiently. A view of McClelland's theory is that competencies can help explain outstanding performances in a particular role. A key element of the concept of competencies is that it is a criterion-based reference (Getha-Taylor, Blackmar, & Borry, 2016).

McClelland (1973) advocated testing the effectiveness of competencies as opposed to academic qualifications. To realize and assess the actual effect or performance of someone, the simulation for the testing should be a reflection of the reality (McCelland, 1973). Therefore if the test is to assess the performance of a financial manager, to produce the most accurate results, the examiner should conduct the test with the manager in the environment where the actual financial management takes place. Differently interpreted, the test should reflect the practicality of the specific context. McClelland's theory confirmed the possibility of competencies being identified and developed while in the workplace (Stan, 2014).

Despite the possibility of using McClelland's concept to explore certain areas of this study, the concept is better suited for research on individuals as opposed to organizations, as was the case in my research. Though one can argue that the competencies of the individuals could determine the practices that are present in an organization, the institutional factors that may influence decisions are more critical. In fact, Witesman (2016) suggested that institutional norms, rules, and strategies are key in determining the approach taken by organizations.

**Resource-based view (RBV).** Wernerfelt (1984) developed RBV, with the concept that all tangible and intangible assets that impact a firm are its resources. The theoretical perspective of RBV is the firm is a collection of the technological, financial,

and organizational resources (Young, Tsai, Wang, Liu, & Ahlstrom, 2014). Resourcebased view is the collection of resources that reflects how a business stands out in a positive way and gains competitive advantage (Lin & Wu, 2014). RBV is relevant to comprehend the type of resources that enable superior performance in an organization (Greene, Brush, & Brown, 2015).

Using RBV to understand the external factors, such as the economic environment, is impactful on the level of success of an organization (Bhamra, Dani, & Bhamra, 2011). The vast spectrum of RBV reflects that the theory is more applicable for larger firms (Andries & Czarnitzki, 2014). Bhamra et al. (2011) posited that RBV is more prevalent in studies of corporations as opposed to small businesses' studies.

Institutional theory surmounted the limitation of resource-based theory. While RBV has the limitation of focusing on the resources of the organization, through the lens of institutional theory, key dynamics such as social processes and economic factors comprised the exploration. Institutional theory covers all of the factors pertaining to the organization (Cai, 2013), allowing for a comprehensive study, particularly in the case of this study. Gómez and Atun (2013) concurred the institutional view is a comprehensive approach for a study that reflects an aim to capture and address the various elements that impact an organization.

#### **Studies on Financial Management Practices**

Financial management is a valuable area to study (Mazzarol, 2014), a sentiment that is evident, based on extant literature. Turyahebwa, Sunday, Burani et al. (2013) research was comprehensive in covering the application of financial management

practices in small and medium-sized enterprises (SMEs). The authors conducted the mixed methods research in Western Uganda. With a sample size of 386 representatives of SMEs, Turyahebwa, Sunday, Burani et al. utilized pecking order theory (POT) and RBV as the foundational lens to explore financial management practices and business performance respectively. The study comprised various pertinent financial management practices, such as working capital management, investment, financing, accounting information systems, financial reporting and analysis. Turyahebwa, Sunday, Burani et al. concluded a correlation between financial management practices and business performance. Contrarily, this research involved exploration of the strategies for effective financial management through an institutional view, as opposed to POT, which is aligned to financing (Meyer & Majluf, 1984).

Turyahebwa, Sunday, and Ssekajugo (2013) researched the relationship between financial management practices and business performance of SMEs in Western Uganda. The sample size of the quantitative study comprised 335 SMEs. POT was the choice to gain an understanding of the financing of SMEs, however, Turyahebwa, Sunday, and Ssekajugo complemented the study by using RBV as a theoretical foundation to determine the factors of business performance of the SMEs. Myers and Majluf (1984) expounded POT as insufficient to explain the behavior of financing SMEs in developing countries, while RBV has limitations exploring knowledge systems (Turyahebwa, Sunday, & Ssekajugo, 2013). Through the combination of POT and RBV, Turyahebwa, Sunday, and Ssekajugo (2013) confirmed that financial management practices are impactful on business performance in Western Uganda. An additional study related to financial management was on the outsourcing of management accounting functions as opposed to outsourcing of financial accounting tasks. Hafeez and Andersen (2014) adopted transaction cost economics (TCE) and RBV to explore the quantitative research study, which included questionnaire surveys in nine cities of Punjab Province in Pakistan. Hafeez and Andersen's sample comprised small businesses with the definition of up to 250 employees. There were 302 responses in the sample, however the study was limited to the manufacturing sector. Hafeez and Andersen (2014) used TCE and RBV to explore the governance factors and production of skills respectively. The study reflected different factors that might influence outsourcing of management accounting: (a) trust, (b) non-opportunistic behavior of external accountant, and (c) competition. The authors confirmed that gender, education, experience, firm size, and firm age had no influence on the decision to outsource management accounting functions.

#### **Financial Management**

Financial management is the management of finances of a business, with the tasks of sourcing and allocating funds appropriately to meet the business operations (Turyahebwa, Sunday, Burani et al., 2013). Wolmarans and Meintjes (2015) expounded that financial management is the planning, directing, monitoring, organizing, and controlling of the finance. Some of the practices of financial management include cash management, receivables management, inventory management, investment, financing, and financial reporting and analysis (Turyahebwa, Sunday, Burani et al., 2013).

Working capital is the difference between current assets and current liabilities

(Enqvist, Graham, & Nikkinen, 2014), which pertains to cash management, and is a central area of financial management (Turyahebwa, Sunday, Burani et al., 2013). Working capital and profitability receive a lot of focus, particularly in comparison to the balance sheet or strategic finance (Wolmarans & Meintjes, 2015). Working capital is needed for managing daily operations of the business (Okafor, 2012). An increase in working capital efficiency can impact the profitability of a firm positively (Enqvist et al., 2014).

Financial management is one of the most critical areas of management of small businesses, and if executed correctly, small businesses are likely to be successful (Wolmarans & Meintjes, 2015). In line with the financial management tool, accounting information is essential to the success of small businesses (Zapata, Brito, & Triay, 2014). Mazzarol (2014) approved the importance of financial management for the growth and expansion of small businesses.

**Financial management competencies.** Managing finances is a significant challenge for small businesses (Hasan & Jamil, 2014). If the financial management of small businesses is not in capable hands, the probability of failure is high (Okafor, 2012). Nkosi et al. (2013) observed the importance of financial management practices and skills for a successful small business to continue growing.

Competencies in financial management are critical to determining whether or not the personnel are qualified for managing the financial resources of the organization (Clay & George, 2014). Financial management knowledge also has a positive effect on the survival of small businesses (Karadag, 2015). Kirsten (2013) reported the usefulness of education and training for improved financial management skills, and by extension small businesses' success. Accounting skills that include financial management and reporting skills are also useful for small business success (Nwaigburu & Eneogwe, 2013). Blackburn, Hart, and Wainwright (2013) advocated that professional education could boost efficiency in the area of accounting for small businesses. Exploring competencies is an opportunity to identify key successful factors for small business (Mitchelmore, Rowley, & Shiu, 2014). There are still gaps in the literature about the favorable variables of small businesses (Miettinen & Littunen, 2013).

**Challenges of financial management in small businesses.** There is a common acceptance that many small businesses do not use formal financial practices (Chhabra & Pattanayak, 2014). Limited finance and managerial expertise are challenges for the expansion of small businesses (Anderson & Ullah, 2014). Nkosi et al. (2013) confirmed a number of small business owners do not have financial skills.

Accounting limitations also exist in small businesses (Ahmad & Abdullah, 2015). Financial statements of small businesses are often unreliable, as a consequence of the absence of competent accounting practices (Nkuah et al., 2013). The lack of required resources, skills, and expertise negatively affects internal accounting practices (Hafeez & Andersen, 2014). Okafor (2012) argued that small businesses do not have sufficient resources to employ expertise in accounting, which is one of the bases for their financial failure. Poor cash management is another concern in financial management. Mazzarol (2014) highlighted cash flow management as one of the biggest challenges of small businesses. Poor cash management is a primary reason why many small businesses fail (Ahmad & Abdullah, 2015).

#### **Small Business Strategies**

Strategies are mechanisms that owners and administrators of organizations establish to gain a sustainable competitive advantage (Morris, Schindehutte, Richardson, & Allen, 2015) and success. According to Menard (2014), strategies are plans of actions that influence behavior within institutional norms and rules. Strategic management is essential for efficient management of the resources of the firm (Hin, Kadir, & Bohari, 2013). Business strategies are the alignment of the organization with its environment (Palmer, Wright, & Powers, 2015). Differently put, the institutional environment has an influence on the strategic choices in an organization (Young et al., 2014). Scholars posited a relationship between strategies and firm performance (Lechner & Gudmundson, 2014). Some strategic performance indicators are strategic direction, strategy implementation, human resources, and community/government relations (Cook & Wolverton, 2015). For effective strategies, small business administrators require knowledge and skills in areas such as marketing, finance, and accounting (Froelich, 2015). Moreover, small business owners need to have an appreciation of their own capabilities to determine effective strategies for business success (McDowell, Harris, & Geho, 2016).

Diverse and unique strategies may exist in various businesses (Köseoglu, Topaloglu, Parnell, & Lester, 2013). Bagnoli and Giachetti (2015) categorized strategic orientations of businesses as internal and external. Internal includes management practices such as human resource management and financial objectives, while external relates to sales growth (McDowell et al., 2016). Though financial value is an objective of business owners, strategic choices are not solely of economic value but are also in alignment with institutional logics (Ocasio & Radoynovska, 2016). Palmer et al. (2015) identified two types of small business strategies: cost-leadership strategy, which is an approach whereby firms compete on price; and differentiation strategy, which reflects a focus on brand. The strategies that small business owners and managers adopt are sometimes as a result of constraints such as resource limitation (Weinzimmer, Robinson, & Fink, 2015).

#### **Economic Insight of St. Vincent and the Grenadines**

SVG is a Caribbean country with a chain of different islands, with St. Vincent being the main island. The Economic Planning and Social Development Unit (EPSDU, 2013) categorized SVG as a small island developing state. The executive director of the SVG National Insurance Services declared that the challenges faced internationally are also realities of the local economy in SVG (St. Vincent and the Grenadines National Insurance Services [SVGNIS], 2013).

The prime minister of SVG posited that there are major productive sectors in SVG, namely: agriculture and fisheries, tourism, manufacturing, energy, telecommunications, wholesale and retail trade, financial services, construction, real estate, and other professional services (Gonsalves, 2016). Additionally, agriculture, tourism, and construction have a significant impact on the economy of SVG (EPSDU, 2013). The hotel and tourism sector have benefited the most from private investments (Gonsalves, 2016).

In SVG, the exploration of entrepreneurship is a holistic effort, in the search for economic growth. There are several agencies set up to support enterprise in SVG, resulting in the expansion of different business areas (Gonsalves, 2016). Further, the objectives of the National Economic and Social Development Plan 2013-2025 include a common goal to reduce poverty and unemployment in SVG (EPSDU, 2013). The Chairman of the SVG National Insurance Services confirmed the contribution of the National Insurance Services to the social and economic development through initiatives that support small businesses (SVGNIS, 2013). In 2014, there was the official registration of 869 active self-employed persons in SVG (Gonsalves, 2016). SVGNIS (2013) also expressed the potential of unregistered self-employed individuals in the rural areas of the country.

# Entrepreneurship

The focus on entrepreneurship from an economist's perspective was first evident in 1885 (Carlsson et al., 2013). Since then, there have been varying definitions for the terms entrepreneurship and entrepreneur (Carland, Carland, & Carland, 2015). Wright and Stigliani (2013) defined entrepreneurship as a revenue-generating activity initiated and executed by individuals or groups, offering a product or service for consumption. Another definition for entrepreneurship is a legal, distinct, and risky activity done independently in the interest of generating profit (Iosif, 2015).

Entrepreneurship entails filling gaps with the introduction of new products and services, hence the relation with the term innovation (Lichtenstein, 2016). Sahut and Peris-Ortiz (2014) supported a linkage between entrepreneurship and innovation. The

background of the entrepreneurs and the market size/type determine their business activities (Lofstrom, Bates, & Parker, 2014). Thébaud (2015) opined that different interests and factors instigate entrepreneurship, including gender.

McClelland (1961) highlighted the positive impact of entrepreneurship on economies. Other scholars have shared the sentiment that entrepreneurship add value to the economy globally (Akinbami, 2015; Cant, Wiid, & Kallier, 2013; Maritz, Koch, & Schmidt, 2016; Wright & Stigliani, 2013). Entrepreneurship activities reflect a more competitive market (Iosif, 2015), which is a rationale for encouraging more small businesses.

**Entrepreneur.** The first official use of the term entrepreneur was in 1755 (Marchand, Hermens, & Sood, 2016). From a legal standpoint, an entrepreneur is a person who has a contractual agreement to provide a service or project, while a more general definition of the entrepreneur is an individual who takes risks in exploring bartering activities (Iosif, 2015). Yeasmin (2016) echoed that entrepreneurs bear a lot of risk in their ventures. One of the prime reasons for persons exploring entrepreneurial activities is for financial gains (Carland, Carland, et al., 2015).

Personality can define an entrepreneur (Schlosser, 2015). Scholars have argued that persons become entrepreneurs because of their orientation in entrepreneurship, particularly small business owners-managers (Soininen, Puumalainen, Sjögrén, Syrjä, & Durst, 2013). In some cases, entrepreneurs are multifaceted (Chen & Thompson, 2016). Entrepreneurially oriented individuals share three prime traits: innovativeness, proactiveness, and risk-taking (Schlosser, 2015). Additionally, two other attributes of entrepreneurs are autonomy (Moruku, 2013) and personal initiative (Frese, Hass, & Friedrich, 2016). Some essential skills that an entrepreneur should possess are initiative, knowledge, communication skills, administration, confidence, and innovation (Iosif, 2015).

**Entrepreneurial education.** Small businesses and other entrepreneurial ventures face significant challenges to survive, which is reflected by a high failure rate (Miller, Steier, & Le Breton-Miller, 2016). A rationale for the failure rate is the lack of knowledge and experience of starting a business (Patzelt, Williams, & Shepherd, 2014). The emergence of educational courses and training in small business and entrepreneurship has been one way of counteracting the failure rate of the entrepreneurship (Schenkel, D'Souza, Cornwall, & Matthews, 2015). Such a sentiment is prevalent among scholars with extant literature indicating that entrepreneurship education is stimulating more business creation (Gielnik et al., 2015).

Entrepreneurship education is now a regular program in many universities (Fayolle, 20013), to the extent where some institutions fall in the category of entrepreneurial universities (Marchand et al., 2016). The presence of entrepreneurship education has increased steadily (Iosif, 2015). As many educational institutions make entrepreneurship education courses available, the enrollments have increased (Carland & Carland, 2015).

Raunch and Hulsink (2015) posited that entrepreneurship education is about the sensitization of initiating and operating a business. Universities have various curricula and courses in the area of entrepreneurship and small business (Heuer & Kolvereid,

2014). Entrepreneurship education programs could be useful when customized for socioeconomic needs (Akinbami, 2015). Economic and financial areas are key features in entrepreneurship education (Iosif, 2015). Creating business plans is also a focus area on the syllabus of universities for entrepreneurship education (Duval-Couetil, 2013). Though there exists uncertainties about the positive impact of business plans in the world outside academia (Jones & Penaluna, 2013), students pursuing entrepreneurship courses are interested in having business plan as part of their university program (Belwal, Al Balushi, & Belwal, 2015). Other key courses are in building and financing firms, as well as courses and training in functional management skills (Akinbami, 2015). There are different stages of entrepreneurship education, such as basic concepts and theories, identification and selection prospective entrepreneurs, and training (Waraich & Chaturvedi, 2016). Lofstrom et al. (2014) postulated that formal education improves various competencies in communication, knowledge, and other areas related to entrepreneurship.

Entrepreneurial behavior. The term entrepreneurial behavior originated from McClelland (1961), who addressed the behavior and attitude of individuals. Another relevant concept about entrepreneurial behavior is the theory of planned behavior (TPB) (Ajzen, 1991). TPB is one of the most popular attitude-behavior models to understand human behavior (Peake, Davis, & Cox, 2015). According to Ajzen's (1991) theory of planned behavior, attitudes, subjective norms, and perceived behavioral control contribute to the behavior of an individual. Differently stated, a positive mindset reflected in the perceived behavioral control of an entrepreneur could determine good performance

and a successful outcome of an entrepreneurial venture.

Personality trait is another factor that is topical in the exploration of the understanding of entrepreneurs. Entrepreneurs have multiple personality traits: adaptability, autonomy, competitiveness, dependability, emotional resilience, goalsetting, optimism, persistence, risk tolerance, self-promotion, social networking, tolerance for financial insecurity, a work-related internal locus of control, and work-drive (Owens, Kirwan, Lounsbury, Levy, & Gibson, 2013). While Carlsson et al. (2013) argued the existence of a correlation between personal traits and individual behavior in entrepreneurs; Klotz and Neubaum (2016) contested any impact of entrepreneurs' personality traits on their entrepreneurial outcomes. Similar to Miller (2016), my conclusion is that the outcome of an entrepreneurial venture subsequent to encountering limitations could be as a result of the personality traits of the entrepreneur.

Innovation, proactivity, and risk-taking are relevant components of entrepreneurial behavior (de Jong, Parker, Wennekers, & Chia-Huei, 2015). Further, competitiveness and independence are behaviors of entrepreneurs (Moruku, 2013). Rauch and Hulsink (2015) also considered entrepreneurship education as an impactful factor on entrepreneurial behavior.

# **Entrepreneurship Impact on Crime Rate**

Crime is a significant impediment globally, including developing countries (K'nIfe & Haughton, 2013). In the Caribbean, crime along with poverty and unemployment continue to be critical problems (Prieto, Phipps, Thompson, & Ogbuehi, 2015). Jamaica has one of the highest homicide rates in the world (K'nIfe & Haughton). Crime has an adverse effect on a country (Laspa, 2015). Scholars have associated a high crime rate with unemployment and weak economies (K'nIfe & Haughton, 2013). Alvarez, Barney, and Newman (2015) stressed that poverty is a prime cause of crime. Criminal activities hinder business operations and development (Karoubi & Chenavaz, 2015).

Entrepreneurship is a useful method to tackle poverty (Si et al., 2015). The introduction of businesses creates employment and generates income (Gross & Campbell, 2015). A healthy growing economy is a solution to the climbing crime rate. K'nIfe and Haughton (2013) expressed that increased entrepreneurial activities positively impact the crime rate. Prieto et al. (2015) suggested that social entrepreneurship is a remedy for high crime rates. Educational programs in entrepreneurship are useful methods to improve business prospects, which by extension will be an appropriate counteractive approach for crime (Adetola & Oluwatomiwo, 2016).

# **Small Businesses**

Scholars often conclude the definition of small businesses by the size of staff and the volume of sales (Nkuah et al., 2013). Small businesses have few staff, low sales volume, and are either a sole proprietorship or a partnership (Nkuah et al., 2013). Small businesses are in many different sectors (Blackburn et al., 2013), a fact that is evident in St. Vincent (Gonsalves, 2016).

Small businesses are a critical part of global economies (Mutanda et al., 2014). In developing countries, there are over 90 million micro to medium size businesses (Scott, Darko, Lemma, & Rud, 2014). The United States of America has a high population of small businesses with at least 98% of all businesses being small enterprises (Ghobakhloo & Sai, 2013).

Impact of small businesses in developing countries. As a result of the constant growth of small businesses and their economic impact in the developing countries, policymakers in these countries are focusing on the small business sector (Koens & Thomas, 2015). Mendoza (2014) echoed the importance of global small businesses, with emphasis on the developing countries. Small businesses influence social and economic development (Karadag, 2015), and are the backbone of the global economy (Cant, Erdis, & Sephapo, 2014; Clementina, Egwu, & Isu, 2014), as well as the flagship of international economic growth (Tijani & Mohammed, 2013). Small businesses have a positive impact on economic growth (Taneja, Pryor, & Hayek, 2016) and equitable development in developing economies (Agwu & Emeti, 2014). Extant literature reflects contributions by small businesses to economic expansion and development of international countries (Ahmad & Abdullah, 2015; Fernández-Serrano & Romero, 2013).

Another positive impact of small businesses is the potential poverty alleviation of a country (Bowale & IIesanmi, 2014). Entrepreneurship is necessary to tackle poverty in developing countries (Bonney, Collins, Miles, & Verreynne, 2013). Parilla (2013) also conveyed confidence that small business owners create job opportunities. In developing countries, small businesses are a measure to combat high poverty levels and unemployment (Ghobakhloo & Tang, 2013). Inal, Ariss, and Forson (2013) observed the existing perception that small businesses help control the rise of unemployment. Entrepreneurship is significant to economic development, innovation, and job creation (Ucbasaran, Shepherd, Lockett, & Lyon, 2013). The creation of new jobs by small businesses is positive for the economy (Haron, Said, Jayaraman, & Ismail, 2013).

Small business success factors. Indicators of the success of small businesses are in two categories, financial and nonfinancial performance (Rahman, Amran, Ahmad, & Taghizadeh, 2015). There are numerous factors within these two categories. One such factor is business skills by personnel of a firm (Nkosi et al., 2013). The competencies of a staff can impact the performance of the firm (Rambe & Makhalemele, 2015). Proper financial management is another primary factor (Zapata et al., 2014), while efficient cash management is also imperative for small businesses success and growth (Mungal & Garbharran, 2014). Furthermore, the success of small businesses is reliant on the availability of funding (Cowling, Liu, Ledger, & Zhang, 2015).

The success factors of small businesses were not only directly linked to financing. Abilities, competencies, and skills of the owners of the small businesses are potential determinants of the success of a small business (Mitchelmore et al., 2014). Armstrong (2013) noted strategy alignment with personal competence is a critical success factor for small businesses.

**Factors that curtail small businesses.** Though there is a positive impact of the small business sector on the global economies (Yildirim, Akci, & Eksi, 2013), the probability of small business failure is high (Kirsten, 2013). The failure rate for small businesses has been significantly high (Mungal & Garbharran, 2014). Scholars credited various factors for the failure of small businesses. Financial mismanagement is an area that causes business failure (Mutanda et al., 2014). The lack of innovation is another

factor that could affect the success or failure of a small business (Dunne, Aaron, McDowell, Urban, & Geho, 2016). Other factors that influenced the failure of small businesses are a tax burden, inability to secure loans, low business asset utilization, and expense management (Mendoza, 2014).

Lussier and Corman (2015) identified business plans as a key variable in the survival or failure of small businesses. Scholars insinuated a business plan is influential on performance (Parks, Olson, & Bokor, 2015), but the influence could vary according to the size of a firm (Lee, Jeon, & Na, 2016). Knowledge of a business plan could help someone to determine if the business is viable (Human, Clark, Baucus, & Eustis, 2015).

Some failure factors for small businesses include undercapitalization, irregular market research, lack of strategy, inexperience, inadequate documentation, staffing, competitive environments, and financial challenges (Agwu & Emeti, 2014). Chittenden and Derregia (2015) lamented financial constraints as a negative factor that hinders small business progress. Insufficient planning and lack of credibility also contribute to failure factors (Miles, 2014).

There is a huge emphasis on financial management as a problematic factor for small businesses. Poor financial management is common and an important cause of failure of small businesses (Karadag, 2015). Similarly, Okafor (2012) expressed that poor financial management practice is a prime reason for small business failure. Another area of finance that propels small business failure includes limited access to funding, which according to Adebisi and Gbegi (2013) is a reflection of the difficulty to obtain loans from banks. There is also the potential issue of monetary theft, which could be detrimental to small businesses (Kennedy & Benson, 2016).

Inefficient administration is another critical cause of small business failure (Clementina et al., 2014). Active management is a pivotal element of business (Turyahebwa, Sunday, Burani et al., 2013). A subset of ineffective management is poor managerial skills, which is a key failure factor (Agwu & Emeti, 2014). Mohd and Mohamed (2013) confirmed the challenges of the lack of managerial capabilities and human resources in small businesses. The failure rate of small businesses in developing countries is because of insufficient managerial skills and lack of trained personnel (Karadag, 2015).

Small business administrators. Many researchers reported the critical role of small business administration and it is appropriate to discuss the composition of small business administrators. There is a lack of basic management in many small businesses (Reynoso, Osuna, & Figueroa, 2014). The majority of small businesses are owner managed (Mazzarol, 2014), hence the custom for owners to perform multiple functions in small businesses (Ghobakhloo & Sai, 2013).

An influential role of the proprietor of a small business is to establish the purpose of the firm. An applicable consideration, in this case, is where a small business owner only would aspire to generate sufficient profit to meet personal expenses, while an entrepreneurship mindset would result in more long-term decisions and maybe creating an organizational structure (Ionitã, 2012). Ultimately, the direction and strategies of the firm will be a reflection of the owner (McDowell et al., 2016), which will influence the existing practices of the business. Small business administrators' competencies. Many changing factors globally continue to increase the demand for greater skills and capabilities of management (Griffin & Annulis, 2013). Having a cadre of competent core employees is imperative for small businesses to survive (Chowdhury, Schulz, Milner, & Van De Voort, 2014). Managers should have the requisite skills to be able to perform higher than average, which will reflect satisfactory performance (Benjamin, Sharma, Tawiah, Chandok, & John, 2014). Personal managerial skills and capabilities can be used to develop and grow the business (Smith & Barrett, 2016). The competencies of administrators influence efficiency and success of the firm (Jena & Sahoo, 2014).

There remain cases in small businesses where deficiencies in performance exist due to the limitation of management, particularly as it relates to competence of the owner-manager of the firm (Tauringana & Afrifa, 2013). The absence of managerial skills and competencies has contributed to the majority of small businesses failing (Mohd & Mohamed, 2013). Insufficient competence would pose a barrier to improving the success of small businesses, which could result in dormancy and eventual failure (Yazdanfar, Abbasian, & Hellgren, 2014). There is a need for owners of small businesses to possess a range of abilities, competences, and skills in the interest of the organizations' survival (Mitchelmore et al., 2014).

In addition to the owners, the competence of the staff can be a success factor for small businesses (Yazdanfar et al., 2014). Knowledgeable employees add value to their employers' business (Stam, 2013). A skilled and contented staff increases the potential for profits in a small business, hence the existence of human resource strategies such as

empowerment and employees training (Cook & Chaganti, 2015). Notwithstanding, as a consequence of financial challenges in small businesses, having skilled and knowledgeable personnel is not always possible (Mungal & Garbharran, 2014). Consequently, small business owners often attempt to stretch their knowledge and human capacity by strengthening networks with likeminded and similar personnel (Kuhn, Galloway, & Collins-Williams, 2016).

#### **Risk Management in Small Businesses**

Momani and Fadil (2013) stated that the presence of business risks continues to be a concern. Financial risks are also a growing factor in businesses (Virglerová, Kozubíková, & Vojtovic, 2016), particularly in financial management (Belás, Kljucnikov, Vojtovic, & Sobeková-Májková, 2015). Small business owners encounter many types of external and internal risks that could determine their success (Abotsi, Dake, & Agyepong, 2014). The economic situation surrounding a business also impacts its performance (Momani & Fadil, 2013). Virglerová, Kozubíková, and Vojtovic (2016) added other critical areas of risk as financial, operational, market, security, production, and personnel. An additional area of risk that could negatively impact small businesses is fraud (Hess & Cottrell, 2016). Fraud involves actions such as cash skimming, false expense claims, cash larceny, and non-cash theft (Kramer, 2015).

Business administrators employ risk management techniques to limit the occurrences or impact of risks, which varies by entity (Abotsi et al., 2014). Despite businesses being a resourceful and efficient platform, making provisions for adverse activities is important (Sarmiento, Hoberman, Jerath, & Jordao, 2016).

Risk management mechanisms are critical for financial challenges (Bezzina, Grima, & Mamo, 2014). The administration of financial risk determines the performance of a firm (Belás et al., 2015). Hess and Cottrell (2016) suggested that counteractive actions to fraud risks comprise establishing a culture in the business where ethics matters, encourage reporting by making the process easy, and advocate the trust but verify' approach.

# Transition

In Section 1, there were details of the foundation of the study, such as the lack of financial management practices that may impact Vincentian small businesses. In line with the qualitative method for my doctoral study, I used the central research question to explore the strategies small business owners use for effective financial management in St. Vincent. Institutional theory by Selznick (1948) was the conceptual framework of the study. There was a comprehensive list of literature on small businesses and financial management practices for small businesses, with coverage of a variety of related literature, such as the impact of small businesses, the organizational structure of small businesses. I noted several assumptions, limitations, and delimitations in the research.

Section 2 includes an explanation of the research methodology of the study. This section comprises the rationale for the chosen participants, research methods and design, and samples. Further, I provided justification for selecting specific data collection instruments and techniques. Also included is the data analysis process, followed by my approach to addressing reliability and validity of the research. Section 3 includes the

presentation of findings, with the further rationalization of the intended social change impact of the study.

#### Section 2: The Project

The purpose of this study was to gain an understanding of the strategies that small business owners use for effective financial management in St. Vincent. My sample consisted of four small businesses that had been in existence for at least 5 years at the time that data were collected. A 5 year period of operation is indicative of survival, and some degree of success for businesses, since a significant number of small businesses fail within this initial period (Arasti, Zandi, & Bahmani, 2014). My focus was to engage small business owner or manager. Owners and managers in small businesses are knowledgeable of key aspects related to the financial practices of their businesses (Kirsten, 2013). In Section 2, the order of presentation starts with the reiteration of the purpose statement. Next, the role of the researcher, participants, research method and design, population and sampling, and ethical research follow. Then there is the presentation of my data collection instruments, data collection technique, data organization techniques, data analysis techniques, and reliability and validity.

### **Purpose Statement**

The purpose of this qualitative multiple case study was to explore the strategies that small business owners use for effective financial management. The study population consisted of small business owners in four small firms that have been in existence for more than 5 years and that have effective financial management. Implications for positive social change include possible growth in the number of profitable small businesses in St. Vincent. Such growth may lead to an increased employment rate (Parilla, 2013), an improved economy (Ahmad & Abdullah, 2015), and a reduction in the national crime rate (K'nIfe & Haughton, 2013).

### **Role of the Researcher**

Researchers have a strong influence on their study (Chimirri, 2013), which could result in bias. Consequently, adhering to the principles of research is a practical solution to ensure research is fair and efficient. In this study, I performed the role of an interpretivist researcher, where one of my responsibilities was to collect data. Additionally, analyzing the findings of the study was my task.

As an entrepreneur, who has run a small business since 2009, I have been concerned about the factors that impact the performance of these for-profit organizations. My interest in small businesses in St. Vincent was also because of the potential positive impact of the small business sector on the economy. The possibility of increasing my marketability as a business professional was another reason I chose to conduct this investigation.

In conducting this study, I acknowledged the need for ethical principles and practices that ensure fair treatment for all participants. Mikesell, Bromley, and Khodyakov (2013) reiterated that complying with tenets in the Belmont Report is a practical approach to protecting the rights and wellbeing of individual research participants. The three prime ethical principles I observed in my study were (a) individual autonomy, allowing the participants to participate willingly and without influence; (b) beneficence, there was no risk to the participants; and (c) justice, the selection of participants was fair.

My approach to this exploration of strategies for effective financial management

was to maintain a neutral role to reduce the possibility of partiality. Maintaining a neutral role when gathering and interpreting data in a qualitative study is practical (Khan, 2014). Hoare and Hoe (2013) suggested that the use of appropriate research methods could reduce bias in research. Multiple case study is a feasible approach to minimize biases (Zivkovic, 2012), since it is an analysis process that comprised two or more cases, in contrast to a single case. Member checking is also an effective method of minimizing bias (Birt, Scott, Cavers, Campbell, & Walter, 2016), as it helps researchers to have more accurate interpretation of data from interviews (Årlin, Börjeson, & Östberg, 2015). Member checking is a follow-up process with participants in research to verify the accuracy of the interpretation of data collected in an interview (Harvey, 2015). I used multiple case study, one-on-one interviews, and member checking to mitigate bias or misconceptions.

Interviews were my primary data collection method, mainly because they allow participants to express their views liberally and interviewers to raise unexpected issues (Keränen & Jalkala, 2014). Matusitz and Lord (2013) suggested that an interview is an effective method to ensure that interviewees provide appropriate responses. For this study, one of my data collection instrument was semistructured interviews. Additionally, I used an interview protocol to guide the interviewing process. An interview protocol is the list of rules and guidelines that include pre and post questions to complement the actual interview questions (Dikko, 2016). Researchers use an interview protocol to construct questions for an interview (Macchion, Danese, & Vinelli, 2015) and to maintain a structured technique to optimize communication in an interview (Gould et al., 2015). McDonald, O'Brien, White, and Sniehotta (2015) suggested that interview protocol could enhance the comprehension between researchers and interviewees.

A semistructured interview involves the combination of structured and unstructured questions (Dikko, 2016) to obtain responses from interviewees (Enguidanos, Coulourides-Kogan, Schreibeis-Baum, Lendon, & Lorenz, 2015). In semistructured interviews, research participants respond in their own words about how they perceive the phenomenon being investigated (Dabić & Stojanov, 2014). Additionally, semistructured interviews involve use of guided questioning, which encourages more elaborate responses (Orobia, Byabashaija, Munene, Sejjaaka, & Musinguzi, 2013). See Appendix A for the semistructured interview protocol I used for this research study.

### **Participants**

In many cases, small business owners perform multiple roles, including that of the manager, who is most knowledgeable about the business (Ghobakhloo & Sai, 2013). I adopted a site-based approach, which allowed the owner of the business to identify the most appropriate participants with knowledge of the finances of the firm; in all cases, the owners participated as the interviewees. A site-based approach is useful for reducing bias in data collection (Arcury & Quandt, 1999). The two main criteria for selection of the participants were that (a) participants must be knowledgeable of the financial management practices of their businesses and (b) have at least 5 years of experience working with the business.

I identified contact information for my sample in local phonebook directories, online yellow pages, and social media. Social media is an online platform where interactions take place between multiple users (Agnihotri, Dingus, Hu, & Krush, 2016). The use of social media, particularly Facebook, is popular amongst SMEs (Roy, Maxwell, & Carson, 2014). Vernuccio (2014) articulated the most promising potential to reach and engage businesses and their stakeholders is online. In 2013, there were over 500 million users on Facebook with useful information (Gregori & Baltar, 2013). My use of the Internet was a favorable option to recruit participants for this study.

Subsequent to identifying the firms for my research, I initiated contact with administrators of the firms via e-mail and the telephone to confirm that their businesses had been in existence for at least 5 years and that they had financial records available for the years in which they had been in operation. The owners then had the opportunity to confirm their interest in participating in my study by a response of yes or no via email or telephone. Following their positive responses, I followed up via e-mails and phone calls to obtain their signed site agreements, after which I coordinated times for the interviews with each participant. After confirming the logistics of these meetings, I conducted the interviews with the participants at their respective business places.

Chimirri (2013) advised that getting an understanding of interviewees' environment prior to interviews is good preparation for an interview that could add value to the data collection process. My decision to communicate via e-mails and telephone with the business owners in advance of our meetings contributed to creating a positive environment for the interviews, I believe. Bell (2013) stressed the importance of gaining participants' trust in order to receive honest and sufficient answers. Similar to Lamb (2013), I conducted individual interviews only, as opposed to paired or group interviews; doing so helped, I believe, in gaining the confidence and trust of the participants.

### **Research Method and Design**

There are three research methods: qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods (Vohra, 2014). I adopted a qualitative method and case study design for this doctoral research. Qualitative research is a set of interpretive, material practices that make the reality visible, due to its central characteristic of studying situations in their real settings (Dabić & Stojanov, 2014). A case study is an interpretive and naturalistic approach to conduct researches (Vohra, 2014).

# **Research Method**

My study included the adoption of the qualitative methodology for this research. Khan (2014) described a qualitative method as an interpretive and naturalistic approach to conducting research. Well-executed qualitative research could result in many research perspectives, and include new knowledge (Fawcett et al., 2014). Lamb (2013) noted a qualitative approach is useful to learn about the experience of research and to gather invaluable data. Additionally, a qualitative approach is conducive to collaborative social change efforts by researchers and participants (Fassinger & Morrow, 2013). Moreover, qualitative methodology is a suitable option for conducting management studies and under-researched phenomena (Keränen & Jalkala, 2014), as is the case for small businesses in St. Vincent.

Garcia and Gluesing (2013) insinuated qualitative methods are rigorous and nuanced to an extent that made it more appropriate than quantitative methods for researchers to develop an understanding of the impact of a context. In this study, the owners of the businesses were the sample; Vohra (2014) explained quantitative methods are insufficient as investigative methods of persons in leadership roles. Further, qualitative research is most active for exploring contemporary issues where the focus is on exploratory *what*, *how*, and *why* questions (Fawcett et al., 2014), contrary to quantitative research, which addresses statistical questions (Yilmaz, 2013). Qualitative researchers could answer research questions that are not possible through quantitative methods (Dabić & Stojanov, 2014), particularly because of the limitation of quantitative methods to get an in-depth understanding of real life situations (Allet, 2014). Another reason for not employing quantitative methods for the current study is quantitative study limits the number of variables to a manageable level and controls the research settings, a sentiment that Khan (2014) shared.

A mixed methodology was unsuitable for my research since it is more favorable for cases where there is need for qualitative and quantitative methods, as was the case in Singh and Twalo (2014). Yilmaz (2013) posited the quantitative methods are appropriate for numerical data and for testing theory. In my research, there was no need for extensive numeric data, hence the sole selection of qualitative methods. Further, qualitative methods are sufficient to conduct a comprehensive exploratory study (Drew, 2014).

# **Research Design**

I chose a case study design as the most suitable for this qualitative study due to its interpretive and naturalistic approach. Vohra (2014) elaborated case studies combine a variety of data collection methods that facilitate an in-depth study of instances of a phenomenon in its natural context and from the perspective of the participants involved

in the phenomenon. Through qualitative interviews, owners provided information for the current study. Drew (2014) echoed that qualitative interviewing is an efficient method for collecting data through rich, in-depth conversation from business elites. Since interviews were the primary data collection method, the data were based on interpretation, which confirmed case studies as the most suitable design. Samnani and Singh (2013) posited case study as a useful qualitative research design, but highlighted that using a single organization for a research study has limitations concerning transferability; hence the exploration of multiple cases for this financial management practices study.

Grounded theory and phenomenology are alternative designs for qualitative research (Garcia & Gluesing, 2013), which were options for this research. Notwithstanding, the grounded theory is most appropriate for developing theory (Lawrence & Tar, 2013), which was not the motive of my study. Wafler and Swierczek (2014) concurred with the view that grounded theory is primarily for the purpose of generating the inductive theory that reveals a pattern of behavior of the participants. Furthermore, Keränen and Jalkala (2014) elaborated that an inductive grounded theory design is suitable for developing the new theory where research is still at an initial stage.

Similarly, I chose not to use a phenomenological design for multiple reasons. Bevan (2014) explained a phenomenological design is mainly insightful of the personal experience of the participant; this was not in alignment with my study. Moreover, observation is a critical data collection method for a phenomenological design (Lamb, 2013), but not for the case study approach. Also, in phenomenological research, it is difficult to discard personal preconceptions (Ellingsen, Roxberg, Kristoffersen, Rosland, & Alvsvåg, 2014); therefore the phenomenological design was also unsuitable for this qualitative research. Another reason for the rejection of the phenomenological design for my research was because the concepts in phenomenological researches could be complex for novice researchers, a sentiment that Bevan (2014) expressed.

Marshall, Cardon, Poddar, and Fontenot (2013) explained ensuring enough data is a precursor to credible analysis and reporting. To this end, I used data saturation to ensure the data collection was an optimal exercise. Matusitz and Lord (2013) endorsed the data saturation technique as useful for qualitative studies.

To achieve data saturation, I repeated the questions to the different participants until all findings were exhausted, and there were no new answers provided. Though four businesses were the intended sample, there was an extra participant if there was a need for additional interviews to reach data saturation. However, the extra option was not necessary. Orobia et al. (2013) suggested the number of participants in research is final at the point of data saturation. Similarly, Carman, Clark, Wolf, and Moon (2015) used the technique of interviewing participants until no new data were obtained in an efficient manner to reach data saturation. A comparable approach is evident in my research, which also involved follow-up scheduled meetings to the initial interviews for further questioning until data collection was exhausted and redundant.

### **Population and Sampling**

I adopted a purposeful, criterion-based sampling approach to identify the participants of the research. Criterion sampling is the selection of participants who have relevant knowledge and experience of the actual area of research (Bell, 2013; Palinkas et al., 2015). Wang, Rafiq, Li, and Zheng (2014) stressed the purposeful method is suitable to identify key persons most knowledgeable about an area. Francis-Smythe, Robinson, and Ross (2013) were successful in using purposeful sampling to select the appropriate participants (experienced senior managers) for their study. Michaelson, McKerron, and Davison (2015) also demonstrated the successful use of the criterion-based technique.

The participants for this qualitative study comprised owners of the small businesses. Orobia et al. (2013) proved the effective use of an owner or a manager of a small business for a study. Keränen and Jalkala (2014) used the strategy of engaging the owner or the manager of the particular area of research. Consistent with the criterion method, participants qualified for the study based on their knowledge of the financial management practices of the business and because they have been working with the business for more than 5 years.

Snowball and convenience sampling are also suitable for a qualitative study (Carman et al., 2015). Arcury and Quandt (1999) explained that snowball samples are inefficient because of the representativeness of the participants. Noy (2008) stated that with the snowball sampling method, over the sampling phase the researcher gives a substantial amount of control to the informants, which I did not favor for my research. Further, snowball sampling entails the use of persons who might be influenced by other participants (McCreesh, Tarsh, Seeley, Katongole, & White, 2013), since this method is highly reliant on personal contacts (Hutabarat & Gayatri, 2014).

The key concern for my rejection of convenience sampling was the method's limitation of generalizability, which Donoghue and de Klerk (2013) echoed. Bashir and

Madhavaiah (2014) postulated convenience sampling is restrictive. Differently stated, Prabadevi (2014) highlighted that convenience sampling confines the research due to limited data.

My study included small businesses in St. Vincent. The sample was four businesses, with one participant from each firm. Establishing a fixed number of respondents prior to data saturation could be premature since there can be only a determination of the necessary number of participants after reaching data saturation (Carman et al., 2015). Therefore, though there was an additional participant identified in the event of a requirement for more data, the four participants provided enough data for data saturation.

Though the participants had the option of participating on Skype or other Voice over Internet Protocol (VoIP) software, they chose to have the interviews at their business sites, which is similar to the model of Rostron (2014). Prior the interviews, I made the request to the participants to ensure the place of choice was noiseless. An environment that is quiet is conducive for an interview (Dikko, 2016). The interviews occurred at a time convenient for the interviewees, which Cetina, Dumitrescu, and Vinerean (2014) posited to be in the interest of interviewees. Giving participants options of settings could encourage more comfort, which will result in a better quality data (Koh, 2013).

Data saturation is a major factor that can influence the sample of research (Marshall et al., 2013). Matusitz and Lord (2013) reiterated the relevance of data saturation for effective qualitative research. To reach data saturation, Orobia et al. (2013) questioned different participants until the findings were exhausted. Carman et al. (2015) confirmed that in qualitative research, the number of participants is definitive when there is data saturation. The technique I adopted to realize data saturation was in line with Carman et al., to conduct interviews until each interviewee's answers in the respective cases were repetitive, after my understanding of the key concepts. An additional approach was to follow up initial interviews with other scheduled meetings for further questioning until findings were redundant.

# **Ethical Research**

Incorporating consent procedures in a study can help to encourage participation (Birt et al., 2016). The consent process in this study reflects the strategy of Banning and Gumley (2013) who provided interested participants with the information that outlines the ethics of participation, the requirement, and issues relating to confidentiality of the information exchanged. McCreesh et al. (2013) employed a consent request method, which is similar to the approach in this exploration of financial management strategies, where participants confirmed their cooperation with a consent form. McDonald et al. (2015) reported the practicality for informed, written consent from participants, prior an interview. I provided the interview consent form via email, and asked the participants to reply, "I consent." A private technique to acquire the consent of participants was evident in a study by Wei and Si (2013). The consent process also established that the research study was for academic purpose only and no one received incentives for their participation in the qualitative study. Though there was a withdrawal form for participants if they wished to retract from the participation of the study, this option was not utilized. Bromley, Mikesell, Jones, and Khodyakov (2015) considered the use of the

withdrawal form to be efficient.

I obtained the documentation declaring the approval of the Institutional Review Board (IRB). The IRB approval number was 02-14-17-0488741. Such approval was necessary for me to engage participants for the purpose of this study. In addition to the IRB permit, the consent form and availability of the withdrawal form were influential to the agreement of the participants.

In the interest of participants' confidentiality and security, I endeavor to keep all data obtained for the purpose of this research on a password-protected hard drive. Miller, Gottlieb, Morgan, and Gray (2014) supported encrypted data to protect participants' data. The hard drive will be in a secure place for no less than 5 years. Data from the research were only accessible for the purpose of the research.

The prime measure to ensure the ethical protection of participants was to conceal the identity of the participants of the research. Participants in a research study have the right to contribute to studies in confidentiality (Andrews, Dyson, & Wishart, 2015). To ensure the privacy of participants, I employed the approach taken by Roy et al. (2014), where interviewees' privacy exists by the use of fictitious names of individuals and firms participating in the study. Saunders, Kitzinger, and Kitzinger (2015) postulated peoples' names and workplaces are areas of confidentiality. Banning and Gumley (2013) suggested the approach of fictitious names was practical to maintaining the confidentiality of participants. Therefore, Participant 1, Participant 2, Participant 3, and Participant 4 are present in the study.

### **Data Collection Instruments**

Camfield and Palmer-Jones (2013) indicated analyzing data gathered by others could pose interpretation challenges. To avoid such a drawback, I opted to be the data collector. In this case, documents and semistructured interviews were my data collection methods, with the latter being the prime method.

The documents I accessed included official data in the form of paper or electronic sources on the background of the interviewees' firm and sample financial statements without actual figures. Examining these documents helped to realize the strategies for financial management of the firm. Makaula et al. (2012) indicated documents could give insight on different components of organizations. Documents are also suitable to verify information obtained from interviewees in research (Jansen, Capesius, Lachter, Greenseid, & Keller, 2014). Shinnaranantana, Dimmitt, and Siengthai (2013) posited that for a case study research, documents are useful to complement interviews, and could be available for direct collection from interviewees' businesses.

Consistent with my selection of semistructured interviews as the data collection method, Orobia et al. (2013) expressed semistructured interviews are suitable for the intention of comprehensive studies. Dasgupta (2015) recognized semistructured interviews facilitate interviewees to answer freely and elaborate on their responses. Keränen and Jalkala (2014) echoed similar sentiments about the elaborative responses prompted by a semistructured interview.

While a focus group was another option for collecting data, I rejected the method based on observations from some scholars. Michaelson et al. (2015) contested a focus

group involves a level of bias and could be dominated by individuals. van Leijen-Zeelenberg et al. (2014) argued partiality exists in a focus group. Also, participants are often uncomfortable and hesitant to contribute in a focus group (Tarafder & Sultan, 2014).

By using the interview protocol (see Appendix A), I engaged participants at their work place, which was their choice. Macris and Sam (2014) advocated a flexible approach of the interviewer to facilitate the interviewees at their convenience. Tarafder and Sultan (2014) suggested such freedom of choice encourages greater participation in an interview. Schaupp and Bélanger (2014) also proffered an in-person interview at the convenience of the respondents is appropriate. Likewise, Heinze, Soderstrom, and Zdroik (2014) endorsed conducting interview at the interviewees' work place is a valid option.

The interviews lasted an average of 35 minutes, which was in line with the estimate of Augustsson (2014). Kihl, Babiak, and Tainsky (2014) confirmed 30 – 60 minutes is an adequate timeframe for probing questions in a semistructured interview. Sorina-Diana, Dorel, and Nicoleta-Dorina (2013) also found 30 – 60 minutes sufficient to conduct interviews in a qualitative study. I captured the interviews by audio recording, similar to Heinze et al. (2014). Audio recording is a practical method for interviewers to capture interviewees' responses (McGonagle, Brown, & Schoeni, 2015). Matusitz and Lord (2013) noted that audio-recorded interviews enable data transcription for coding purposes.

To enhance data reliability and validity, I conducted member checking with participants. Member checking is a process of getting participants' confirmation that a researchers' interpretation of data collected from them is accurate (Morse, 2015). Li, Westbrook, Callen, Georgiou, and Braithwaite (2013) stated that member checking is an efficient practice to ensure that findings are the accurate representation of data collected from interviewees. The use of member checking confirms the level of understanding between the researcher and the interviewee (Årlin et al., 2015).

At the end of each interview, I informed the participants of the possibility of a follow-up interview to verify the correctness of my interpretation of the audiotaped interview. With each participant's approval, there was a provisional appointment for the member checking process within 7 days post interview. The communication to the participants to confirm the member checking appointment was via email and telephone. Similar to the initial interview process, the participants had the option of face-to-face interaction or via an electronic platform, such as email, Skype, and Google Hangout. In the member checking with each participant, the interaction occurred via email.

# **Data Collection Technique**

I used interviews as my primary data collection method. An interview is an activity with a level of interaction and the aim of acquiring data or information from a source. Lamb (2013) expressed an interview is an effective way of conducting research, particularly to encourage open discussion, which influences new opinions. Researchers found interviews to be conducive to gain comprehensible perspectives of organizations' personnel (Kihl et al., 2014). Using face-to-face interviews was the approach in this exploration of effective strategies for financial management. Irvine, Drew, and Sainsbury (2013) purported face-to-face interviews are favorable for a comfortable atmosphere for

interviewing. Face-to-face interviews are prevalent in qualitative research (Sorina-Diana et al., 2014).

To coordinate the interviews, my initial contact with the interviewees was via telephone and email to confirm the date, time, and location for the meeting. Upon arrival for the interviews, the interviewees and I exchanged pleasantries. Prior commencement of each interview, the interviewee got the chance to read, understand, and accept the interview process.

With the interviewee's approval, there was a commencement of the recorder and then the interviewing. Throughout each interview, in addition to recording, I wrote points that stood out in the interviewee's responses but at minimum frequency. Walker et al. (2015) exercised the option of taking notes in interviews for a successful study. In an attempt to retain the respondent's interest and attention of the participants during the interview, my strategy was to use nonverbal actions such as eye contact and positive hand and head gestures. Onwuegbuzie and Byers (2014) endorsed the use of nonverbal behaviors to stimulate the interest and attention of interviewees. Another approach to the interviewing process was to have follow-up questions during the interview. Follow up questions are useful to clarify comments and also to expand and broaden concepts (Onwuegbuzie & Byers, 2014).

As part of my data triangulation adoption, documents from the participants supplemented the data from the interviews. Dabić and Stojanov (2014) identified documents as a practical form of data for qualitative studies. The documents were official data in the form of paper and electronic sources on the background of the interviewees' firm and sample financial statements without actual figures. During the communication with participants to confirm the logistics for the initial interview, I expressed interest in gaining access to the documents provided.

Interviews and documents as data collection techniques have advantages and disadvantages. An advantage of the interview technique is researchers are able to use interviews for the collection of rich and extensive data (Frels & Onwuegbuzie, 2013). To maximize the benefit of rich and extensive data, I utilized an iPad to record all interviews. McGonagle et al. (2015) posited the recording of interviews enhances data quality of a research. Other benefits of digitally recording interviews include error correction, easy and safe storage, and reducing the possibility of losing data, such as manually written notes (Berazneva, 2014).

While Irvine et al. (2013) agreed face-to-face interviews could establish a comfortable environment that facilitates greater participation, while writing notes during interviews may not be most efficient. Writing notes can cause distractions to both the interviewee and interviewer (Irvine et al., 2013). van Leijen-Zeelenberg et al. (2014) observed a weakness of the interview method is the interviewer could have a level of influence on the responses, which could cause restriction to the scope of the data collection. Camfield and Palmer-Jones (2013) suggested documents, as a data collection method, could also be a disadvantage because of the possibility of misinterpretation of the data.

I executed member checking to confirm the accuracy of my initial interpretation of data from the interviewees. Member checking is useful to confirm the interpretation of responses in the interviews (Birt et al., 2016). Andrasik et al. (2014) echoed member checking allows participants to agree whether the data captured were accurate or not. Doubet and Ostrosky (2015) expressed a similar sentiment that researchers use member checking to confirm the accuracy of the interpretation of interviewees' perspectives in initial interviews.

The member checking was within 14 days of the initial meeting, during which time there was the review of documents. The recording of the member checking was with an iPad, a similar method that Onwuegbuzie and Byers (2014) approved. For the member checking process, I presented each interviewee with my written interpretation of his or her interview for verification, and asked them to make suggested changes or accept that my initial interpretation is correct. The interviewees decided whether the follow-up meeting was via email. Presenting interviewees with choices could encourage greater cooperation (Koh, 2013).

# **Data Organization Technique**

Qualitative data collection methods produce rich and extensive data that needs to be codified and analyzed to be effective (Garcia & Gluesing, 2013). To have an organized structure for recording and storing data, I adapted a similar approach to Dasgupta (2015), which entailed creating separate folders on my computer for each participant in this research. Further, Microsoft Excel and Microsoft Word that feature rows and columns were the tools to record data collected from all sources throughout my research: journals, interviewees, and documents. Similarly, Matusitz and Lord (2013) and Enguidanos et al. (2015) used a Microsoft spreadsheet to record data. Rowley (2012) expressed researchers usually use word documents to record data.

All raw data on paper and audiotapes are in a security safe, while transcribed and electronic data are on an external password-protected hard drive. The option to use a password to protect devices has been in existence for many years (Helkala & Hoddo Bakas, 2014). Bamrara (2015) elaborated on authentication techniques to enhance the security of data. Chen, Mitchell, and Tang (2013) suggested existing capability of one-time password service using generic authentication architecture.

The storage of data on internet-driven applications was not an appropriate practice for this research. Data stored online, especially via third party software providers, are not guaranteed privacy and security (Tung-Zong & Vowles, 2013). Ahmed, Vu, Asal, Muhairi, and Yeun (2014) explained potential threats of online activities. All data from the participants are locked and secured for 5 years, at which point I will destroy. Keele (2009) expounded on consequences of unnecessary data retention, such as data theft, loss, and fraud. As is the case in law claims, it is uncommon for data after 5 years to be of much use, therefore deleting data and shredding documents are useful options (Watson, 2015). Wolf et al. (2015) also suggested the destruction of data following the purpose of initial intent.

# **Data Analysis**

As the primary data collection instrument, I used interviews and documents for data collection. This approach confirmed the use of the methodological triangulation. Wang et al. (2014) explained that triangulation includes materials that could help to strengthen the data captured from interviews. Jack and Raturi (2006) stated methodological triangulation improves completeness, contingency, and confirmation of the data analysis process. Spilková, Fendrychová, and Syrovátková (2013) elaborated methodological triangulation could be purposeful.

Data analysis involves sequential processes such as the interactive model of Miles and Huberman, which reflects phases such as collection, reduction, presentation, and inference of data (Abdullah, 2014). Macris and Sam (2014) endorsed the adoption of a sequential model, particularly that of Miles and Huberman. Lawrence and Tar (2013) explained three techniques in the analytical model: open coding, axial coding, and selective coding. These techniques were in my adapted sequential process of Yin (2011) with the five phases: compiling, disassembling, reassembling, interpreting, and concluding. Compiling and dissembling included open coding, resembling comprised axial coding, and interpreting and concluding included selective coding.

Sorina-Diana et al. (2013) suggested manual coding encourages data integrity. Bishop and Lexchin (2013) confirmed the occurrence of a similar process for coding. Dasgupta (2015) recognized a word document as a useful tool to transcribe audiorecorded interviews. Inexperienced researchers use word documents instead of software such as NVivo due to their comfort level (Rowley, 2012). Matusitz and Lord (2013) justified spreadsheets could create data categories that could help with recording themes. The table-style feature of spreadsheets could also be useful for realizing similarities in data (Frankenberger, Weiblen, & Gassmann, 2014). Augustsson (2014) expounded coded interviews allow for the researcher to identify variations, which lends to the credibility of results. I made notes from the recorded interviews and used Microsoft Excel to record themes in the form of color-coding when analyzing data.

Bonney et al. (2013) suggested the use of a thematic analysis of qualitative data. Thematic analysis is an activity to search for important themes that emerge on the key topic in a study (Vohra, 2014). Keränen and Jalkala (2014) and Lawrence and Tar (2013) demonstrated successful application of thematic analysis. I used thematic analysis to highlight the strategies small business owners use for effective financial management in St. Vincent. In line with the research question and literature review, the overarching theme was strategies, with subthemes being practices, rules, routines, and knowledge.

# **Reliability and Validity**

The qualitative researchers' perspective of a case study identifies with validity and reliability, which emphasizes the importance to ensure that findings are not biased or anecdotal (Street & Ward, 2012), and can be replicated (Ali & Yusof, 2011). Munn, Porritt, Lockwood, Aromataris, and Pearson (2014) elaborated on two prime elements that add to the confidence of findings, namely dependability and credibility. Similarly, Houghton, Casey, Shaw, and Murphy (2013) argued that dependability, credibility, transferability, and confirmability are the four elements that assess the rigor of qualitative research. Dependability applies to reliability, while credibility, transferability, and confirmability test the validity. Verifying the validity and reliability is an essential phase of research design (Oleinik, Popova, Kirdina, & Shatalova, 2014).

# Reliability

Hess, McNab, and Basoglu (2014) considered reliability as a test for consistency

and accuracy of findings. Dependability is an important element to increase the confidence of results (Munn et al., 2014). To promote the dependability of conclusions, I ensured the comprehensive documentation of the process for data collection, particularly by using an interview protocol (see Appendix A). Foley and O'Connor (2013) argued the interview protocol strengthens dependability. Miner-Romanoff (2012) also supported using an interview protocol as adding value to research. Moreover, consistency with interview questions augments the research (Trotter, 2012).

Researcher bias could be an influential factor in qualitative research, particular where data collection methods include interviews (Anyan, 2013). Tufford and Newman (2012) suggested, when a researcher is the instrument of all phases of research, it is practical for there to be preconceptions and biases. The less researcher bias is present, the more accurate the data in interviews (Miner-Romanoff, 2012). Monitoring bias is a useful measure for dependability (Tufford & Newman, 2012). Furthermore, bracketing by a researcher counters the issue of researcher bias. The failure to institute researcher bracketing affects the dependability of qualitative research (Miner-Romanoff, 2012). Tufford and Newman (2012) posited that being consistent with questioning could avoid or limit biases. I employed researcher bracketing to improve dependability.

## Validity

To ensure the validity of the research, I employed: (a) member checking, (b) data saturation, and (c) data triangulation. To address the credibility of the research, Johnson (2014) and Miner-Romanoff (2012) endorsed the use of member checking. Houghton et al. (2013) also suggested the usefulness of member checking to increase credibility.

Similar to credibility, researchers could use member checking to address confirmability. Nicklett and Damiano (2014) explained that reducing coding discrepancies could enhance confirmability, a factor that using member checking addressed. To complement such a process, Boellaard, Brandt, Johnson, and Zorn (2014) suggested reviewing all themes. Confirmability is essential to establish the trustworthiness of research, and can be evident through richness and descriptiveness of interpretations of the research (Gilje & Talseth, 2007).

I also adopted data saturation to ensure credibility. Data saturation is a tool used to achieve adequate and comprehensive data in the qualitative study (Walker, 2012). Consistent with this, Marshall et al. (2013) posited that sample size is an essential factor for adding credibility to research. Harper and Cole (2012) highlighted data saturation as sufficient for validating a study.

I utilized data triangulation to achieve validity. Houghton et al. (2013) endorsed data triangulation to address credibility. Yin (2013) expounded on data source triangulation and methodological triangulation as approaches to strengthen the validity of a case study. Street and Ward (2012) agreed that triangulation of data sources improves reliability and validity, while Homburg, Klarmann, Reimann, and Schilke (2012) elaborated the positive impact of data triangulation on validity.

Transferability is another important tool that researchers use to improve validity (Harper & Cole, 2012; Miner-Romanoff, 2012). Transferability is the ability to draw related conclusions for similar cases. This study consisted of four case studies that included small businesses. The sample was criterion-based, which ensured a distinct

population for the study. Readers will determine the transferability of the findings of the present research.

## **Transition and Summary**

Section 1 consisted of the foundation of the study, which was an elaboration of my research topic, including the problem that exists with some small business owners lacking strategies for effective financial management in Vincentian small businesses. The research question and conceptual framework is in the first section, which should help to establish the scope of the study. In Section 2, I explained the different components of the research methodology for this study, including the qualitative multiple case study as the research method and design. There was discussion on the role of the interpretivist researcher, along with the provision for conforming to the ethical standards of a doctoral research. Further, the selection of the criterion-based sampling approach was presented.

I rationalized the selection of face-to-face semistructured interviews and documents as the prime sources of data, along with justification of the organization of data, such as filing and secure storage. In Section 2, there was also rationale for adopting member checking as a technique in the data analysis process, in addition to coding and thematic analysis. Section 2 ended with elaboration on the various methods to achieve reliability and validity, namely: member checking, data triangulation, data saturation, use of an interview protocol, and controlling researcher bias.

In Section 3, firstly, I present the findings, which is a reflection of the conceptual framework and literature review. There is also a presentation of the applicability of conclusions to the strategies small business owners use for effective financial

management of Vincentian small businesses. The section included the implications for social change, and ended with recommendations for action and further research.

Section 3: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Change

#### Introduction

The purpose of this qualitative multiple case study was to explore strategies small business owners use for effective financial management. Section 3 includes presentation of findings, application to professional practice, implications for social change, recommendations for action and for further research, reflections, and conclusions. Three themes emerged from my analysis of study data. These were (a) strategic accounting practices, (b) set patterns, and (c) financial planning. The presentation of findings also includes a discussion of how these themes relate to institutional theory, which was the contextual framework for this doctoral study.

Small businesses are the main contributor to many economies globally (Kriechbaumer & Christodoulidou, 2014). Notwithstanding, over 50% of small businesses fail within the first 5 years (Arasti, Zandi, & Bahmani, 2014). According to Mutanda et al. (2014), various factors account for the high failure rate. While inadequate funding (Mendoza, 2014) and lack of strategy (Agwu & Emeti, 2014) are two challenging factors for small businesses, financial management is a critical factor in many small businesses' failure (Hasan & Jamil, 2014).

In conducting semistructured interviews with four successful small business owners in St. Vincent and reviewing the businesses' documents, I made a key observation that various essential strategies contribute to effective financial management. A consensus of the owners in the sample was the need for strategic accounting practices and set patterns. The participants elaborated on the critical strategies and areas pertaining to the financial management of their businesses. Additionally, the participants observed the role of financial planning in addressing important trends for small businesses.

### **Presentation of the Findings**

I interviewed small business owners and used samples of their businesses' financial statements to execute methodological triangulation of data for this study. Use of dual data sources assisted me in addressing my overreaching research question: What strategies do small business owners use for effective financial management? The prime data for my analysis were from the participant interviews. Data saturation in this study was realized when the data in the interview and documents reviewed became repetitive, and there was no further new information. After entering the interview data in Microsoft Excel and reviewing the documents, I identified the following three main themes: (a) strategic accounting practices, (b) set patterns, and (c) financial planning.

The first theme that emerged involved the relevance of documenting the processes and transactions relating to the finances of the business and adopting the appropriate accounting practices. The second theme to emerge was the practice of establishing patterns to have consistency in the operations of the business as it relates to financial management. The final emergent theme was the need to perform financial planning to be responsive to the trends in the industry that could be influential in small businesses. The conceptual framework of institutional theory (Selznick, 1948) was effective to generate the relevant themes.

#### **Demographic Characteristics of the Participants**

All four study participants were successful small business owners. To maintain confidentiality of the participants, I assigned codes to the owners in the sample for identification purposes. The codes were Participant 1 (P1), Participant 2 (P2), Participant 3 (P3), and Participant 4 (P4). The businesses that these owners represented were from the following industries: (a) hotel, (b) medical laboratory, (c) automobile rental, and (d) physical therapy. Gonsalves (2016) confirmed the diversity of small businesses in St. Vincent. Though maybe diverse, many small businesses have similar operations, hence the appropriate selection of institutional theory, which is useful to identify similarities between institutions.

The participants' small businesses were located in St. Vincent. I conducted each interview in the privacy of the participants' offices. The semistructured interviews included six open-ended questions, which were answered by all participants (see Appendix A for the interview protocol). In addition to the interviews, two of the participants provided financial statements with figures removed, while the other participants presented financial statements with values. The financial statements were insightful about the accounting practices of the small businesses, the owners' financial management patterns, and of the influence on financial planning. Following the initial interviews, I conducted member checking with the participants. Member checking is relevant for verifying the accuracy of interpretation by a researcher (Johnson, 2014).

The participants had varying backgrounds and experiences. The hotel owner (P1) commenced operation following retirement and initially started off the business as a bed

and breakfast concept. The hotel has since been in existence for more than 10 years. The medical laboratory owner (P2) has been operating over 6 years at the time of this study and, initially, was mainly responsible for the technical areas of the business; the owner used a diverse board of directors to support the business management components, including finance. The automobile rental owner (P3) operated a home-based office and continued to increase the fleet of vehicles during the years that the business had been in operation. The owner of the physical therapy clinic (P4) commenced operation more than 7 years before data collection and has evolved into a management role.

## **Theme 1: Strategic Accounting Practices**

Similar accounting practices exist in small businesses in St. Vincent. Such is evident based on the information gathered from the four small businesses in this study. Accounting provides useful financial information that contributes to rational decisionmaking in businesses (Kim & Im, 2017). The prime accounting practices that emerged in this qualitative study were manual accounting and QuickBooks.

Based on my analysis of the data, strategic accounting practices enable efficiency in the management of the finances of small businesses. Furthermore, the practices vary by choice and are influenced by the stage of the business and the educational background and experience of the owner. Affordability is also a factor, in that a business might be limited to just the knowledge of the owner or in-house staff because outsourcing the management of finance might be too costly. Consequently, owner participants strategically chose accounting practices to meet their objectives. Small business owners in this study have adopted accounting practices primarily to record financial transactions, based on strategic thinking. For instance, P1 confirmed the use of a manual system to record transactions in some aspects, while using QuickBooks to accumulate data. P2 admitted the use of management accounts to generate profit and loss, which was supported by annual audits. Similar to P1, P3 indicated the adoption of QuickBooks for regular record keeping, which was complemented by a balance sheet. P4 stated that for financial management, daily logs exist for all transactions, which are then formalized by the use of QuickBooks.

The strategic approaches of the participants were aligned to the need for proper documentation. P1 advised that proper documentation "gives an idea whether or not to advance and invest more in the business." Similarly, P2 suggested that accounting practices provide an idea of how the business is running and information that can be used to determine what changes are necessary. The two other participants also confirmed that gathering the appropriate data is important. P3 mentioned that, as a business grows, there is even greater need for proper documentation. P4 acknowledged documenting is imperative to know the profits on a monthly basis "so I can know if I am actually making a profit from the business, what I need to cut in terms of expenses, and how I can save more monies."

Financial statements are comprised as part of the practices and strategies for effective financial management of small businesses. P1 and P4 used income and expenses statements, while profit and loss statement is the preferred practice of P2 and P3. Both types of statements are done similarly, with basic accounting information captured at least monthly. The items on profit and loss, and income and expenses statements were categorized into receivables and payments.

Additionally, the use of balance sheets was a strategy by the small businesses in this study to be able to assess the financial performances. Only P4 did not have a balance sheet. Instead, P4 placed emphasis on daily logs to track the attendance and payment status of the clients. P4's daily logs included the names of patients, the type of treatment, cost of service, payment status, and balance; which have been useful information for the owner to know the status of the business. The statements of P1 reflected an itemized list of expenses and revenue, which have helped to determine if the business is profitable. P2's records were a reflection of the strategy of documenting all financially related details, which included a daily transactions register, profit and loss statement, and balance sheet. Similarly, P3's records also included a balance sheet, showing details are captured for the business's financial year.

Some small business owners in this study used QuickBooks to manage their finance. QuickBooks is a user-friendly software that does not require any formal training (Schiff & Szendi, 2014). According to P3, QuickBooks is "easy to use and fast." The software is used to complement the other financial practices of the business. Of the participants in this study, only P2 did not use QuickBooks, while P4 indicated the external accountant of the business used the accounting software monthly to good effect. "QuickBooks accounting method is used; it shows that we are very successful in terms of our surplus, we have a surplus at the end of each month," noted P4. QuickBooks was also the choice for monitoring the financial activities in the business. P1 expounded, "I do the manual and the QuickBooks, I can see the activities based on where we are and what's happening towards the end of the month, during the month and early next month."

Educational background and experience. The accounting practices adopted by the small businesses' owners were influenced by their educational background and experience. The consensus of the small business owners was that their educational background and experience were impactful on their financial management. P4 proclaimed, "I did business in secondary school, I did accounts, econ, and management of business as well at the A level college, so accounts and business management is always part of my educational background." P4 credited educational background for the ability to operate the business effectively for several years and declared, "In the first 3 years, I did all the accounting by myself."

P1's educational background included an undergraduate degree in economics and finance, a masters degree in management and supervision, and a second masters in education. P1 also acquired experience through teaching business education and accounting in high school. Further, P1 explained because of previous experience as an entrepreneur and managing another business, "It was easy for me to come here and start this business in the tourism industry." P1 still echoed the need for more knowledge and for constant learning, stating, "I am a student, still a student, growing in this industry."

P3's business experience was based on growing up with both parents, who actually owned businesses. Additionally, P3 studied business in secondary school, which the participant credited for the ability to record the relevant data for effective financial management. From the personal perspective of P2, the financial management experience was as a result of "hard knocks", indicating mainly experience in business and personal financial management. P2 confessed having a board of directors, who comprised of proficient personnel in the area of finance and business management to assist with financial decisions. P2 elaborated:

Within our board of directors, we have certain persons who are more financially inclined, that is they have professional training in that (financial management) so that is usually a big help to us. So usually we are guided, usually we give the lead to these persons on these matters, and so they would advise us.

#### **Theme 2: Set Patterns**

The data from the interviews and the documents reviewed in this study provided evidence of set patterns used by some small businesses in St. Vincent. All participants indicated recurring practices conducted at different frequencies, such as daily, monthly, and annually. The set patterns in this study identified with (a) systematic record keeping, (b) hiring an accountant, and (c) business networking.

**Systematic record keeping**. Ibarra and Velasco (2015) postulated the usefulness of various accounting systems that relate to recording data. Record keeping is a positive driver for the success of small businesses (Annan, Doe, Anyamadu, & Ahiale, 2016). Orobia, Padachi, and Munene (2016) also echoed the positive impact of financial records. Despite the appreciation for the advantages of record keeping, many small business owners do not keep records (Asaduzzaman, 2017).

Each of the participants in the study emphasized the need to document transactions and details of the business. P1 elaborated on the importance of record

keeping as a strategy for effective financial management, particularly to determine the business position, growth, and advancement. P1 explained proper documentation is a prerequisite to gain access to funding opportunities and concessions. P1 shared:

So in terms of financing, when I returned, because I had part of the money, I applied, and some of the challenges that people have, they don't keep proper documentation, so when the banks would ask for certain information... I was able to take mine 1, 2, 3.

Records of the financial transactions of the business are useful knowledge to make competent managerial decisions that would increase profits. P4 stated:

It is very important to use different strategies... in terms of documenting, in terms of knowing the profits on a monthly basis, the expenses, so I can know if I am actually making a profit from the business, what I need to cut in terms of expenses, and how I can save more monies.

P3 emphasized, "The most important thing is to always have your bills and receipts and documents of every sale... In that case, you will know or have an idea of how your business is going, whether it is profitable". P3 further advised other businesses, "Always have everything documented." P3 further expounded:

Because you have to actually show all these in your financial statement, you have to have everything in order, so when the accounting person is actually visiting your company, they will have everything to work along with so that they would not have to guess and have everything scrambled. The participants provided financial statements that confirmed that documentation was systematic for their businesses. P2 presented documentation that depicts the comprehensive manner in which financial transactions are captured. Some of the details recorded include automobile expenses, payments for materials, utilities, janitorial expenses, director's fees, meeting fees, office expenses, and loan payments. P3's records reflected the source of income, capturing every rental, as well as the fuel expenses, and other recurring expenses. Similar records could also be seen from the daily log sheet of P4.

**Hiring an accountant.** An essential strategy for small business owners is hiring an accountant. Accountants are professionals with special skills and knowledge of accounting and who also have legitimate power in their field (Stone, 2015). Williams and O'Donovan (2015) observed accountants are skilled in the area of taxation, financial management, budgeting, and strategic management.

Except for P2, the participants admitted to having informal accounting practices done in-house and relied on externally trained persons in this area as a supplementary method. Williams and O'Donovan (2015) reported the norm is for small businesses to utilize the services of external accountants. P4 declared, "I have an accountant who will use my documentation in terms of my daily log, in terms of expenses and income from patients, and she will tabulate and do all the accounting that is needed." In P3's case, an accountant was hired at the end of the year to finalize the profit or loss of the business. P2's approach was different from the other participants, in that there is a permanent staff member who functions as an accountant. P2 stated:

Internal, we have somebody that does the accounting. Our office manager doubles as the accountant for us. This was a provision that we hadn't started out with but during our time, we saw that it was a challenge, and really something that we would prefer to have that person doing some accounting there, because they have more hands on approach to that and so far it has certainly made a big difference.

While the practice of P2 seemed effective, the cost of hiring a full-time staff for accounting may not be possible for everyone. Stone (2015) accepted while the areas of accounting and financial management are important, resource limitations could determine the ability to have an internal expert. Carey and Tanewski (2016) concurred with the lack of resources in small businesses and suggested using an external accountant is a practical option to augment the skills and expertise that may be limited in the workplace.

Each participant echoed the positives of utilizing an accountant. P1 expressed the accountant for the business provided advice of the current financial position of the business and also offers guidance on future investments. P2 and P3 found an accountant was useful to confirm their tax calculations. P3 also reported having an accountant reduced the possibility of errors in the financial statements:

If myself actually had done it, I would have done a shorthand document, which I would also be missing out on stuff, and so that's why a reason for having an accountant, they would have everything that I would miss.

Such prevention of errors was also shared by P4, who explained an accountant would help to identify short falls. P3 clarified, "The use of the accountant is quicker and easier." Small businesses incur a cost for the service of accountants. While P2 has recruited a full-time employee, the other participants preferred the option of periodically contracting an accountant. P4 has employed an accountant monthly to "assist in financial projections and proper financial stability." P3 opted to use accountants on an annual basis, mainly to complete the tax calculations.

**Business networking.** Another set pattern the small business owners identified was business networking. A business network comprises of close relationships with stakeholders (Jin & Jung, 2016). Mitchell, Schlegelmilch, and Mone (2016) postulated the value of business networking for businesses. One of the prime benefits of business networking is the ability to shared knowledge and information. Having new knowledge could enhance marketability (McAdam, McAdam, Dunn, & McCall, 2016). Jin and Jung (2016) expounded business networks are a good source of market knowledge. In addition to knowledge, business networks also attract resources (Szymura-Tyc & Kucia, 2016).

P1 spoke about joining networks to learn the norms in the industry: "One of the things I learned is that it's very important to join associations where you then develop standards and maintain relationships with other people of like-mind. So by joining the organization, I listened." P2 also elaborated on the need to learn from others in the industry since "you do not know everything, so it is critical to keep learning." P1 insisted on building business networks on the premise that similar businesses are not competitors, but instead each complements the other.

Tauni, Fang, and Iqbal (2017) highlighted the sharing of financial knowledge among peers about investment. P1 confirmed receiving advice from counterparts regarding future investments, including purchasing of equipment that enhances the business. P2 alluded to relying on the knowledge of professionals in an expanded network to provide financial advice on management of the finance. The information from such professionals contributed to the adoption of P2's various financial statements. P4's accountant was a friend who commenced operations with the business on a pro bono arrangement, followed by a later agreement to receive a fixed monthly salary.

## **Theme 3: Financial Planning**

Financial planning as a strategy is useful to small business owners to make the right financial decisions and avoid pitfalls that could lead to loss or failure (Rosenfeld, 2017). In this study, the participants acknowledged there were constant changes in the market that could impact decisions. Tamosiunas (2014) insinuated the dynamism of the environment and the need for business entities to be flexible in adapting accordingly. Based on the interviews, P1 noted the necessity for an appreciation of the industry and to use the available information on the market since it could be critical to the success of the business.

Small businesses relied on trend in sales to make administrative and financial decisions. "We compare year to year so that we will do the months and so on, even though our business is service-oriented on laboratory testing, there still will be some seasonal changes," confirmed P2. Trend incites knowledge on possible increase or decrease in a financial period, hence influencing the preparation of upcoming budget. P2 indicated:

We try to have a sort of projected budget, so at the end of each year, we did a certain amount of this year and next year, from trend with the market and so on, we can reliably hope to say for example we have probably a 5% increase and so on.

P1 insinuated information from financial statements was useful to "see whether or not we are within the guidelines of the business and the country." Strategic financial management could determine the pattern of performances of businesses (Karadag, 2015). P1 expounded:

The essential strategies I use to manage the finance of the business, I take into account the activities on the island, we will look at past performance, our partners we have dealt with in the past. We would also look at trends, and because we are members of certain hotel and tourism associations we then connect to them to find out what is going on and what will be going on, and then we can then plan and manage accordingly.

Financial planning also includes intangible factors. P1 observed, "It is not only financial, because what you also want is a relationship, so we use past performance and we use the relationship with some of our stakeholders." P1 further shared:

We look at past performance to select the financial management. And then we look at trends. We look in the media, print, media online, and so on, and we use those information, and of course we have our limitations, whether or not there is weather or climate and so on and we make our decision. P1 posited, "It is a strategy where you have to constantly be on your A game, because technology and information and the way of doing business changing so rapidly, you cannot just be stagnant." P1 expounded:

You always have to look at new strategies, new activities, join organizations online, look at what the bigger players like the Marriott and the Hyatt, what they are doing, and... we don't copy, what we do is modify to suit your needs, and then you make plans.

The participants identified budgeting as a financial planning strategy, which needs to be adjusted in line with the trend of the market or the environment. Budgeting pertains to forecasting expectations and the necessary resources to meet such expectations (Invernizzi, Menozzi, Passarani, Patton, & Viglia, 2016), as well as the purpose of optimizing revenue with a comparison of saving and spending of money (Hoque, 2017). P4 opined, "It is very important that you have a budget." P1 acknowledged that it is necessary to "listen, adopt, and financially, you try to plan within your budget."

P2's document included an "actual and budgeted summary" that has income and expenditure on a monthly basis. P2 justified the approach of having the budget of the company determined by the trend:

When we do projected budget and so on, we carry figures up a little and see and then as we go along with the monthly management accounts, we compare as to what we have projected and see where we are going with that, if we are meeting those targets, if we need to do extra work in certain areas. P4 affirmed, "We have a budget of expenses that we try to stay within, but the business all depends on the patients you have coming."

Financial planning also included provision for tax calculations. Businesses are obligated to pay taxes (Mucai, Kinya, Noor, & James, 2014); therefore it is imperative that business owners make the necessary provision through financial planning. The need for emphasis on tax calculations was also linked to maximizing revenue. Inaccurate tax calculation can result in an overpayment, resulting in a decreased profit. P2 put this into perspective:

The taxes would be one of the main thing for us, because without those (statements) we won't be able to calculate those (taxes)... because what we found too, if you have your statement there for one year and for some reason, you are delayed for the following financial year, they base whatever payments that are due to them on the previous year. So you definitely have to make sure you get those things in and send them in because sometimes it doesn't always work out in your favor.

#### **Institutional Theory Themes in Financial Management**

The conceptual framework of this qualitative multiple case study was institutional theory. The strategies for effective financial management in the small businesses of this study were aligned with the institutional environment. Bruton et al. (2014) postulated the strategies small business owners adopt could be as a result of institutional environments.

The participants accepted a prime rationale for institutional conformity is to gain access to concessions and funding opportunities. P3 echoed, "One of the first things

company asks for is proof of income" to obtain a mortgage or funding. Such circumstance is evidence of coercive isomorphism, where established rules dictate the processes and actions that organizations adopt (Oulasvirta, 2014). Akanga (2017) echoed the influence by donor organizations and agencies on accountability practices. Goddard, Assad, Issa, Malagila, and Mkasiwa (2016) shared the sentiment that good accounting practices are useful to establish legitimacy. P1 emphasized that proof of legitimacy is essential for advancement opportunities, citing as an example a successful bid for thousands of dollars for the business under a particular grant.

Similar adoptions of strategies by the participants existed despite being in different sectors. Moodysson and Sack (2016) insinuated institutions are globally uniform and could be sectoral, national, and regional. P1 stated the importance of being in groups and associations to learn from others. P2 has relied on a board of directors with diverse background and broad network to be in tune with the institution.

All participants demonstrated informal practices that have been adopted as norm and routine. Williams, Horodnic, and Windebank (2015) confirmed there are informal institutions, which consist of unwritten rules. In addition to regular accounting and auditing, P2 admitted, "Those are the main practices that we use, anything else would be I guess what normal business would generally use." Shea and Wang (2016) advised that dominant norms in institutional environments could influence strategies. P4's daily log was an informal practice that includes the recording of patients daily, along with all payments and expenses. This approach is similar to loose coupling, which is the execution of daily practices conventionally to meet institutional expectations or rules (Angonese & Lavarda, 2014).

The participants admitted to repetitive accounting practices, which denote a high presence of routines. Each participant either does the accounting activities on a monthly or annual basis. Most annual practices have been formal; for example, P3 had the profit and loss statement conducted at the end of each year. P1 highlighted, "The accountant might come once per month, but I on a weekly, daily basis can see all the activities, and that's something I do all the time." Similarly, P4 used an accountant monthly, while P2 expressed, "We have an annual audit, and we do monthly accounting."

Knowledge is an important tenet of institutional theory in this study. The educational background and experience of the owners were influential on the strategies implemented. P1 was the most qualified in accounting and finance of the participants; the only participant who did assessments of the accounts "regularly, sometimes daily, sometimes weekly, and monthly definitely." P3 and P4 had basic accounting background; hence they were limited to recording details of transactions. P2 admitted to having the fundamental knowledge of financial management but relied on specialized staff to manage the finances.

The strategy of having an accountant was common to all the participants. Accountants are skilled and experts, with a level of legitimate power (Stone, 2015). Brandau et al. (2013) endorsed the use of professionals by firms for legitimacy. The findings included normative isomorphism, which instigates the recruitment of professionals to meet institutional pressures or requirements (Akanga, 2017). P3's accountant was responsible mainly for taxation. Taxation is a prevalent obligation of small businesses that requires the service of an accountant (Mendoza, 2014).

## **Correlation of Findings to the Literature**

Extant literature is supportive of the research findings of this study. Similarities existed in the reviewed literature and themes of this study in the cases of accounting practices and strategies. In the remainder of this section, I explain the relationship of extant literature to the findings of my research.

Accounting practices. All participants indicated their appreciation for the need to practice financial management. Nkundabanyanga, Akankunda, Nalukenge, and Tusiime (2017) confirmed financial management includes accounting practices that prompt strategic considerations for competitive advantages. Ezeagba (2017) postulated many small businesses do not have accounting practices as a priority, to their detriment.

Accounting systems should be standard tools in all business entities (Duréndez, Ruíz-Palomo, García-Pérez-de-Lema, and Diéguez-Soto, 2016). The implementation of prudent accounting practices is a successful model that small business owners should adopt for significant improvement (Sallem, Nasir, Nori, & Kassim, 2017). Small businesses that have established methods to their accounting will have a competitive advantage (Nkundabanyanga et al., 2017).

Recordkeeping was another factor that identifies with sound accounting practices. P3 conveyed the challenges when recordkeeping of the finances is incomplete: "You have to have everything in order, so when the accounting person is actually visiting your company, they will have everything to work along with so that they would not have to guess and have everything scrambled." Bauer (2017) shared the sentiment that limited bookkeeping could result in a loss for small businesses. Baker, Kumar, Colombage, and Singh (2017) reiterated the importance of having effective accounting practices. Ibarra and Valesco (2015) endorsed that financial statements comprise effective accounting systems. Bahri, St-Pierre, and Sakka (2017) confirmed that most small businesses use financial statements.

Ezeagba (2017) postulated that the accounting practices in small businesses were as a result of the knowledge and skills of the owners. Williams and Shahid (2016) argued that the education level of entrepreneurs determines how formal is the operations of the business. Thus, P1 and P2 had the most formalized accounting practices. Albeit P2's lack of qualification in financial management unlike P1, basic knowledge, and experience, as well as a proficient and knowledgeable board of directors suffice. The initial lack of knowledge was evident on the part of P3, who echoed, "Some stuff that I used to actually miss out is like salaries, paying myself, I never used to include it, which I was advised that I actually supposed to have a salary for myself." Michiels (2017) posited that compensation issues are common for small businesses.

**Strategies**. McGovern, Small, and Hicks (2017) observed the importance of establishing strategies for improvement in small businesses. The participants' strategies for effective financial management were similar. P4 elaborated:

It is very important to use different strategies in terms of managing the business in terms of documenting, in terms of knowing the profits on a monthly basis, the expenses, so I can know if I am actually making a profit from the business, what I need to cut in terms of expenses, and how I can save more monies.

P1 added, "In terms of the finance, based on what are the essential strategies use to manage the finance we look at our income and expenses." Further, P1 pointed out, "I look at the balance sheet, I look at my income and expenses, I look at the prior year to assess my performance."

One of the prime strategies shared by the participants was the recruitment of an accountant. Small businesses face the challenge of lack of knowledge (McGovern et al., 2017) and limited human resources (Bishop, 2017). Stone (2015) echoed the custom for small businesses to have limited expertise in the area of accounting, tax, and financial management. Consequently, the option to hire an accountant is a strategy that the small business owners in this study considered progressive. According to Bauer (2017), the lack of accounting knowledge influences the decision to outsource the task of accounting.

Mole, North, and Baldock (2016) endorsed the use of external assistance to remedy limitation of internal expertise. The recruitment of appropriate personnel may help in the accounting practices and financial management that will have a positive impact on small businesses (Sallem et al., 2017). Employing an accountant is a proven strategy that small business owners use for effective financial management. Accountants are valuable to conduct formal accounting practices, resulting in more accuracy of the finances of the business (Williams & O'Donovan, 2015).

International accounting is a key driver of accounting knowledge and practices in developing countries (Hopper, Lassou, & Soobaroyen, 2017). The use of accountants is

an indication of the adherence to the international standards. Participants felt that adhering to conventional standards could prove to be advantageous in more than one way, particularly accessing external funds. P1 highlighted the inability to get funds from the European Union for property development because there were proper accounting practices. P3 also supported the need for comprehensive accounting details when trying to access loans. Bauer (2017) noted the relevance of financial statements to acquire loans and grants from global institutions.

Accurate calculations of taxes emerged as an important strategy. P2 indicated, "The taxes would be one of the main things for us." Small business owners commit to financial practices to meet the requirements of regulatory authorities (Ezeagba, 2017). Koranteng et al. (2017) emphasized on the advocacy to small businesses for tax compliance.

Small businesses have to meet various regulations based on their jurisdiction. Some standard regulations include audit requirements, pay-as-you-earn, reporting and filing requirements, and taxes and value-added-tax (Parry, 2016). Kitching (2016) posited that small businesses are affected by regulatory burdens. Governments put measures in place to ensure that small businesses are compliant with regulations (Bauer, 2017), which results in the unlikely occurrence of tax avoidance (Kim & Im, 2016). Sundvik (2017) confirmed that book-tax conformity comprises the tenets of financial accounting income and taxable income.

# **Applications to Professional Practice**

From this study, I found strategies for effective financial management small

business owners use. These strategies are favorable for the existence of small businesses, particularly to enhance their chances of being profitable over a long term. Strategy is a contributing factor to growth of businesses (Bamiatzi & Kirchmaier, 2014) and is aligned to firms' performance (Lechner & Gudmundsson, 2014). The specific business problem was that some small business owners lack strategies for effective financial management. The evident common strategies in the small businesses that comprised this study reflected the importance of effective accounting, recruiting appropriate personnel, and financial adjustments.

### **Effective Accounting**

A prime applicable practice for small business owners is prudent accounting practices. These accounting practices include detailing of transactions, financial statements, auditing, and budgeting. P2 admitted, "In terms of managing finance... we generally do accounting and auditing, so we have an annual audit, and we do monthly accounting, such as some management accounts." Similar to P3 and P4, P1 mentioned the use of "Manual system in some aspects, and we do have Quickbooks that we use to accumulate our data." Software applications are a common adoption by small businesses owners for the purpose of enhanced accounting (Ezeagba, 2017).

Recordkeeping is a critical exercise for sound accounting (Adejare, 2014). P3 reiterated, "The most important thing is always to have your bills and receipts and documents of every sale that is happening in the business... always have everything documented." Halabí and Lussier (2014) identified recordkeeping as a contributing factor for the success of small businesses. Adejare (2014) expounded on the use of records for

preparation of the financial statements.

An understanding of the financial statements could help business owners to determine the position of the business (Carrahera & Van Auken, 2013). A small business owner can rely on statements that are generated from the accounts to measure their performance and make better-informed decisions (Auken & Yang, 2014). The participants used primarily balance sheets, income and expenses, and profit and loss as their financial statements. Bhandari and Iyer (2013) identified financial statements as a prime source of information for businesses.

According to Bahri, St-Pierre, and Sakka (2017), the financial statement that is most popular for small businesses to evaluate performance is the income statement. P4 echoed the expenses and income statement is practical to determine the profitability of the business. P1 shared, "Based on what are the essential strategies use to manage the finance, we look at our income and expenses." P2 indicated that the income statement was helpful to compare projected revenue with actual income.

In addition to the daily recording of financial transactions (Adejare, 2014), the participants confirmed other fixed occurrences of accounting practices. P2 noted a pattern of conducting management accounts on a monthly basis and audits annually. P4 proclaimed, "Daily logs are done with other accounting practices such as statements monthly." Conducting formal accounting practices at the end of a financial year is also effective, while there is value in accounting practices periodically during the year.

#### **Recruitment of Appropriate Personnel**

Höglund and Sundvik (2016) opined that many small businesses encounter

challenges with financial statements in-house. Possessing internal personnel to execute effective accounting practices is a limitation for many small businesses (Carey, 2015). Another applicable business practice is the recruitment of professional accountants.

Participants echoed the efficacy of external accountants for small businesses. According to Salikin, Ab Wahab, and Muhammad (2014), having the appropriate personnel could result in sound financial management. "I normally hire an accountant at the end of the year, which will finalize the profit or loss of the business," said P3. P4 echoed, "I have an accountant... she will tabulate and do all the accounting that is needed to show if we are actually making a profit." P1 explained, "Our accountant is in-house, when I say in-house... he has his office elsewhere; he sends one of his assistants here on premise." P2 admitted a different approach where an external auditor is utilized annually, while "the office manager doubles as the accountant" for daily financial operations. Carey (2015) suggested small businesses achieve enhanced performance when external professionals are used for auditing.

To supplement the efforts of drafting financial statements internally, small business owners utilize accountants to verify and formalize the accounts. P4 confirmed that an accountant complements the internal practices, which further enables the observation of the performance of the business. Sallem et al. (2017) reiterated the extended use of accountants, including advisor to small business owners on exploring investments opportunities. Another practical use of an accountant is to assist with the annual taxation (Banham & He, 2014), which could reduce incorrect calculations of tax. P1 stated, "The top accountant would come to do the VAT and taxes." P3 also confessed tax calculation was one of the main rationales for utilizing an accountant.

# **Financial Adjustments**

The reality of small businesses includes deviations and uncertainty (Belás et al., 2015), which suggests the need for flexibility to be successful. Hilmersson (2014) made mention of adaptability to address situations such as the global recession. Consequently, making financial adjustments is an applicable practice for effective financial management in small businesses.

The volatile business environment (Hofer, Eisl, & Mayr, 2015) means that forecasting including external and internal planning factors is a practical aspect of financial management. P1 shared a condition of forecasting for addressing expenses:

Every year I go through a list of items based on customers' requests, demands, and I then prioritize accordingly... you try to plan within your budget to acquire these things because a lot of these things you can't source them locally.

Where forecasting is necessary, budgeting is an important tool (Hofer et al., 2015). Budgeting is effective for planning (Sponem & Lambert, 2016) and performance evaluation (Arnold & Gillenkirch, 2015) for small businesses. De Baerdemaeker and Bruggeman (2015) highlighted the budget allows the business strategy to meet the goals.

Another key factor that influences financial adjustments for small businesses is recession and trends (Bamiatzi & Kirchmaier, 2014), particularly in sales. P1 relied on observation of the market to comprehend the sales trend. Additionally, P1 confessed to using sales and market data "to plan and to make decisions as to what we should do and what future investments we want to take part of." P2 shared:

From trend with the market and so on, we can reliable hope to say for example we have probably a 5% increase and so on, so when we do projected budget and so on, we carry figures up a little and see and then as we go along with the monthly management accounts we compare as to what we have projected and see where we are going with that.

P4 also acknowledged the value of appreciating the trend of the market to be able to make a financial forecast.

Business owners have financial obligations, such as taxes that change occasionally (Mulligan, 2015), and impact financial planning and adjustments. All participants shared the sentiment that taxation is such an obligation. Small business owners have the common interest of ensuring their tax calculations are accurate and in line with the requirements of the government, to avoid penalties and losses. P1 articulated, "In order to manage the finance of the business, we also have to take into account the government requirements such as the VAT (Value Added Tax)."

#### **Implications for Social Change**

Successful small business owners with effective financial management may have some strategies that they could contribute to help other small businesses improve. The lack of prudent financial management has been the demise of many small businesses (Hoque, 2017). A reflection of the study is that with the implementation of the right strategies, the possibility of small businesses' existence and their profitability may be high. The strategy of adopting appropriate accounting practices could be useful to measure the performance of the business and make comparisons to projected targets. Such abilities may increase the potential success of small businesses, and consequently, might add economic value to the country.

A fundamental element highlighted in this study is tax compliance, which is a requirement of small businesses (Kirsten, 2013). Tax from small businesses is a significant contribution to the economy of a country (Azmi, Sapiei, Mustapha, & Abdullah, 2016). With effective strategies such as utilizing external accountants to have accurate calculations of taxes, the correct amount of taxes will go towards the state, hence a positive impact on the country's revenue, and by extension economy. Further, compliance with taxation indicates an unlikely occurrence of punishment that could pose any dangers to the progress of small businesses (Koranteng et al., 2017), consequently resulting in business stability, which may boost growth in the number of profitable small businesses.

In light of the potential growth of small businesses following the adoption of the appropriate strategies, employment in St. Vincent may grow. A reality of increased employment may reduce the poverty level (Jamali, Lund-Thomsen, & Jepson, 2017), and crime. Swisher and Dennison (2016) showed a negative correlation between crime rate and occupied persons. These social impacts may be possible with the contribution of this qualitative case study, if small business owners in St. Vincent employ the strategies that the participants of this study used.

### **Recommendations for Action**

This qualitative multiple case study involved identifying the strategies small business owners use for effective financial management in Vincentian small businesses. Small business owners need to establish comprehensive financial management to be successful (Hoque, 2017). Kim and Im (2017) advised the adoption of sound accounting practices for small businesses. Recommendations have stemmed from this study, which should be of interest to current and prospective small business owners.

I recommend that before exploring a small business venture, persons should equip themselves with the necessary knowledge to manage the finances of the firm. Such knowledge should include an understanding of the different strategies of financial management. The efforts to gain knowledge should not seize once the business exists. P1 advocated the desire to learn even after the business is established since you could never "know it all." Moreover, small business owners need to familiarize themselves with the institutional environment (Yang & Su, 2014), particularly to achieve legitimacy (Griffith, Hammersley, & Kadous, 2015). Some participants (P1 and P3) elaborated that there are requirements to qualify for certain opportunities, including financing, of which business owners should be knowledgeable.

All participants in this study shared the sentiment that proper documentation of financial transactions is pertinent. P3's advice to other business owners was to "always have everything documented." Prudent documentation would add value to the operations and financial management of the business. Another recommendation of this study is that small business owners make a record of all their related business transactions. P1 confirmed that sometimes businesses are required to provide documents to qualify for concessions or developmental opportunities.

Due to the limitation of many small businesses to have personnel who are

proficient in financial management (Sallem et al., 2017; Stone, 2015), the third recommendation is for small business owners to utilize the service of an external accountant where there is limited capacity in-house. Having an expert in the area of accounting can help to avoid errors and highlight areas of improvement in the management of finance, hence adding value to the business (Williams & O'Donovan, 2015). Additionally, an accountant could provide advice on investment opportunities. Similar to governments, the accuracy of taxation is critical to small businesses since there could be implications for erroneous taxes. To this end, the service of an accountant could be a preventative strategy to ensure tax compliance.

The findings of this study could be publicized on academic journals online. The Internet is a useful tool for transferring knowledge globally (Almarabeh, Majdalawi, & Mohammad, 2016). I also recommend the circulation of the results of the present study to the local Chamber of Commerce so their members could be more acquainted with the strategies for effective financial management. Further, the opportunity exists for the inclusion of the results from this study in upcoming seminars for small businesses in St. Vincent.

## **Recommendations for Further Research**

I used a qualitative multiple case study to explore the strategies small business owners use for effective financial management. As anticipated in Section 1, there were limitations in this study, with the first being the comfort level of participants to have their interviews recorded on an audio device. As recording is an important method to capture interviews, my recommendation is to express the desire to record explicitly and cordially to the participants and allow the option of the type of device the participants might have a preference for using. Maybe with the choice being that of the participants, there might be more comfort, resulting in greater engagement.

Another limitation anticipated was the inevitable bias that exists when the researcher is the data collection instrument. To limit the potential bias or influence during the interview process, future researchers should be consistent with the questions throughout the interviews. Also, providing the list of interview questions to the interviewees at the commencement of each meeting may help with maintaining the focus and consistency of the questions.

With the understanding that participants could be reluctant to share actual financial documents, I recommend that researchers encourage the participants to provide the financial statements without figures. Also, there can be the option of fictitious digits with the statements, which would not give an accurate reflection of the accounts of the business. Such documents without figures or with fictitious figures could be useful to identify the different categories that comprise the statements. The interest in the documents should be on the practices as opposed to the actual performances of the business.

An opportunity for future study is to explore the strategy of using an external accountant as opposed to having a full-time professional managing the accounts. An understanding of the cost attached to utilizing an internal or external accountant would be critical in the determination of which is the better practice to adopt for effective financial management of small businesses in St. Vincent. The required frequency of the accounting

activities in the business would be a decisive factor in the need for full-time employment of an accountant or otherwise.

While the exploration of this study included successful small businesses in existence for a minimum of 5 years, it might be interesting to learn if these same strategies are applicable for businesses in existence for more than 10 years. Furthermore, there might be value in identifying the strategies, if any, that small business owners used for financial management in Vincentian small businesses that have failed. Identification of the strategies in the successful and failed entities may allow a comparison between what works and what does not. Moreover, the opportunity exists for similar studies in other countries.

#### Reflections

The journey of completing this study was driven by my desire to make a difference in the community and by extension the country where I was born. The selected Doctorate of Business Administration (DBA), with emphasis on finance, actualized because of my interest as an entrepreneur. Further, I realized the need for more success for the striving small business sector, since similar to the international community, the Vincentian economy relies heavily on small businesses.

Initial lessons for me on this doctoral journey were the need to pay attention to details when reading and be concise when writing. My classmates and faculty members, particularly my Chair, were a valuable support system, who could take much credit for the knowledge I have acquired over the 3-year duration at Walden University. The regular discussions and engagements were useful to empower and encourage each other

to remain focused on the task at hand, which ultimately was to complete the DBA program.

My participants in the study were essential to the achievement of identifying the effective strategies of financial management in Vincentian small businesses. In a market with a high failure rate of small businesses, initially, I had reservations about the possibility of sourcing successful small business owners who manage their finance. Additionally, I had concerns about these business owners entrusting me with details of their financial operations. The reality that followed was that the participants were cooperative and provided comprehensive information to enable the completion of this study. All interviewees were enthusiastic to participate, with the optimism that this study could be rewarding for small businesses, and by extension the economy.

It took some time for me to thoroughly distinguish strategies and practices. I used the two terms interchangeably until my extensive research. The realization eventually came to me that practices were the actions executed, while strategies were the rationale for the actions. An explanation of the difference of the terms to the participants was necessary to ensure their responses were in correct context.

In my quest to meet the DBA rubric requirements, my knowledge has expanded with volumes of information. I now have a greater appreciation for research methodology, and can make a meaningful analysis of data, though admittedly, my strength is in qualitative methods. The findings of the present study have been valuable to me with this further comprehensive understanding of the financial management of small businesses, which can position me uniquely to advise small business owners on the appropriate adoptions of strategies for effective financial management. My lessons acquired in this doctoral journey are two-fold, personal development and professional advancement.

## Conclusion

The strategies small business owners use may be essential for effective financial management of their businesses in St. Vincent. Four experienced small business owners contributed to the findings of the qualitative multiple case study through semistructured interviews and review of business documents. The documents were mainly financial statements, which were useful for an insight of the financial tools of the businesses. Strategies for effective financial management of the Vincentian small businesses included the adoption of prudent accounting practices, the recruitment of external accountants, and the need for financial planning. Sound record keeping is in keeping with prudent accounting practices of external professionals is an effective option to counter the lack of capabilities in-house. Financial planning is a necessary strategy for small businesses; however having enough flexibility to make adjustments is similarly vital. When small business owners implement practical strategies for financial management, a high probability exists for a positive financial performance, which contributes to the stability of the business.

## References

- Abdullah, M. T. (2014). Quo vadis of the organizational restructuring of local government. *Bisnis & Birokrasi*, 21(1), 58-64. Retrieved from http://www.journal.ui.ac.id/jbb
- Abotsi, A. K., Dake, G. Y., & Agyepong, R. A. (2014). Factors influencing risk management decision of small and medium scale enterprises in Ghana.
   *Contemporary Economics*, 8, 397-414. doi:10.5709/ce.1897-9254.153
- Adebanjo, D., Ojadi, F., Laosirihongthong, T., & Tickle, M. (2013). A case study of supplier selection in developing economies: A perspective on institutional theory and corporate social responsibility. *Supply Chain Management: An International Journal*, 18, 553-566. doi:10.1108/SCM-08-2012-0272
- Adebisi, J. F., & Gbegi, D. O. (2013). Effects of multiple taxations on the performance of small and medium scale business enterprises: A study of West African Ceramics Ajeokuta, Kogi State. *Mediterranean Journal of Social Sciences*, *4*, 324-334. doi:10.5901/mjss.2013.v4n6p323
- Adejare, A. T. (2014). The analysis of the impact of accounting records keeping on the performance of the small scale enterprises. *International Journal of Academic Research in Business and Social Sciences*, 4(1), 1-17. doi:10.6007/IJARBSS/v4-i1/506
- Adetola, A. O., & Oluwatomiwo, O. E. (2016). An assessment of success made in local government empowerment programmes and economic empowerment of youth in Ibadan North Local Government Area of Oyo State. *International Journal of*

Information, Business and Management, 8(1), 12-24. Retrieved from

http://www.ijibm.elitehall.com

- Agnihotri, R., Dingus, R., Hu, M. Y., & Krush, M. T. (2016). Social media: Influencing customer satisfaction in B2B sales. *Industrial Marketing Management*, 53, 172-180. doi:10.1016/j.indmarman.2015.09.003
- Agwu, M. O., & Emeti, C. I. (2014). Issues, challenges, and prospects of small and medium scale enterprises (SMEs) in Port Harcourt city, Nigeria. *European Journal of Sustainable Development*, *3*, 101-114. doi:10.14207/ejsd.2014.v3n1p101
- Ahmad, N. N., & Abdullah, W. M. T. W. (2015). The influence of resources availability to cash management practices amongst small businesses in Malaysia.
   *International Conference on Accounting Studies*, 178-185. Retrieved from http://www.icas.my
- Ahmed, M., Vu, Q., Asal, R., Muhairi, H., & Yeun, C. (2014). Lightweight secure storage model with fault-tolerance in cloud environment. *Electronic Commerce Research*, 14, 271-291. doi:10.1007/s10660-014-9140-9
- Ajzen, I (1991). The theory of planned behavior. *Organizational Behavior and Human* Decision Processes, 50, 179-211. doi:10.1016/0749-5978(91)90020-T
- Akanga, F. K. (2017). Microfinance accountability in Cameroon: A cure or a curse for poverty alleviation. *Journal of Accounting & Organizational Change*, 13, 112-130. doi:10.1108/JAOC-11-2015-0087

Akinbami, C. A. O. (2015). An assessment of entrepreneurship education and

entrepreneurship capacity development in developing economy: A perspective of a Nigerian university. KCA Journal of Business Management, 7, 31-57. Retrieved from http://www.kcajournals.com

Almarabeh, T., Majdalawi, Y. K., & Mohammad, H. (2016). Internet usage, challenges, and attitudes among university students: Case study of the University of Jordan. *Journal of Software Engineering and Applications*, 9, 577-587. doi:10.4236/jsea.2016.912039

- Ali, A., & Yusof, H. (2011). Quality in qualitative studies: The case of validity, reliability and generalizability. *Issues in Social & Environmental Accounting*, 5(1/2), 25-64.
   Retrieved from http://iiste.org/Journals/index.php/ISEA/index
- Allet, M. (2014). Why do microfinance institutions go green? An exploratory study. *Journal of Business Ethics*, *122*, 405-424. doi:10.1007/s10551-013-1767-2
- Alpar, P., & Winkelsträter, S. (2014). Assessment of data quality in accounting data with association rules. *Expert Systems with Applications*, 41, 2259-2268.
  doi:10.1016/j.eswa.2013.09.024
- Alvarez, S. A., Barney, J. B., & Newman, A. M. B. (2015). The poverty problem and the industrialization solution. *Asia Pacific Journal of Management*, *32*(1), 23-37. doi:10.1007/s10490-014-9397-5

Andrasik, M. P., Chandler, C., Powell, B., Humes, D., Wakefield, S., Kripke, K., &

<sup>Anderson, A. R., & Ullah, F. (2014). The condition of smallness: How what it means to be small deters firms from getting bigger.</sup> *Management Decision*, 52, 326-349. doi:10.1108/MD-10-2012-0734

Eckstein, D. (2014). Bridging the divide: HIV prevention research and black men who have sex with men. *American Journal of Public Health*, *104*, 708-714. Retrieved from http://www.ajph.aphapublications.org

 Andrews, T., Dyson, L. E., & Wishart, J. (2015). Advancing ethics frameworks and scenario-based learning to support educational research into mobile learning. *International Journal of Research & Method in Education*, 38, 320-334. doi:10.1080/1743727X.2015.1026252

- Andries, P., & Czarnitzki, D. (2014). Small firm innovation performance and employee involvement. *Small Business Economics*, 43(1), 21-38. doi:10.1007/s11187-014-9577-1
- Angonese, R., & Lavarda, C. F. (2014). Analysis of the factors affecting resistance to changes in management accounting systems. *Revista Contabilidade & Finanças -*USP, 25, 214-226. doi:10.1590/1808-057x201410810
- Annan, E. M., Doe, M., Anyamadu, R., & Ahiale, F. K. A. (2016). A survey of costing practices of SMEs in the informal sector: Koforidua, Ghana. *International Journal of Innovative Research and Development*, 5(9), 92-98. Retrieved from http://www.ijird.com
- Anyan, F. (2013). The influence of power shifts in data collection and analysis stages: A focus on qualitative research interview. *The Qualitative Report*, *18*(18), 1-9.
  Retrieved from http://nsuworks.nova.edu/tqr
- Arasti, Z., Zandi, F., & Bahmani, N. (2014). Business failure factors in Iranian SMEs: Do successful and unsuccessful entrepreneurs have different viewpoints? *Journal of*

*Global Entrepreneurship Research*, *4*(10), 1-14. doi:10.1186/s40497-014-0010-7

Arcury, T. A., & Quandt, S. A. (1999). Participant recruitment for qualitative research: A site-based approach to community research in complex societies. *Human* Organization, 58, 128-133. Retrieved

from https://www.sfaa.net/publications/human-organization

- Årlin, C., Börjeson, L., & Östberg, W. (2015). Participatory checking and the temporality of landscapes: Increasing trust and relevance in qualitative research. *The Oxford Handbook of Historical Ecology and Applied Archaeology*, 1-15. doi:10.1093/oxfordhb/9780199672691.013.19
- Armstrong, C. E. (2013). Competence or flexibility? Survival and growth implications of competitive strategy preferences among small US businesses. *Journal of Strategy* and Management, 6, 377-398. doi:10.1108/JSMA-06-2012-0034
- Arnold, M. C., & Gillenkirch, R. M. (2015). Using negotiated budgets for planning and performance evaluation: An experimental study. Accounting, Organizations and Society, 43, 1-16. doi:10.1016/j.aos.2015.02.002
- Asaduzzaman, M. (2017). Accounting and financial reporting practices of SMEs:
  Bangladesh perspective. *Malaysian Journal of Business and Economics (MJBE)*, 3(1), 57-67. Retrieved from http://www.ums.edu.my/mjbe
- Augustsson, G. (2014). Temporary and regular workers fulfill their tasks side-by-side, but in different learning conditions. *Journal of Workplace Learning*, 26, 79-90. doi:10.1108/JWL-06-2013-0037

Auken, H. & Yang, K. (2014). Chinese SMEs' uses of financial statements in decision

making. *Journal of Developmental Entrepreneurship*, *19*(4), 1-16. doi:10.1142/S1084946714500277

- Azmi, A., Sapiei, N. S., Mustapha, M. Z., & Abdullah, M. (2016). SMEs' tax compliance costs and IT adoption: The case of a value-added tax. *International Journal of Accounting Information Systems*, 23, 1-13. doi:10.1016/j.accinf.2016.06.001
- Badolato, P. G., Donelson, D. C., & Ege, M. (2014). Audit committee financial expertise and earnings management: The role of status. *Journal of Accounting and Economics*, 58, 208-230. doi:10.1016/j.jacceco.2014.08.006
- Bagnoli, C., & Giachetti, C. (2015). Aligning knowledge strategy and competitive strategy. *Journal of Business Economics and Management*, 16, 571–598. doi:10.3846/16111699.2012.707623
- Bahri, M., St-Pierre, J., & Sakka, O. (2017). Performance measurement and management for manufacturing SMEs: A financial statement-based system. *Measuring Business Excellence*, 21(1), 17-36. doi:10.1108/MBE-06-2015-0034
- Baker, H. K., Kumar, S., Colombage, S., & Singh, H. P. (2017). Working capital management practices in India: Survey evidence. *Managerial Finance*, 43, 331-353. doi:10.1108/MF-07-2016-0186

 Bamiatzi, V. C., & Kirchmaier, T. (2014). Strategies for superior performance under adverse conditions: A focus on small and medium-sized high-growth firms. *International Small Business Journal*, *32*, 259-284. doi:10.1177/0266242612459534

Bamrara, A. (2015). Evaluating database security and cyber attacks: A relational

approach. Journal of Internet Banking & Commerce, 20(2), 1-8.

doi:10.4172/1204-5357.1000115

- Banham, H., & He, Y. (2014). Exploring the relationship between accounting professionals and small and medium enterprises (SME). *Journal of Business & Economics Research*, 12(3), 209-214. Retrieved from www.cluteinstitute.com
- Banning, M., & Gumley, V. (2013). Case studies of patient interactions, care provision and the impact of emotions: A qualitative study. *Journal of Cancer Education*, 28, 656-661. doi:10.1007/s13187-013-0526-5
- Bashir, I., & Madhavaiah, C. (2014). Determinants of young consumers' intention to use internet banking services in India. *Vision (09722629)*, 18, 153-163. doi:10.1177/0972262914538369
- Bauer, K. (2017). Is financial reporting in the SME sector moving towards transparency?
  The evidence from Poland. Zeszyty Naukowe Uniwersytetu Ekonomicznego w
  Krakowie, 10(958), 5-20. doi:10.15678/ZNUEK.2016.0958.1001
- Belás, J., Kljucnikov, A., Vojtovic, S., & Sobeková-Májková, M. (2015). Approach of the SME entrepreneurs to financial risk management in relation to gender and level of education. *Economics & Sociology*, 8(4), 32-42. doi:10.14254/2071-789X.2015/8-4/2
- Bell, K. (2013). Doing qualitative fieldwork in Cuba: Social research in politically sensitive locations. *International Journal of Social Research Methodology*, 16, 109-124. doi:10.1080/13645579.2011.653217.

Belwal, R., Al Balushi, H., & Belwal, S. (2015). Students' perception of entrepreneurship

and enterprise education in Oman. *Education & Training*, *57*, 924-927. doi:10.1108/ET-12-2014-0149

- Benjamin, M., Sharma, S., Tawiah, V. K., Chandok, A., & John, M. (2014). Analytical study of management skills for peak performance in organizations. *International Journal of Innovative Research and Development*, *3*, 153-157. Retrieved from http://www.ijird.com
- Berazneva, J. (2014). Audio recording of household interviews to ensure data quality. Journal of International Development, 26, 290-296. doi:10.1002/jid.2961
- Bevan, M. T. (2014). A method of phenomenological interviewing. *Qualitative health* research, 24, 136-144. doi:10.1177/1049732313519710
- Bezzina, F., Grima, S., & Mamo, J. (2014). Risk management practices adopted by financial firms in Malta. *Managerial Finance*, 40, 587-612. doi:10.1108/MF-08-2013-0209
- Bhamra, R., Dani, S., & Bhamra, T. (2011). Competence understanding and use in
   SMEs: A UK manufacturing perspective. *International Journal of Production Research*, 49, 2729-2743. doi:10.1080/00207541003738873
- Bhandari, S. B., & Iyer, R. (2013). Predicting business failure using cash flow statement based measures. *Managerial Finance*, 39, 667-676. doi:10.1108/03074351311323455
- Birt, L., Scott, S., Cavers, D., Campbell, C., & Walter, F. (2016). Member checking a tool to enhance trustworthiness or merely a nod to validation? *Qualitative Health Research*, 26, 1802–1811. doi:10.1177/1049732316654870

- Bishop, D. (2017). Context, agency and professional workplace learning: Trainee accountants in large and small practices. *Education + Training*, 59(5), 1-41. doi:10.1108/ET-07-2016-0129
- Bishop, D., & Lexchin, J. (2013). Politics and its intersection with coverage with evidence development: A qualitative analysis from expert interviews. *BMC Health Services Research*, 13(88), 1–10. doi:10.1186/1472-6963-13-88
- Blackburn, R. A., Hart, M., & Wainwright, T. (2013). Small business performance:
   Business, strategy and owner-manager characteristics. *Journal of Small Business* and Enterprise Development, 20(1), 8-27. doi:10.1108/14626001311298394
- Boellaard, M. R., Brandt, C. L., Johnson, N. L., & Zorn, C. R. (2014). Practicing for practice: Accelerated second baccalaureate degree nursing (ABSN) students evaluate simulations. *Nursing Education Perspectives*, 35, 257-258. Retrieved from http://www.nln.org/newsroom/newsletters-and-journal/nursing-educationperspectives-journal
- Bonney, L., Collins, R., Miles, M. P., & Verreynne, M. (2013). A note on entrepreneurship as an alternative logic to address food security in the developing world. *Journal of Developmental Entrepreneurship*, *18*(3), 1-20. doi:10.1142/S1084946713500167
- Borges, R. (2013). Tacit knowledge sharing between IT workers: The role of organizational culture, personality, and social environment. *Management Research Review*, 36(1), 89-108. doi:10.1108/01409171311284602

Bowale, K. E., & IIesanmi, A, O. (2014). Determinants of factors influencing capacity of

small and medium enterprises (SMEs) in employment creation in Lagos State, Nigeria. *International Journal of Financial Research*, *5*(2), 133-141. doi:10.5430/ijfr.v5n2p133

- Brandau, M., Endenich, C., Trapp, R., & Hoffjan, A. (2013). Institutional drivers of conformity–evidence for management accounting from Brazil and Germany. *International Business Review*, 22, 466-479. doi:10.1016/j.ibusrev.2012.07.001
- Bromley, P., & Meyer, J. W. (2014). They are all organizations: The cultural roots of blurring between the nonprofit, business, and government sectors. Administration & Society. *Advance Online Publication*, 1, 1-28. doi:10.1177/0095399714548268
- Bromley, E., Mikesell, L., Jones, F., & Khodyakov, D. (2015). Framing health matters.
  From subject to participant: Ethics and the evolving role of community in health research. *American Journal of Public Health*, *105*, 900-908.
  doi:10.2105/AJPH.2014.302403
- Brown-Saracino, J. (2014). From methodological stumbles to substantive insights:
  Gaining ethnographic access in queer communities. *Qualitative Sociology*, *37*, 43-68. doi:10.1007/s11133-013-9271-7
- Bruce, D., Deskins, J., & Gurley-Calvez, T. (2014). Depreciation rules and small
  business longevity. *Journal of Entrepreneurship and Public Policy*, 3(1), 10-32.
  doi:10.1108/JEPP-01-2012-0006
- Bruton, G. D., Lau, C. M., & Obloj, K. (2014). Institutions, resources, and firm strategies: A comparative analysis of entrepreneurial firms in three transitional economies. *European Journal of International Management*, 8, 697-720. doi:10

.1504/EJIM.2014.064905

- Brutus, S., Aguinis, H., & Wassmer, U. (2013). Self-reported limitations and future directions in scholarly reports: Analysis and recommendations. *Journal of Management*, 39(1), 48-75. doi:10.1177/0149206312455245
- Burns, J., & Scapens, R. W. (2000). Conceptualizing management accounting change: An institutional framework. *Management Accounting Research*, 11(1), 3-25. doi:10.1006/mare.1999.0119
  - Cai, Y. (2013). Graduate employability: A conceptual framework for understanding employers' perceptions. *Higher Education*, 65, 457-469. doi:10.1007/s10734-012-9556-x
- Campbell, B. A., Coff, R., & Kryscynski, D. (2012). Rethinking sustained competitive advantage from human capital. *Academy of Management Review*, 37, 376-395. doi:10.5465/amr.2010.0276
- Camfield, L., & Palmer-Jones, R. (2013). Improving the quality of development research:
  What could archiving qualitative data for reanalysis and revisiting research sites
  contribute? *Progress in Development Studies*, *13*, 323-338.
  doi:10.1177/1464993413490481

Cant, M. C., Erdis, C., & Sephapo, C. M. (2014). Business survival: The constraints experienced by South African SMEs in the financial sector. *International Journal* of Academic Research in Business and Social Sciences, 4, 565-579. doi:10.6007/IJARBSS/v4-i10/1255

Cant, M. C., Wiid, J. A., & Kallier, S. M. (2013). Small business owners' perceptions of

moral behaviour and employee theft in the small business sector of Nigeria.

Gender & Behaviour, 11, 5775-5787. Retrieved

from http://www.ajol.info/index.php/gab

- Carland, J. W., & Carland, J. C. (2015). A model of potential entrepreneurship: Profiles and educational implications. *Journal of Small Business Strategy*, 8(1), 1-14. Retrieved from http://www.jsbs.org
- Carland Jr, J. W., Carland, J. A. C., & Carland III, J. W. T. (2015). Self-actualization:
  The zenith of entrepreneurship. *Journal of Small Business Strategy*, 6(1), 53-66.
  Retrieved from http://www.jsbs.org
- Carlsson, B., Braunerhjelm, P., McKelvey, M., Olofsson, C., Persson, L., & Ylinenpää,
  H. (2013). The evolving domain of entrepreneurship research. *Small Business Economics*, 41, 913-930. doi:10.1007/s11187-013-9503-y
- Carman, M. J., Clark, P. R., Wolf, L. A., & Moon, M. D. (2015). Sampling considerations in emergency nursing research. *Journal of Emergency Nursing*, 41(2), 162-164. doi:10.1016/j.jen.2014.12.016
- Carey, P. J. (2015). External accountants' business advice and SME performance. *Pacific Accounting Review*, 27(2), 166-188. doi:10.1108/PAR-04-2013-0020
- Carey, P., & Tanewski, G. (2016). The provision of business advice to SMEs by external accountants. *Managerial Auditing Journal*, 31, 290-313. doi:10.1108/MAJ-12-2014-1131
- Carrahera, S., & Van Auken, H. (2013). The use of financial statements for decision making by small firms. *Journal of Small Business and Entrepreneurship*, 26(3),

323-336. doi:10.1080/08276331.2013.803676

- Cetina, I., Dumitrescu, L., & Vinerean, S. (2014). Exploring consumer engagement in an e-setting: A qualitative research of marketing executives. *Economic Computation & Economic Cybernetics Studies & Research*, 48(2), 1-20. Retrieved from http://www.ecocyb.ase.ro
- Chen, C., Mitchell, C. J., & Tang, S. (2013). Ubiquitous one-time password service using the generic authentication architecture. *Mobile Networks and* Applications, *18*, 738-747. doi:10.1007/s11036-011-0329-z
- Chen, L., & Thompson, P. (2016). Skill balance and entrepreneurship evidence from online career histories. *Entrepreneurship: Theory & Practice*, 40, 289-305. doi:10.1111/etap.12220
- Chittenden, F., & Derregia, M. (2015). Uncertainty, irreversibility and the use of 'rules of thumb'in capital budgeting. *The British Accounting Review*, 47(3), 225-236.
  doi:10.1016/j.bar.2013.12.003
- Chhabra, K. S., & Pattanayak, J. K. (2014). Financial accounting practices among small enterprises: Issues and challenges. *IUP Journal of Accounting Research & Audit Practices*, 13(3), 37-55. Retrieved from http://www.econpapers.repec.org/article/icficfjar

Chimirri, N. A. (2013). Who do we think we (and they) are? The audience and the researcher as participants in sociomaterial practice. *Communication Review*, 6(1-2), 81-91. doi:10.1080/10714421.2013.757505

Chowdhury, S., Schulz, E., Milner, M., & Van De Voort, D. (2014). Core employee

based human capital and revenue productivity in small firms: An empirical investigation. *Journal of Business Research*, 67, 2473-2479. doi:10.1016/j.jbusres.2014.03.007

Clay, P., & George, D. (2014). Competency skills gap assessment - why it matters to you. Armed Forces Comptroller, 59(1), 25-28. Retrieved from http://www.asmconline.org/publications/armed-forces-comptroller/

- Cleary, P., & Quinn, M. (2016). Intellectual capital and business performance: An exploratory study of the impact of cloud-based accounting and finance infrastructure. *Journal of Intellectual Capital*, 17, 255-278. doi:10.1108/JIC-06-2015-0058
- Clementina, K., Egwu, O. N., & Isu, G. (2014). Small and medium enterprises in Nigeria and adoption of international financial reporting standard. An evaluation. IOSR.
   *Journal of Economics and Finance*, 4(2), 27-32. doi:10.9790/5933-0422732
- Coates, D., Wicker, P., Feiler, S., & Breuer, C. (2014). A bivariate probit examination of financial and volunteer problems of non-profit sport club. *International Journal of Sport Finance*, 9, 230-248. doi:10.1007/BF02354036
- Coffey, P., Tate, M., & Toland, J. (2013). Small business in a small country: Attitudes to "Green" IT. *Information Systems Frontiers*, 15, 761-778. doi:10.1007/s10796-013-9410-4
- Cook, R. G., & Chaganti, R. (2015). Improving profitability of very small and small firms: The impact of quality practices in the human resources area. *Journal of Small Business Strategy*, 9(2), 44-56. Retrieved from http://www.jsbs.org

Cook, R. A., & Wolverton, J. B. (2015). A scorecard for small business performance. Journal of Small Business Strategy, 6(2), 1-18. Retrieved from http://www.jsbs.org

Cowling, M., Liu, W., Ledger, A, & Zhang, N. (2015). What really happens to small and medium-sized enterprises in a global economic recession? UK evidence on sales and job dynamics. *International Small Business Journal*, *33*, 488-513. doi:10.1177/0266242613512513

- Dabić, T., & Stojanov, Z. (2014). Techniques for collecting qualitative field data in education research: Example of two studies in information technology filed. *Singidunum Journal of Applied Sciences*, 362-367. doi:10.15308/SInteZa-2014-362-367
- Dasgupta, M. (2015). Exploring the relevance of case study research. *Vision*, *19*, 147-160. doi:10.1177/0972262915575661
- De Baerdemaeker, J., & Bruggeman, W. (2015). The impact of participation in strategic planning on managers' creation of budgetary slack: The mediating role of autonomous motivation and affective organisational commitment. *Management Accounting Research*, 29, 1-12. doi:10.1016/j.mar.2015.06.002
- de Jong, J. J., Parker, S. K., Wennekers, S., & Chia-Huei, W. (2015). Entrepreneurial behavior in organizations: Does job design matter? *Entrepreneurship: Theory & Practice*, 39, 981-995. doi:10.1111/etap.12084
- Dhalla, R., & Oliver, C. (2013). Industry identity in an oligopolistic market and firms' responses to institutional pressures. *Organization Studies*, *34*, 1803-1834.

doi:10.1177/0170840613483809

Dikko, M. (2016). Establishing construct validity and reliability: Pilot testing of a qualitative interview for research in Takaful (Islamic insurance). *The Qualitative Report*, 21, 521-528. Retrieved from http://nsuworks.nova.edu/tqr

DiMaggio, P. J., & Powell, W. W. (1983). The iron cage revisited: Institutional isomorphism and collective rationality in organizational fields. *American Sociological Review*, 48, 147–160. Retrieved from https://www.jstor.org/journal/amersocirevi

- Doherty, A. M., Chen, X., & Alexander, N. (2014). The franchise relationship in China: Agency and institutional theory perspectives. *European Journal of Marketing*, 48, 1664-1689. doi:10.1108/EJM-04-2012-0199
- Donoghue, S., & de Klerk, H. M. (2013). Consumers' anger and coping strategies following appraisals of appliance failure. *International Journal of Consumer Studies*, *37*, 214-221. doi:10.1111/j.1470-6431.2012.01106.x
- Doubet, S. L., & Ostrosky, M. M. (2015). The impact of challenging behavior on families: I don't know what to do. *Topics in Early Childhood Special Education*, 34, 223–233. doi:10.1177/0271121414539019
- Drew, H. (2014). Overcoming barriers: Qualitative interviews with German elites.
   *Electronic Journal of Business Research Methods, suppl. ECRM, 12*, 77-86.
   Retrieved from www.ejbrm.com
- Drexler, A., Fischer, G., & Schoar, A. (2014). Keeping it simple: Financial literacy and rules of thumb. *American Economic Journal: Applied Economics*, 6(2), 1-31.

doi:10.1257/app.6.2.1

- Dunne, T. C., Aaron, J. R., McDowell, W. C., Urban, D. J., & Geho, P. R. (2016). The impact of leadership on small business innovativeness. *Journal of Business Research*, 69, 4876–488. doi:10.1016/j.jbusres.2016.04.046
- Duréndez, A., Ruíz-Palomo, D., García-Pérez-de-Lema, D., & Diéguez-Soto, J. (2016).
   Management control systems and performance in small and medium family firms.
   *European Journal of family business*, 6(1), 10-20. doi:10.1016/j.ejfb.2016.05.001
- Duval-Couetil, N. (2013). Assessing the impact of entrepreneurship education programs:
  Challenges and approaches. *Journal of Small Business Management*, 51, 394-409.
  doi:10.1111/jsbm.12024
- Economic Planning & Social Development Unit. (2013). *St. Vincent and the Grenadines national economic and social development plan 2013-2025, Part 1*. Retrieved from Economic Planning & Social Development Unit, Government of Saint Vincent and the Grenadines website: http://www.planning.gov.vc/planning
- El Ouirdi, A., El Ouirdi, M., Segers, J., & Pais, I. (2015). Institutional predictors of the adoption of employee social media policies. *Bulletin of Science, Technology & Society*, 35, 134-144. doi:10.1177/0270467615623885
- Ellingsen, S., Roxberg, Å., Kristoffersen, K., Rosland, J. H., & Alvsvåg, H. (2014).
  Being in transit and in transition: the experience of time at the place, when living with severe incurable disease a phenomenological study. *Scandinavian Journal Of Caring Sciences*, 28, 458-468. doi:10.1111/scs.12067

Enguidanos, S., Coulourides Kogan, A. M., Schreibeis-Baum, H., Lendon, J., & Lorenz,

K. (2015). Because I was sick: Seriously ill veterans' perspectives on reason for 30-day readmissions. *Journal of The American Geriatrics Society*, *63*, 537-542. doi:10.1111/jgs.13238

Enqvist, J., Graham, M., & Nikkinen, J. (2014). The impact of working capital management on firm profitability in different business cycles: Evidence from Finland. *Research in International Business and Finance*, *32*, 36-49. doi:10.1016/j.ribaf.2014.03.005

Ezeagba, C. (2017). Financial reporting in small and medium enterprises (SMEs) in
 Nigeria: Challenges and options. *International Journal of Academic Research in Accounting, Finance and Management Sciences*, 7(1), 1-10.
 doi:10.6007/IJARAFMS/v7-i1/2534

Fassinger, R., & Morrow, S. (2013). Toward best practices in quantitative, qualitative, and mixed-method research: A social justice perspective. *Journal for Social Action in Counseling and Psychology*, 5(2), 69-83. Retrieved from http://www.jsacp.tumblr.com

Fawcett, S. E., Waller, M. A., Miller, J. W., Schwieterman, M. A., Hazen, B. T., & Overstreet, R. E. (2014). A trail guide to publishing success: Tips on writing influential conceptual, qualitative, and survey research. *Journal of Business Logistics*, 35, 1-16. doi:10.1111/jbl.12039

Fayolle, A. (2013). Personal views on the future of entrepreneurship education. *Entrepreneurship & Regional Development*, 25, 692-701.
doi:10.1080/08985626.2013.821318

- Fernández-Serrano, J., & Romero, I. (2013). Entrepreneurial quality and regional development: Characterizing SME sectors in low income areas. *Papers in Regional Science*, 92, 495-513. doi:10.1111/j.1435-5957.2012.00421.x
- Fikru, M. G. (2014). International certification in developing countries: The role of internal and external institutional pressure. *Journal of environmental management*, 144, 286-296. doi:10.1016/j.jenvman.2014.05.030
- Foley, D., & O'Connor, A. J. (2013). Social capital and networking practices of indigenous entrepreneurs. *Journal of Small Business Management*, 51, 276-296. doi:10.1111/jsbm.12017
- Francis, R. D. (2014). Assumptions and deeming. *Journal of Financial Crime*, 21, 204-214. doi:10.1108/JFC-07-2013-0049
- Francis-Smythe, J., Robinson, L., & Ross, C. (2013). The role of evidence in general managers' decision-making. *Journal of General Management*, 38(4), 3-21. Retrieved from http://www.braybrooke.co.uk
- Frankenberger, K., Weiblen, T., & Gassmann, O. (2014). The antecedents of open business models: An exploratory study of incumbent firms. *Research and Development Management*, 44, 173-188. doi:10.1111/radm.12040
- Frels, R. K., & Onwuegbuzie, A. J. (2013). Administering quantitative instruments with qualitative interviews: A mixed research approach. *Journal of Counseling & Development*, 91, 184-194. doi:10.1002/j.1556-6676.2013.00085.x
- Frese, M., Hass, L., & Friedrich, C. (2016). Personal initiative training for small business owners. *Journal of Business Venturing Insights*, 5(1), 27-36. Retrieved from

http://www.elsevier.com/locate/jbvi

- Froelich, K. A. (2015). New competitors for small business: The for-profit mentality of nonprofit organizations. *Journal of Small Business Strategy*, 11(2), 92-104. Retrieved from http://www.jsbs.org
- Garcia, M. J. R. (2013). Financial education and behavioral finance: New insights into the role of information in financial decisions. *Journal of Economic Surveys*, 27, 297-315. doi:10.1111/j.1467-6419.2011.00705.x
- Garcia, D., & Gluesing, J. C. (2013). Qualitative research methods in international organizational change research. *Journal of Organizational Change Management*, 26, 423-444. doi:10.1108/09534811311328416
- Getha-Taylor, H., Blackmar, J., & Borry, E. L. (2016). Are competencies universal or situational? A state-level investigation of collaborative competencies. *Review of Public Personnel Administration*, 36, 306-320. doi:10.1177/0734371X15624132

Ghobakhloo, M. & Sai, H. T. (2013). The role of owner/manager in adoption of electronic commerce in small businesses: The case of developing countries. *Journal of Small Business and Enterprise Development*, 20, 754-787. doi:10.1108/JSBED-12-2011-0037

Ghobakhloo, M. & Tang, S. H. (2013). The role of owner/manager in adoption of electronic commerce in small businesses: The case of developing countries. *Journal of Small Business and Enterprise Development*, 20, 754-787. doi:10.1108/JSBED-12-2011-0037

Gielnik, M. M., Frese, M., Kahara-Kawuki, A., Katono, I. W., Kyejjusa, S., Ngoma, M.,

& Dlugosch, T. J. (2015). Action and action-regulation in entrepreneurship: Evaluating a student training for promoting entrepreneurship. *Academy of Management Learning & Education*, *14*, 69-94. doi:10.5465/amle.2012.0107

- Gilje, F., & Talseth, A. (2007). Mediating consolation with suicidal patients. *Nursing Ethics*, *14*, 546-557. doi:10.1177/0969733007077889
- Goddard, A., Assad, M., Issa, S., Malagila, J., & Mkasiwa, T. A. (2016). The two publics and institutional theory: A study of public sector accounting in Tanzania. *Critical Perspectives on Accounting*, 40, 8-25. doi:10.1016/j.cpa.2015.02.002
- Gómez, E. J., & Atun, R. (2013). Emergence of multilateral proto-institutions in global health and new approaches to governance: Analysis using path dependency and institutional theory. *Globalization & Health*, 9(1), 1-17. doi:10.1186/1744-8603-9-18
- Gonsalves, R. E. (2016). Budget Address 2016: Economic growth, job creation, zero hunger, and fiscal consolidation amidst global uncertainty continuing. Retrieved from Office of Prime Minister of St. Vincent and the Grenadines website: http://www.pmoffice.gov.vc/pmoffice
- Gould, R. K., Klain, S. C., Ardoin, N. M., Satterfield, T., Woodside, U., Hannahs, N.,
  Daily, G. C., & Chan, K. M. (2015). A protocol for eliciting nonmaterial values through a cultural ecosystem services frame. *Conservation Biology*, 29, 575-586. doi:10.1111/cobi.12407
- Greene, P. G., Brush, C. G., & Brown, T. E. (2015). Resources in small firms: An exploratory study. *Journal of Small Business Strategy*, 8(2), 25-40. Retrieved

from http://www.jsbs.org

- Gregori, A., & Baltar, F. (2013). Ready to complete the survey on Facebook. *International Journal of Market Research*, 55, 131-148. doi:10.2501/IJMR-2013-010
- Griffin, M., & Annulis, H. (2013). Employability skills in practice: The case of manufacturing education in Mississippi. *International Journal of Training & Development*, 17, 221-232. doi:10.1111/ijtd.12011
- Griffith, E. E., Hammersley, J. S., & Kadous, K. (2015). Audits of complex estimates as verification of management numbers: How institutional pressures shape practice. *Contemporary Accounting Research*, 32, 833-863. doi:10.1111/1911-3846.12104
- Gross, S., & Campbell, N. (2015). Central city vibrancy and new business venturing. Journal of Entrepreneurship and Public Policy, 4, 257-271. doi:10.1108/JEPP-01-2014-0002
- Guo, H., Tang, J., & Su, Z. (2014). To be different, or to be the same? The interactive effect of organizational regulatory legitimacy and entrepreneurial orientation on new venture performance. *Asia Pacific Journal of Management*, *31*, 665-685. doi:10.1007/s10490-013-9361-9
- Hafeez, A., & Andersen, O. (2014). Factors influencing accounting outsourcing practices among SMEs in Pakistan context: Transaction cost economics (TCE) and resource-based views (RBV) prospective. *International Journal of Business and Management*, 9(7), 19-32. doi:10.5539/ijbm.v9n7p19

Halabí, C., & Lussier, R. (2014). A model for predicting small firm performance. Journal

of Small Business and Enterprise Development, 21, 4-25. doi:10.1108/jsbed-10-2013-0141

- Hang Sub, K., & Bong Gyou, L. (2015). An empirical analysis of smart signage and its market delimitation. *KSII Transactions On Internet & Information Systems*, 9, 2910-2927. doi:10.3837/tiis.2015.08.009
- Haron, H., Said, S. B., Jayaraman, K., & Ismail, I. (2013). Factors influencing small and medium enterprises (SMES) in obtaining loan. *International Journal of Business* and Social Science, 4(15), 182-195. Retrieved from http://www.ijbssnet.com
- Harper, M., & Cole, P. (2012). Member checking: Can benefits be gained similar to group therapy. *The Qualitative Report*, 17, 510–517. Retrieved from http://www.tqr.nova.edu
- Harvey, L. (2015). Beyond member-checking: A dialogic approach to the research interview. *International Journal of Research & Method in Education*, 38, 23-38. doi:10.1080/1743727X.2014.914487
- Hasan, F., & Jamil, G. M. H. (2014). Financing small and medium enterprises in Bangladesh: Issues and challenges. *The Asian Journal of Technology Management*, 7(1), 45-54. doi:10.12695/ajtm.2014.7.1.5
- Heinze, K. L., Soderstrom, S., & Zdroik, J. (2014). Toward strategic and authentic corporate social responsibility in professional sport: A case study of the Detroit Lions. *Journal of Sport Management*, 28, 672-686. doi:10.1123/JSM.2013-0307.
- Helkala, K., & Hoddo Bakas, T. (2014). Extended results of Norwegian password security survey. *Information Management & Computer Security*, 22, 346-357.

doi:10.1108/IMCS-10-2013-0079

- Hess, M. F., & Cottrell, J. H. (2016). Fraud risk management: A small business perspective. *Business Horizons*, *59*(1), 13-18. doi:10.1016/j.bushor.2015.09.005
- Hess, T. J., McNab, A. L., & Basoglu, K. S. (2014). Reliability generalization of perceived ease of use, perceived usefulness, and behavioral intentions. *MIS Quarterly*, 38, 1-28. Retrieved from http://www.misq.org
- Heuer, A., & Kolvereid, L. (2014). Education in entrepreneurship and the theory of planned behaviour. *European Journal of Training & Development*, *38*, 506-523. doi:10.1108/EJTD-02-2013-0019
- Hiebl, M. R., Feldbauer-Durstmüller, B., & Duller, C. (2013). The changing role of management accounting in the transition from a family business to a non-family business. *Journal of Accounting & Organizational Change*, 9, 119-154. doi:10.1108/18325911311325933
- Hilmersson, M. (2014). Small and medium-sized enterprise internationalisation strategy and performance in times of market turbulence. *International Small Business Journal*, 32, 386-400. doi:10.1177/0266242613497744
- Hin, C. W., Kadir, K. A., & Bohari, A. M. (2013). The strategic planning of SMEs in Malaysia: Types of strategies in the aftermath of economic downturn. *Asian Journal of Business and Management Sciences*, 2(8), 51-59.Retrieved from http://www.ajbms.org
- Hoare, Z., & Hoe, J. (2013). Understanding quantitative research: Part 2. *Nursing Standard*, 27(18), 48-55. doi:10.7748/ns2013.01.27.18.48.c9488

- Hofer, P., Eisl, C., & Mayr, A. (2015). Forecasting in Austrian companies: Do small and large Austrian companies differ in their forecasting processes? *Journal of Applied Accounting Research*, 16, 359-382. doi:10.1108/JAAR-10-2014-0113
- Höglund, H., & Sundvik, D. (2016). Outsourcing of accounting tasks and tax management: Evidence from a corporate tax rate change. *Applied Economics Letters*, 23, 482-485. doi:10.1080/13504851.2015.1083074
- Homburg, C., Klarmann, M., Reimann, M., & Schilke, O. (2012). What drives key informant accuracy? *Journal of Marketing Research (JMR)*, 49, 594-608. doi:10.1509/jmr.09.0174
- Honig, B., & Karlsson, T. (2013). An institutional perspective on business planning activities for nascent entrepreneurs in Sweden and the US. *Administrative Sciences*, 3, 266-289. doi:10.3390/admsci3040266
- Hopper, T., Lassou, P., & Soobaroyen, T. (2017). Globalisation, accounting and developing countries. *Critical Perspectives on Accounting*, 43, 125-148. doi:/10.1016/j.cpa.2016.06.003
- Hoque, M. Z. (2017). Mental budgeting and the financial management of small and medium entrepreneurs. *Cogent Economics & Finance*, 5(1), 1-19. doi:10.1080/23322039.2017.1291474
- Houghton, C., Casey, D., Shaw, D., & Murphy, K. (2013). Rigour in qualitative case study research. *Nurse Researcher*, 20(4), 12-17.
  doi:10.7748/nr2013.03.20.4.12.e326
- Human, S. E., Clark, T., Baucus, M. S., & Eustis, A. C. S. (2015). Idea or prime

opportunity? A framework for evaluating business ideas for new and small ventures. *Journal of Small Business Strategy*, *15*(1), 59-80. Retrieved from http://www.jsbs.org

- Hutabarat, P., & Gayatri, G. (2014). The influence of sponsor-event congruence in sponsorship of music festival. *South East Asian Journal of Management*, 8(1), 47-64. Retrieved from http://ui.academia.edu/SEAM
- Ibarra, V. C., & Velasco, R. M. (2015). Accounting knowledge, practices, and controls of micro, small and medium enterprises: Evidence from the Philippines. *Accounting* & *Taxation*, 7(2), 83-96. Retrieved from http://www.theibfr.com
- Inal, G., Ariss, A. A., & Forson, C. (2013). Self-employment as a career strategy for ethnic minorities. *The Journal of Management Development*, 32, 166-181. doi:10.1108/02621711311305674
- Invernizzi, A. C., Menozzi, A., Passarani, D. A., Patton, D., & Viglia, G. (2016).
  Entrepreneurial overconfidence and its impact upon performance. *International Small Business Journal*, 1-20. doi:10.1177/0266242616678445
- Ionitã, D. (2012). Entrepreneurial marketing: A new approach for challenging times. Management & Marketing, 7, 131-150. Retrieved from http://www.managementmarketing.ro
- Iosif, M. (2015). Aspects of entrepreneurship and entrepreneurial education in Romania. Studies in Business & Economics, 10(3), 52-61. doi:10.1515/sbe-2015-0035
- Irvine, A., Drew, P., & Sainsbury, R. (2013). Am I not answering your questions properly? Clarification, adequacy and responsiveness in semi-structured telephone

and face-to-face interviews. Qualitative Research, 13, 87-106.

doi:10.1177/1468794112439086

- Jack, E. P. & Raturi, A. S. (2006). Lessons learned from methodological triangulation in management research. *Management Research News*, 29, 345-357. doi:10.1108/01409170610683833
- Jamali, D., Lund-Thomsen, P., & Jepson, S. (2017). SMEs and CSR in developing countries. *Business & Society*, 56(1), 11-22. doi:10.1177/0007650315571258
- Jansen, A. L., Capesius, T. R., Lachter, R., Greenseid, L. O., & Keller, P. A. (2014). Facilitators of health systems change for tobacco dependence treatment: A qualitative study of stakeholders' perceptions. *BMC Health Services Research*, 14, 1-10, doi:10.1186/s12913-014-0575-4
- Jappelli, T., Pagano, M., & Di Maggio, M. (2013). Households' indebtedness and financial fragility. *Journal of Financial Management, Markets and Institutions*, 1(1), 23-46. doi:10.12831/73631
- Jena, S. & Sahoo, C. K. (2014). Improving managerial performance: A study on entrepreneurial and leadership competencies. *Industrial and Commercial Training*, 46, 143-149. doi:10.1108/ICT-10-2013-0066

Jin, B., & Jung, S. (2016). Toward a deeper understanding of the roles of personal and business networks and market knowledge in SMEs' international performance. *Journal of Small Business and Enterprise Development*, 23, 812-830. doi:10.1108/JSBED-08-2015-0104

Johnson, N. A. (2014). A long way from home? Race, community, educational

opportunity, and residential choice. *Journal of Black Studies*, *45*, 545-572. doi:10.1177/0021934714542156

Jones, C., & Penaluna, A. (2013). Moving beyond the business plan in enterprise education. *Education & Training*, 55, 804-814. doi:10.1108/ET-06-2013-0077

 K'nIfe, K., & Haughton, A. (2013). Social entrepreneurship: Reducing crime and improving the perception of police performance within developing countries. *International Journal of Entrepreneurship*, *17*(1), 61-76. Retrieved from http://www.alliedacademies.org/international-journal-of-entrepreneurship

- Kai, W. (2014). Factors influencing the adoption and effective use of creativity techniques in business settings: An exploratory study. *Engineering Management Journal*, 26(4), 29-37. Retrieved from https://www.asem.org/EMJ
- Kang, C., Hwang, Y., & Moon, J. (2015). Informationization of small-scale
   agribusinesses in rural areas of Korea: Perspectives from institutional theory.
   *Information Development*, 32, 1168–1182. doi:10.1177/02666666915593620
- Karadag, H. (2015). Financial management challenges in small and medium-sized enterprises: A strategic management approach. *Emerging Markets Journal*, 5(1), 26-40. doi:10.5195/emaj.2015.67
- Karoubi, B., & Chenavaz, R. (2015). Does crime influence the payment decisions of consumers? *Journal of Applied Business Research*, 31, 1709-1718. Retrieved from http://www.cluteinstitute.com/ojs/index.php/JABR
- Keele, B. J. (2009). Privacy by deletion: The need for a global data deletion principle. Indiana Journal of Global Legal Studies, 16, 363-384. Retrieved from

http://ijgls.indiana.edu

- Kennedy, J. P., & Benson, M. L. (2016). Emotional reactions to employee theft and the managerial dilemmas small business owners face. *Criminal Justice Review*, 41, 257-277. doi:10.1177/0734016816638899
- Keränen, J., & Jalkala, A. (2014). Three strategies for customer value assessment in business markets. *Management Decision*, 52(1), 79-100. doi:10.1108/MD-04-2013-0230
- Khan, S. N. (2014). Qualitative research method: Grounded theory. *International Journal of Business and Management*, *9*, 224-233. doi:10.5539/ijbm.v9n11p224
- Kihl, L., Babiak, K., & Tainsky, S. (2014). Evaluating the implementation of a professional sport team's corporate community involvement initiative. *Journal of Sport Management*, 28, 324-337. doi:10.1123/jsm.2012-0258.
- Kim, J. H., & Im, C. C. (2016). The study on enactment of accounting standards and tax avoidance of small-and medium-sized entities: Comparison analysis between listed SME and Non-SME. *Entrepreneurial Executive*, 122, 175-180. doi:10.14257/astl.2016.122.35
- Kim, J. H., & Im, C. C. (2017). The study on the effect and determinants of small-and medium-sized entities conducting tax avoidance. *Journal of Applied Business Research*, 33, 375-390. Retrieved from https://www.cluteinstitute.com/ojs/index.php/JABR
- Kirsten, C. L. (2013). The impact of training courses on financial management skills of South African small-business owners. *The International Business & Economics*

Research Journal, 12, 825-834. Retrieved from

http://www.cluteinstitute.com/ojs/index.php/IBER

Kitching, J. (2016). Between vulnerable compliance and confident ignorance: Small employers, regulatory discovery practices and external support networks. *International Small Business Journal*, 34, 601-617.
doi:10.1177/0266242615569325

- Klotz, A. C., & Neubaum, D. O. (2016). Research on the dark side of personality traits in entrepreneurship: Observations from an organizational behavior perspective.
   *Entrepreneurship: Theory & Practice*. 40(1), 7-17. doi:10.1111/etap.12214
- Koens, K. & Thomas, R. (2015). Is small beautiful? Understanding the contribution of small businesses in township tourism to economic development, *Development Southern Africa*, 32, 320-332, doi:10.1080/0376835X.2015.1010715
- Koh, K. (2013). Adolescents' information-creating behavior embedded in digital media practice using scratch. *Journal of the American Society for Information Science & Technology*, 64, 1826-1841. doi:10.1002/asi.22878
- Koranteng, E. O., Osei-Bonsu, E., Ameyaw, F., Ameyaw, B., Agyeman, J. K., & Dankwa, R. A. (2017). The effects of compliance and growth opinions on SMEs compliance decisions: An empirical evidence from Ghana. *Open Journal of Business and Management*, *5*, 230-243. doi:10.4236/ojbm.2017.52021
- Köseoglu, M. A., Topaloglu, C., Parnell, J. A., & Lester, D. L. (2013). Linkages among business strategy, uncertainty and performance in the hospitality industry:Evidence from an emerging economy. *International Journal of Hospitality*

Management, 34, 81-91. doi:10.1016/j.ijhm.2013.03.001

- Kramer, B. (2015). Trust, but verify: Fraud in small businesses. Journal of Small Business and Enterprise Development, 22, 4-20. doi:10.1108/JSBED-08-2012-0097
- Kriechbaumer, F., & Christodoulidou, N. (2014). SME website implementation factors in the hospitality industry. *Worldwide Hospitality and Tourism Themes*, 6, 328-351. doi:10.1108/WHATT-01-2014-0006
- Kuhn, K., Galloway, T., & Collins-Williams, M. (2016). Near, far, and online: Small business owners' advice-seeking from peers. *Journal of Small Business and Enterprise Development*, 23, 189-206. doi:10.1108/JSBED-05-2014-0083
- Kurowska-Pysz, J. (2014). Shaping of competencies of managers in academic incubators of entrepreneurship in Poland. *Organizacija*, 47, 52-65. doi:10.2478/orga-2014-0005
- Lamb, D. (2013). Promoting the case for using a research journal to document and reflect on the research experience. *Electronic Journal of Business Research Methods*, 11, 84-92. Retrieved from http://www.ejbrm.com
- Laspa, C. (2015). Do the economic factors affect criminality? Evidence from Greece, 1991-2010. European Journal of Law and Economics, 39, 107-118. doi:10.1007/s10657-013-9403-2
- Lawrence, J. & Tar, U. (2013). The use of grounded theory technique as a practical tool for qualitative data collection and analysis. *Electronic Journal of Business Research Methods*, 11, 29-40. Retrieved from http://www.ejbrm.com

- Leary, M. T., & Roberts, M. R. (2014). Do peer firms affect corporate financial policy. Journal of Finance, 69, 139-178. doi:10.1111/jofi.12094
- Lechner, C., & Gudmundsson, S. V. (2014). Entrepreneurial orientation, firm strategy and small firm performance. *International Small Business Journal*, *32*, 36-60. doi:10.1177/0266242612455034
- Lee, O. G., Jeon, J. S., & Na, D. S. (2016). A study on the influence factors on successful small business start-ups-micro credit received from Seoul Credit Guarantee Foundation. *Indian Journal of Science and Technology*, 9(24), 1-9. doi:10.17485/ijst/2016/v9i24/96013
- Li, F., & Ding, D. Z. (2013). The effect of institutional isomorphic pressure on the internationalization of firms in an emerging economy: Evidence from China. *Asia Pacific Business Review*, 19, 506-525. doi:10.1080/13602381.2013.807602
- Li, J., Westbrook, J., Callen, J., Georgiou, A., & Braithwaite, J. (2013). The impact of nurse practitioners on care delivery in the emergency department: A multiple perspectives qualitative study. *BMC Health Services Research*, *13*(356), 1-8. doi:10.1186/1472-6963-13-356
- Lichtenstein, B. (2016). Emergence and emergents in entrepreneurship: Complexity science insights into new venture creation. *Entrepreneurship Research Journal*, 6, 43-52. doi:10.1515/erj-2015-0052
- Lin, Y., & Wu, L. Y. (2014). Exploring the role of dynamic capabilities in firm performance under the resource-based view framework. *Journal of Business Research*, 67, 407-413. doi:10.1016/j.jbusres.2012.12.019

- LiPuma, J. A., Newbert, S. L., & Doh, J. P. (2013). The effect of institutional quality on firm export performance in emerging economies: A contingency model of firm age and size. *Small Business Economics*, 40, 817-841. doi:10.1007/s11187-011-9395-7
- Loader, K. (2013). Is public procurement a successful small business support policy? A review of the evidence. *Environment and Planning C: Government and Policy*, 31, 39-55. doi:10.1068/c1213b
- Lofstrom, M., Bates, T., & Parker, S. C. (2014). Why are some people more likely to become small-businesses owners than others: Entrepreneurship entry and industry-specific barriers. *Journal of Business Venturing*, 29, 232-251. doi:10.1016/j.jbusvent.2013.01.004
- Löfving, M. (2016). Homogeneity of manufacturing choices in subcontractor SMEs.
   *Journal of Manufacturing Technology Management*, 27, 261-286.
   doi:10.1108/JMTM-03-2014-0024
- Lussier, R. N., & Corman, J. (2015). A business success versus failure prediction model for entrepreneurs with 0-10 employees. *Journal of Small Business Strategy*, 7(1), 21-36. Retrieved from http://www.jsbs.org
- Macchion, L., Danese, P., & Vinelli, A. (2015). Redefining supply network strategies to face changing environments. A study from the fashion and luxury industry. *Operations Management Research*, 8(1-2), 15-31. doi:10.1007/s12063-014-0097-6

Macris, L. I., & Sam, M. P. (2014). Belief, doubt, and legitimacy in a performance

system: National sport organization perspectives. *Journal of Sport Management*, 28, 529-550. doi:10.1123/jsm.2012-0290.

- Makaula, P., Bloch, P., Banda, H. T., Mbera, G. B., Mangani, C., de Sousa, A., & Muula,
  A. S. (2012). Primary health care in rural Malawi a qualitative assessment
  exploring the relevance of the community-directed interventions approach. *BMC Health Services Research*, 12(328), 1-12. doi:10.1186/1472-6963-12-328
- Marchand, J., Hermens, A., & Sood, S. (2016). Student entrepreneurship: A research agenda. *International Journal of Organizational Innovation*, 8(4), 27-42.
  Retrieved from http://www.ijoi-online.org
- Maritz, A., Koch, A., & Schmidt, M. (2016). The role of entrepreneurship education programs in national systems of entrepreneurship and entrepreneurship ecosystems. *International Journal of Organizational Innovation*, 8(4), 7-26.
  Retrieved from http://www.ijoi-online.org
- Marshall, B., Cardon, P., Poddar, A., & Fontenot, R. (2013). Does sample size matter in qualitative research? A review of qualitative interviews in IS research. *Journal of Computer Information Systems*, 54, 11-22. Retrieved from http://www.iacis.org/jcis/jcis.php
- Martle, E., & Scherer, A. G. (2016). Financial regulation and social welfare: The critical contribution of management theory. *Academy of Management Review*, 41, 298-323. doi:10.5465/amr.2013.0469
- Matusitz, J., & Lord, L. (2013). Glocalization or globalization of Wal-Mart in the US? A qualitative analysis. *Journal of Organisational Transformation & Social Change*.

10, 81-100. doi:10.1179/1477963313Z.000000007.

Mazzarol, T. (2014). Research review: A review of the latest research in the field of small business and entrepreneurship: Financial management in SMEs. *Small Enterprise Research*, 21(1), 2-13. doi:10.5172/ser.2014.21.1.2

McAdam, M., McAdam, R., Dunn, A., & McCall, C. (2016). Regional horizontal networks within the SME agri-food sector: An innovation and social network perspective. *Regional Studies*, 50, 1316-1329. doi:10.1080/00343404.2015.1007935

McCarthy, D. J., & Puffer, S. M. (2016). Institutional voids in an emerging economy from problem to opportunity. *Journal of Leadership & Organizational Studies*, 23, 208-219. doi:10.1177/1548051816633070

McClelland, D.C. (1961). The achieving society. Princeton, NJ: Van Nostrand.

- McClelland, D. C. (1973). Testing for competence rather than for 'intelligence. *American Psychologist*, 28, 1-14. doi:10.1037/h0034092
- McCreesh, N., Tarsh, M. N., Seeley, J., Katongole, J., & White, R. G. (2013).
  Community understanding of respondent-driven sampling in a medical research setting in Uganda: Importance for the use of RDS for public health research. *International Journal of Social Research Methodology*, *16*, 269-284.
  doi:10.1080/13645579.2012.661204
- McDonald, S., O'Brien, N., White, M., & Sniehotta, F. F. (2015). Changes in physical activity during the retirement transition: A theory-based, qualitative interview study. *International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition and Physical Activity*,

12(25), 1-12. doi:10.1186/s12966-015-0186-4

- McDowell, W. C., Harris, M. L., & Geho, P. R. (2016). Longevity in small business: The effect of maturity on strategic focus and business performance. *Journal of Business Research*, 69, 1904-1908.doi:10.1016/j.jbusres.2015.10.077
- McGonagle, K. A., Brown, C., & Schoeni, R. F. (2015). The effects of respondents' consent to be recorded on interview length and data quality in a national panel study. *Field methods*, *27*, 373-390. doi:10.1177/1525822X15569017
- McGovern, T., Small, A., & Hicks, C. (2017). Diffusion of process improvements methods in European SMEs. *International Journal of Operations & Production Management*, 37, 607-629. doi:10.1108/IJOPM-11-2015-0694
- Ménard, C. (2014). The diversity of institutional rules as engine of change. Journal of Bioeconomics, 16, 83-90. doi:10.1007/s10818-013-9169-1
- Mendoza, R. R., (2014). Accountancy service requirements of micro, small, and medium enterprises in the Philippines. *International Journal of Business, Economics and Law*, 4(1), 123-132. Retrieved from http://ijbel.com
- Meyer, J. W., & Rowan, B. (1977). Institutionalized organizations: Formal structure as myth and ceremony. *American Journal of Sociology*, 83, 340–363. Retrieved from http://www.journals.uchicago.edu/loi/ajs
- Michaelson, V., McKerron, M., & Davison, C. (2015). Forming ideas about health: A qualitative study of Ontario adolescents. *International Journal of Qualitative Studies on Health and Well-being*, 10. doi:10.3402/qhw.v10.27506

Michiels, A. (2017). Formal compensation practices in family SMEs. Journal of Small

Business and Enterprise Development, 24(1), 88-104. doi:10.1108/JSBED-12-2015-0173

- Miettinen, M., & Littunen, H. (2013). Factors contributing to the success of start-up firms using two-point or multiple-point scale models. *Entrepreneurship Research Journal*, 3, 449-481. doi:10.1515/erj-2012-0012
- Mikesell, L., Bromley, E., & Khodyakov, D. (2013). Ethical community-engaged research: A literature review. *American Journal of Public Health*, 103(12), e7e14. doi:10.2105/AJPH.2012.301605
- Miles, D. A. (2014). Examining forces that impact firms: A factor analysis of endogenous and exogenous risk factors and their effect on small business enterprises. *Academy of Business Research Journal*, 2, 20-35. Retrieved from http://www.aobronline.com
- Miller, D. (2016). Response to research on the dark side of personality traits in entrepreneurship: Observations from an organizational behavior perspective. *Entrepreneurship: Theory & Practice*. 40, 19-24. doi:10.1111/etap.12216
- Miller, D., Steier, L., & Le Breton-Miller, I. (2016). What can scholars of entrepreneurship learn from sound family businesses? *Entrepreneurship: Theory* & *Practice*, 40, 445-455. doi:10.1111/etap.12231
- Miller, L. C., Gottlieb, M., Morgan, K. A., & Gray, D. B. (2014). Interviews with employed people with mobility impairments and limitations: Environmental supports impacting work acquisition and satisfaction. *Work*, 48, 361-372. doi:10.3233/WOR-131784

- Miner-Romanoff, K. (2012). Interpretive and critical phenomenological crime studies: A model design. *The Qualitative Report*, 17(54), 1-32. Retrieved from http://tqr.nova.edu
- Mitchell, G. E. (2014). Strategic responses to resource dependence among transnational NGOs registered in the United States. *Voluntas*, 25, 67-91. doi:10.1007/s11266-012-9329-2
- Mitchell, V. W., Schlegelmilch, B. B., & Mone, S. D. (2016). Why should I attend? The value of business networking events. *Industrial Marketing Management*, 52, 100-108. doi:10.1016/j.indmarman.2015.05.014
- Mitchelmore, S., Rowley, J., & Shiu, E. (2014). Competencies associated with growth of women-led SMEs. *Journal of Small Business and Enterprise Development*, 21, 588-601. doi:10.1108/JSBED-01-2012-0001
- Mohd, A. H., & Mohamed, D. I., (2013). The role of accounting services and impact on small medium enterprises (SMEs) performance in manufacturing sector from East Coast Region of Malaysia: A conceptual paper. *Procedia - Social and Behavioral Sciences*, 64, 54-67. doi:10.1016/j.sbspro.2014.02.415
- Mole, K., North, D., & Baldock, R. (2016). Which SMEs seek external support? Business characteristics, management behaviour and external influences in a contingency approach. *Environment and Planning C: Government and Policy*, 35, 476-499. doi:10.1177/0263774X16665362
- Momani, N. M., & Fadil, A. S. (2013). Risk management practices in the Saudi business organizations: A case study of the city of Jeddah. *Journal of Business and Retail*

Management Research, 7(2), 1-10. Retrieved from http://www.jbrmr.com

- Moodysson, J., & Sack, L. (2016). Institutional stability and industry renewal: Diverging trajectories in the Cognac beverage cluster. *Industry and Innovation*, 23, 448-464. doi:10.1080/13662716.2016.1167014
- Morris, M., Schindehutte, M., Richardson, J., & Allen, J. (2015). Is the business model a useful strategic concept? Conceptual, theoretical, and empirical insights. *Journal* of Small Business Strategy, 17(1), 27-50. Retrieved from http://www.jsbs.org
- Morse, M. J. (2015). Critical analysis of strategies for determining rigor in qualitative inquiry. *Qualitative Health Research*, 25, 1212–1222.
  doi:10.1177/1049732315588501
- Moruku, R. K. (2013). Does entrepreneurial orientation predict entrepreneurial behavior? International Journal of Entrepreneurship, 17(1), 41-60. Retrieved from http://www.alliedacademies.org/international-journal-of-entrepreneurship
- Mucai, G. P., Kinya, G. S., Noor, A. I., & James, E. R. (2014). Tax planning and financial performance of small scale enterprises in Kenya. *International Review of Management and Business Research*, 3, 1236-1243. Retrieved from http://www.irmbrjournal.com
- Mulligan, C. B. (2015). The new employment and income taxes. *Journal of Policy Analysis & Management*, *34*, 466-473. doi:10.1002/pam.21821
- Mungal, A. & Garbharran, H. L. (2014). The perceptions of small businesses in the implementation of cash management techniques. *Journal of Economics and Behavioral Studies*, 6, 75-83. Retrieved from

http://www.ifrnd.org/JournalDetail.aspx?JournalID=2

- Munir, R., & Baird, K. (2016). Influence of institutional pressures on performance measurement systems. *Journal of Accounting & Organizational Change*, 12, 106-128. doi:10.1108/JAOC-09-2014-0051
- Munn, Z., Porritt, K., Lockwood, C., Aromataris, E., & Pearson, A. (2014). Establishing confidence in the output of qualitative research synthesis: The ConQual approach. *BMC Medical Research Methodology*, *14*(108), 1-7. doi:10.1186/1471-2288-14-108
- Mutanda, M., De Beer, M., & Myers, G. T. (2014). The perception of small and micro enterprises in the city of Durban Central Business District (CBD), (Kwazulu-Natal) (KZN) towards financial planning. *Mediterranean Journal of Social Sciences*, 5(6), 153-163. Retrieved from http://www.mcser.org/journal/index.php/mjss
- Myers, S., & Majluf, N. (1984). Corporate financing and investment decisions when firms have information that investors do not have. *Journal of Financial Economics*, 13, 187-222. doi:10.1016/0304-405X(84)90023-0
- Nell, P. C., Puck, J., & Heidenreich, S. (2015). Strictly limited choice or agency?
  Institutional duality, legitimacy, and subsidiaries' political strategies. *Journal of World Business*, 50, 302-311. doi:10.1016/j.jwb.2014.10.007
- Ng, F., Harrison, J. A., & Akroyd, C. (2013). A revenue management perspective of management accounting practice in small businesses. *Accountancy Research*, 21, 92-116. doi:10.1108/MEDAR-07-2012-0023

Nicklett, E. J., & Damiano, S. K. (2014). Too little, too late: Socioeconomic disparities in the experience of women living with diabetes. *Qualitative Social Work*, 13, 372-388. doi:10.1177/1473325014522572

Nkosi, E. Bounds, M. & Goldman, G. (2013). Skills required for the management of black-owned small enterprises in Soweto. *Acta Commercii*, 13, 1-10. doi:10.4102/ac.v13i1.186.

- Nkuah, J. K., Tanyeh, J. P., & Gaeten, K. (2013). Financing small and medium enterprises (SMEs) in Ghana: Challenges and determinants in accessing bank credits. *International Journal of Research in Social Sciences*, 2(3), 12-25. Retrieved from http://www.ijsk.org
- Nkundabanyanga, S. K., Akankunda, B., Nalukenge, I. & Tusiime, I. (2017). The impact of financial management practices and competitive advantage on the loan performance of MFIs. *International Journal of Social Economics*, 44(1), 114-131. doi:10.1108/IJSE-05-2014-0104
- Noy, C. (2008). Sampling knowledge: The hermeneutics of snowball sampling in qualitative research. *International Journal of Social Research Methodology*, 11, 327-344. doi:10.1080/13645570701401305

 Nwaigburu, K. O., & Eneogwe, V. N. (2013). Impact of accounting skill on entrepreneurship education for self-reliance and sustainable development: A study of selected small-scale business in Owerri Municipal Imo State. *Mediterranean Journal of Social Science*, 4(16), 81-88. doi:10.5901/mjss.2013.v4n16p81

Ocasio, W., & Radoynovska, N. (2016). Strategy and commitments to institutional

logics: Organizational heterogeneity in business models and governance.

Strategic Organization, 1-23. doi:10.1177/1476127015625040

- Oertel, S., Thommes, K., & Walgenbach, P. (2016). Organizational failure in the aftermath of radical institutional change. *Organization Studies*, *37*, 1067–1087. doi:10.1177/0170840615622071
- Oestreich, N., Toole, H. R., & Williamson, J. E. (2015). Component depreciation: A tax planning strategy for small businesses. *Journal of Small Business Strategy*, 12(2), 112-118. Retrieved from http://www.jsbs.org
- Okafor, R. G. (2012). Financial management practices of small firms in Nigeria: Emerging tasks for the accountant. *European Journal of Business and Management*, 4(19), 159-169. Retrieved from http://www.iiste.org/Journals/index.php/EJBM
- Oleinik, A., Popova, I., Kirdina, S., & Shatalova, T. (2014). On the choice of measures of reliability and validity in the content-analysis of texts. *Quality and Quantity*, 48, 2703-2718. doi:10.1007/s11135-013-9919-0
- Onwuegbuzie, A. J., & Byers, V. T. (2014). An exemplar for combining the collection, analysis, and interpretation of verbal and nonverbal data in qualitative research. *International Journal of Education*, 6(1), 183-246. doi:10.5296/ije.v6i1.4399
- Orobia, L. A., Byabashaija, W., Munene, J. C., Sejjaaka, S. K., & Musinguzi, D. (2013).
  How do small business owners manage working capital in an emerging economy? *Qualitative Research in Accounting and Management*, 10, 127-143.
  doi:10.1108/QRAM-02-2012-0008

- Orobia, L. A., Padachi, K., & Munene, J. C. (2016). Why some small businesses ignore austere working capital management routines. *Journal of Accounting in Emerging Economies*, 6(2), 94-110. doi:10.1108/JAEE-08-2013-0039
- Oulasvirta, L. (2014). The reluctance of a developed country to choose International
   Public Sector Accounting Standards of the IFAC. A critical case study. *Critical Perspectives on Accounting*, 25(3), 272-285. doi:10.1016/j.cpa.2012.12.001
- Owens, K. S., Kirwan, J. R., Lounsbury, J. W., Levy, J. J., & Gibson, L. W. (2013).
  Personality correlates of self-employed small business owners' success. *Work*, 45(1), 73-85. doi:10.3233/WOR-121536
- Paechter, C. (2013). Researching sensitive issues online: Implications of a hybrid insider outsider position in a retrospective ethnographic study. *Qualitative Research*, 13, 71-86. doi:10.1177/1468794112446107
- Palermo, T. (2014). Accountability and expertise in public sector risk management: A case study. *Financial Accountability & Management*, 30, 322-341. doi:10.1111/faam.12039
- Palinkas, L. A., Horwitz, S. M., Green, C. A., Wisdom, J. P., Duan, N., & Hoagwood, K. (2015). Purposeful sampling for qualitative data collection and analysis in mixed method implementation research. *Administration and Policy in Mental Health and Mental Health Services Research*, 42, 533-544. doi:10.1007/s10488-013-0528-y
- Palmer, J. C., Wright, R. E., & Powers, J. B. (2015). Innovation and competitive advantage in small businesses: Effects of environments and business strategy. *Journal of Small Business Strategy*, *12*(1), 30-41. Retrieved from

http://www.jsbs.org

- Parilla, E. S. (2013). Level of management practices of micro and small businesses in Ilocos Norte. International Journal of Academic Research in Business and Social Sciences, 3, 439-466. doi:10.6007/IJARBSS/v3-i7/67
- Parks, B., Olson, P. D., & Bokor, D. W. (2015). Don't mistake business plans for planning (it may be dangerous to your financial health). *Journal of Small Business Strategy*, 2(1), 15-24. Retrieved from http://www.jsbs.org
- Parry, S. N. (2016). The influence of neoliberal economics on small business accounting research: A critical evaluation of agendas and methodologies. *International Small Business Journal*, 34, 1076-1097, doi:10.1177/0266242615600508
- Patzelt, H., Williams, T. A., & Shepherd, D. A. (2014). Overcoming the walls that constrain us: The role of entrepreneurship education programs in prison. *Academy* of Management Learning & Education, 13, 587-620. doi:10.5465/amle.2013.0094
- Peake, W. O., Davis, P. E., & Cox, M. Z. (2015). Being good for goodness sake: The influence of family involvement on motivations to engage in small business social responsibility. *Journal of Small Business Strategy*, 25(1), 1-25. Retrieved from http://www.jsbs.org
- Prabadevi, P. (2014). A study on organizational commitment of employees in life insurance companies. *Global Management Review*, 9(1), 30-36. Retrieved from http://www.sonamgmt.org/gmr.html
- Prieto, L., Phipps, S., Thompson, L., & Ogbuehi, A. (2015). Social entrepreneurship and national human resource development: A Caribbean perspective. *International*

Journal of Entrepreneurship, 19(1), 105-118. Retrieved from

http://www.alliedacademies.org/international-journal-of-entrepreneurship

- Rahman, S. A., Amran, A., Ahmad, N. H., & Taghizadeh, S. K. (2015). Supporting entrepreneurial business success at the base of pyramid through entrepreneurial competencies. *Management Decision*, 53, 1203-1223. doi:10.1108/MD-08-2014-0531
- Rambe, P., & Makhalemele, N. (2015). Relationship between managerial competencies of owners /managers of emerging technology firms and business performance: A conceptual framework of internet cafes performance in South Africa. *The International Business & Economics Research Journal*, 14, 678-692. Retrieved from http://www.cluteinstitute.com/journals/international-business-economicsresearch-journal-iber
- Rauch, A., & Hulsink, W. (2015). Putting entrepreneurship education where the intention to act lies: An investigation into the impact of entrepreneurship education on entrepreneurial behavior. *Academy of Management Learning & Education*, 14, 187-204. doi:10.5465/amle.2012.0293
- Reynoso, C. F., Osuna, M. A. A., & Figueroa, L. E. O. (2014). Micro, small and mediumsized businesses in Jalisco: Their evolution, and strategic challenges. *Review of Business & Finance Studies*, 5(2), 27-43. Retrieved from http://www.theibfr.com/rbfcs.htm
- Robalo, R. (2014). Explanations for the gap between management accounting rules and routines: An institutional approach. *Revista De Contabilidad*, 17, 88-97.

doi:10.1016/j.rcsar.2014.03.002

- Rostron, A. (2014). Imagination, fiction and real life: Revitalising the interview in identity studies. *Electronic Journal of Business Research Methods*, 12, 96-102.
   Retrieved from http://www.ejbrm.com
- Rowley, J. (2012). Conducting research interviews. *Management Research Review*, 35, 260-271. doi:10.1108/01409171211210154
- Roy, A., Maxwell, L., & Carson, M. (2014). How is social media being used by small and medium-sized enterprises? *Journal of Business & Behavioral Sciences*, 26, 127-137. Retrieved from http://asbbs.org/jsbbs.html
- Sahut, J., & Peris-Ortiz, M. (2014). Small business, innovation, and entrepreneurship. *Small Business Economics*, 42, 663-668. doi:10.1007/s11187-013-9521-9
- Salikin, N., Ab Wahab, N., & Muhammad, I. (2014). Strengths and weaknesses among Malaysian SMEs: Financial management perspectives. *Procedia-Social and Behavioral Sciences*, 129, 334-340. doi:10.1016/j.sbspro.2014.03.685
- Sallem, N. R. M., Nasir, N. E. M., Nori, W. M. N. W. M., & Kassim, C. K. H. C. K. (2017). Small and medium enterprises: Critical problems and possible solutions. *International Business Management*, 11, 47-52. doi:10.3923/ibm.2017.47.52
- Samnani, A., & Singh, P. (2013). Exploring the fit perspective: An ethnographic approach. *Human Resource Management*, 52, 123-144. doi:10.1002/hrm.21516.
- Sarmiento, J. P., Hoberman, G., Jerath, M., & Jordao, G. F. (2016). Disaster risk management and business education: The case of small and medium enterprises. *Ad-Minister*, 28, 73-90. doi:10.17230/ad-minister.28.4

- Saunders, B., Kitzinger, J., & Kitzinger, C. (2015). Anonymising interview data:
  Challenges and compromise in practice. *Qualitative Research*, 15, 616-632.
  doi:10.1177/1468794114550439
- Schaupp, L. C., & Bélanger, F. (2014). The value of social media for small businesses. Journal of Information Systems, 28(1), 187-207. doi:10.2308/isys-50674
- Schenkel, M. T., D'Souza, R. R., Cornwall, J. R., & Matthews, C. H. (2015). Early influences and entrepreneurial intent: Examining the roles of education, experience, and advice networks. *Journal of Small Business Strategy*, 25(2), 1-20. Retrieved from http://www.jsbs.org
- Scherdin, M., & Zander, I. (2014). On the role and importance of core assumptions in the field of entrepreneurship research. *International Journal of Entrepreneurial Behaviour & Research*, 20, 216-236. doi:10.1108/IJEBR-01-2012-0015
- Schiff, A., & Szendi, J. (2014). Helping small business entrepreneurs avoid critical mistakes in QuickBooks accounting software. *Entrepreneurial Executive*, 19, 169-181. Retrieved from http://www.alliedacademies.org/entrepreneurialexecutive
- Schlosser, F. (2015). Identifying and differentiating key employees from owners and other employees in SMEs. *Journal of Small Business Management*, 53, 37-53. doi:10.1111/jsbm.12066
- Schoonjans, B., Cauwenberge, P., & Bauwhede, H. (2013). Formal business networking and SME growth. *Small Business Economics*, 41, 169-181. doi:10.1007/s11187-011-9408-6

- Scott, A., Darko, E., Lemma, E., & Rud, J. P. (2014). How does electricity insecurity affect businesses in low and middle income countries? *ODI Report*. Retrieved from www.dfid.gov.uk
- Selznick, P. (1948). Foundations of the theory of organization. American Sociological Review, 13(1), 25-35. Retrieved from http://www.jstor.org/stable/2086752
- Shea, J., & Wang, J. Q. (2016). Revenue diversification in housing nonprofits. *Nonprofit*& Voluntary Sector Quarterly, 45, 548-567. doi:10.1177/0899764015593643
- Shinnaranantana, N., Dimmitt, N. J., & Siengthai, S. (2013). CSR manager competencies: A case study from Thailand. *Social Responsibility Journal*, 9, 395-411. doi:10.1108/SRJ-07-2011-0053
- Si, S., Yu, X., Wu, A., Chen, S., Chen, S., & Su, Y. (2015). Entrepreneurship and poverty reduction: A case study of Yiwu, China. *Asia Pacific Journal of Management*, 32(1), 119-143. doi:10.1007/s10490-014-9395-7
- Simionescu, S., & Bica, E. (2014). Controversies and comparisons of definition for small and medium-sized enterprises at level of European Union. *Journal of Advanced Research in Management*, 5, 74-80. doi:10.14505/jarm.v5.2(10).02
- Singh, P. & Twalo, T. (2014). The impact of internal organizational factors on the inappropriate job performance and behavior of employees: A case study. *The International Business & Economics Research Journal (Online) 13*, 939-954.
  Retrieved from http://www.cluteinstitute.com/journals/international-business-economics-research-journal-iber

Smith, T., & Barrett, R. (2016). Online learning: an effective means for developing small

business owner-managers' capabilities. *Journal of Small Business and Enterprise* Development, 23, 207-223. doi:10.1108/JSBED-10-2013-0158

- Smith, T. A., & Deslandes, D. D. (2014). Disaggregating Jamaica's micro, small and medium frames on challenges faced for better policy development and planning. *Academy of Entrepreneurship Journal*, 20, 87-102. Retrieved from http://www.alliedacademies.org/academy-of-entrepreneurship-journal
- Soininen, J. S., Puumalainen, K., Sjögrén, H., Syrjä, P., & Durst, S. (2013).
  Entrepreneurial orientation in small firms values-attitudes-behavior approach. *International Journal of Entrepreneurial Behaviour & Research*, 19, 611-632.
  doi:10.1108/IJEBR-10-2012-0106
- Sorina-Diana, M., Dorel, P. M., & Nicoleta-Dorina, R. (2013). Marketing performance in Romanaian small and medium-sized enterprises - A qualitative study. *Annals of the University of Oradea, Economic Science Series*, 22, 664-671. Retrieved from http://anale.steconomiceuoradea.ro/en
- Spilková, J., Fendrychová, L., & Syrovátková, M. (2013). Farmers' markets in Prague: A new challenge within the urban shoppingscape. *Agriculture and Human Values*, 30(2), 179-191. doi:10.1007/s10460-012-9395-5
- Sponem, S., & Lambert, C. (2016). Exploring differences in budget characteristics, roles and satisfaction: A configurational approach. *Management Accounting Research*, 30, 47-61. doi:10.1016/j.mar.2015.11.003
- St. Vincent and the Grenadines National Insurance Services (2013). Annual Report 2012-2013: National Insurance Services. Retrieved from

http://nissvg.org/files/NISSVGAR2012-2013.pdf

- Stam, E. (2013). Knowledge and entrepreneurial employees: A country-level analysis. Small Business Economics, 41(4), 887-898. doi:10.1007/s11187-013-9511-y
- Stan, C. (2014). Concept of competence clarification and meanings. Managerial Challenges of the Contemporary Society, 7(2), 132-136. Retrieved from https://econ.ubbcluj.ro/jmccs
- Stone, G. (2015). Power, dependence and frustration. *Meditari Accountancy Research*, 23, 250-275. doi:10.1108/MEDAR-05-2014-0042
- Street, C. T., & Ward, K. W. (2012). Improving validity and reliability in longitudinal case study timelines. *European Journal of Information Systems*, 21, 160-175. doi:10.1057/ejis.2011.53
- Suchman, M.C. (1995). Managing legitimacy: Strategic and institutional approaches. Academy of Management Journal, 20, 571-610. Retrieved from http://aom.org/amj/
- Suddaby, R. (2014). Can institutional theory be critical? *Journal of Management Inquiry*, 24, 93-95. doi:10.1177/1056492614545304
- Sundvik, D. (2017). Book-tax conformity and earnings management in response to tax rate cuts. *Journal of International Accounting*, *Auditing and Taxation*, 28, 31-42. doi:10.1016/j.intaccaudtax.2016.12.003
- Swagel, P. (2015). Legal, political, and institutional constraints on the financial crisis policy response. *Journal of Economic Perspectives*, 29(2), 107-122. doi:10.1257/jep.29.2.107

Swisher, R. R., & Dennison, C. R. (2016). Educational pathways and change in crime between adolescence and early adulthood. *Journal of Research in Crime and Delinquency*, 53, 840-871. doi:10.1177/0022427816645380

Szymura-Tyc, M., & Kucia, M. (2016). Organizational culture and firms' internationalization, innovativeness and networking behaviour: Hofstede approach. *Entrepreneurial Business and Economics Review*, 4(4), 67-92, doi:10.15678/EBER.2016.040405

- Tamosiunas, A. (2014). Small and medium-sized enterprise restructuring for divergent and sustained competitive performance. *Journal of Advanced Research in Management*, 5(2), 81-91. doi:10.14505/jarm.v5.2(10).03
- Tan, L. M., Braithwaite, V., & Reinhart, M. (2014). Why do small business taxpayers stay with their practitioners? Trust, competence and aggressive advice. *International Small Business Journal*, 34, 329–344.
  doi:10.1177/0266242614555556
- Taneja, S., Pryor, M. G., & Hayek, M. (2016). Leaping innovation barriers to small business longevity. *Journal of Business Strategy*, 37(3), 44-51. doi:10.1108/JBS-12-2014-0145
- Tarafder, T., & Sultan, P. (2014). Reproductive health beliefs and their consequences: A case study on rural indigenous women in Bangladesh. *Australasian Journal of Regional Studies*, 20, 351-374. Retrieved from http://anzrsai.org/publications/ajrs
- Tauni, M. Z., Fang, H. X., & Iqbal, A. (2017). The role of financial advice and word-ofmouth communication on the association between investor personality and stock

trading behavior: Evidence from Chinese stock market. *Personality and Individual Differences*, *108*, 55-65. doi:10.1016/j.paid.2016.11.048

- Tauringana, V., & Afrifa, G.A. (2013). The relative importance of working capital management and its components to SMEs' profitability, *Journal of Small Business and Enterprise Development*, 20, 453-469. doi:10.1108/JSBED-12-2011-0029
- Teodoro, M. P. (2014). When professionals lead: Executive management, normative isomorphism, and policy implementation. *Journal of Public Administration Research & Theory*, 24, 983-1004. doi:10.1093/jopart/muu039
- Thébaud, S. (2015). Business as Plan B. *Administrative Science Quarterly*, *60*, 671-711. doi:10.1177/0001839215591627
- Tijani, O. M., & Mohammed, A. J. (2013). Computer-based accounting systems in small and medium enterprises: Empirical evidence from a randomized trial in Nigeria. *Universal Journal of Management*, 1, 13-21. doi:10.13189/ujm.2013.010103
- Trotter, R. T. (2012). Qualitative research sample design and sample size: Resolving and unresolved issues and inferential imperatives. *Preventive Medicine*, 55, 398-400. doi:10.1016/j.ypmed.2012.07.003

Tsingou, E. (2015). Club governance and the making of global financial rules. *Review of International Political Economy*, 22, 225-256. doi:10.1080/09692290.2014.890952

Tufford, L., & Newman, P. (2012). Bracketing in qualitative research. Qualitative Social Work, 11, 80-96. doi:10.1177/1473325010368316 Tung-Zong, C., & Vowles, N. (2013). Strategies for improving data reliability for online surveys: A case study. *International Journal of Electronic Commerce Studies*, 4, 121-129. doi:10.7903/ijecs.1121.

Turyahebwa, A, Sunday, T., Burani, A., & Eliabu, B. (2013). Financial management practices in small and medium enterprises in selected districts in Western Uganda. *Research Journal of Finance and Accounting*, 4(2), 29-42. Retrieved fromhttp://www.iiste.org/Journals/index.php/RJFA

Turyahebwa, A., Sunday, A., & Ssekajugo, D. (2013). Financial management practices and business performance of small and medium enterprises in Western Uganda. *African Journal of Business Management*, 7, 3875-3885.

doi:10.5897/AJBM2013.6899

- Ucbasaran, D., Shepherd, D., Lockett, A., & Lyon, S. (2013). Life after business failure: The process and consequences of business failure for entrepreneurs. *Journal of Management*, 39, 163-202. doi:10.1177/0149206312457823
- van Leijen-Zeelenberg, J.,E., van Raak, A.,J.A., Duimel-Peeters, I., Kroese, M. E. A. L., Brink, P. R. G., Ruwaard, D., & Vrijhoef, H. J. M. (2014). Barriers to implementation of a redesign of information transfer and feedback in acute care: Results from a multiple case study. *BMC Health Services Research*, 14(149), 1-10. doi:10.1186/1472-6963-14-149
- Venkatesh, V., Brown, S. A., & Bala, H. (2013). Bridging the qualitative-quantitative divide: Guidelines for conducting mixed methods research in information systems. *MIS Quarterly*, 37, 21-54. Retrieved from http://www.misq.org

- Vernuccio, M. (2014). Communicating corporate brands through social media: An exploratory study. *Journal of Business Communication*, 51, 211-233. doi:10.1177/2329488414525400
- Virglerová, Z., Kozubíková, L., & Vojtovic, S. (2016). Influence of selected factors on financial risk management in SMEs in the Czech Republic. *Montenegrin Journal* of Economics, 12(1), 21-38. doi:10.14254/1800-5845.2016/12-1/1
- Vohra, V. (2014). Using the multiple case study design to decipher contextual leadership behaviors in Indian organizations, *Electronic Journal of Business Research Methods*, 12, 54-65. Retrieved from www.ejbrm.com
- Wafler, B. H., & Swierczek, F. (2014). Closing the distance: A grounded theory of adaptation. *Journal of Asia Business Studies*, 8, 65-80. doi:10.1108/JABS-11-2012-0050
- Walker, J. L. (2012). Research column: The use of saturation in qualitative research. *Canadian Journal of Cardiovascular Nursing*, 22(2), 37-41. Retrieved from http://www.cccn.ca/content.php?doc=21
- Walker, R. C., Howard, K., Morton, R. L., Palmer, S. C., Marshall, M. R., & Tong, A. (2015). Patient and caregiver values, beliefs and experiences when considering home dialysis as a treatment option: A semi-structured interview study. *Nephrology Dialysis Transplantation*, 1–9. doi:10.1093/ndt/gfv330
- Wang, C. L., Rafiq, M., Li, X., & Zheng, Y. (2014). Entrepreneurial preparedness: An exploratory case study of Chinese private enterprises. *International Journal of Entrepreneurial Behaviour & Research*, 20, 351-374. doi:10.1108/IJEBR-06-

- Wang, Y., & Ching, L. (2013). Institutional legitimacy: An exegesis of normative incentives. *International Journal of Water Resources Development*, 29, 514-525. doi:10.1080/07900627.2013.787831
- Waraich, S. B., & Chaturvedi, A. (2016). Entrepreneurship development in business schools: An analysis of initiatives in Delhi and NCR. South Asian Journal of Management, 23(1), 189-209. Retrieved from http://www.sajm-amdisa.org
- Watson, T. J. (2015). E-file storage: How to make it safe: What to keep, for how long, and where? *Family Advocate*, 37(4), 43-46. Retrieved from http://www.americanbar.org/publications/family\_advocate\_home.html
- Wei, F., & Si, S. (2013). Tit for tat? Abusive supervision and counterproductive work behaviors: The moderating effects of locus of control and perceived mobility.
  Asia Pacific Journal of Management, 30, 281-296. doi:10.1007/s10490-011-9251-y
- Weinzimmer, L. G., Robinson, R. K., & Fink, R. L. (2015). Small business entry strategies: An integration of technological discontinuity and industry growth potential. *Journal of Small Business Strategy*, 5(1), 1-10. Retrieved from http://www.jsbs.org
- Wernerfelt, B. (1984). A resource-based view of the firm. *Strategic Management Journal*, 5(2), 171-180. Retrieved from http://smj.strategicmanagement.net
- Williams, C. C., Horodnic, I. A., & Windebank, J. (2015). Explaining participation in the informal economy: An institutional incongruence perspective. *International*

Sociology, 30, 294-313. doi:10.1177/0268580915578745

- Williams and O'Donovan (2015). The accountants' perspective on sustainable business practices in SMEs. *Social Responsibility Journal*, *11*, 641-656. don:10.1108/SRJ-07-2014-0096
- Williams, C. C., & Shahid, M. S. (2016). Informal entrepreneurship and institutional theory: Explaining the varying degrees of (in) formalization of entrepreneurs in Pakistan. *Entrepreneurship & Regional Development*, 28(1-2), 1-25. doi:10.1080/08985626.2014.963889
- Williams, N., & Vorley, T. (2014). Institutional asymmetry: How formal and informal institutions affect entrepreneurship in Bulgaria. *International Small Business Journal*, 33, 840–861. doi:10.1177/0266242614534280
- Wilson-Genderson, M., & Pruchno, R. (2015). Functional limitations and gender differences: Neighborhood effects. *The International Journal of Aging and Human Development 2015*, 81, 83–100. doi:10.1177/0091415015614843
- Witesman, E. M. (2016). An institutional theory of the nonprofit. *Nonprofit & Voluntary Sector Quarterly*, 45, 97S-115S. doi:10.1177/0899764016651729
- Wolf, L. E., Patel, M. J., Williams-Tarver, B. A., Austin, J. L., Dame, L. A., & Beskow,
  L. M. (2015). Certificates of confidentiality: Protecting human subject research
  data in law and practice. *Journal of Law, Medicine & Ethics*, 43, 594-604.
  Retrieved from http://www.aslme.org/Back\_Issues\_And\_Articles?journal=JLME
- Wolmarans, H., & Meintjes, Q. (2015). Financial management practices in successful small and medium enterprises (SMEs). Sajesbm, 7, 88-116. Retrieved from

http://www.sajesbm.co.za

- Wright, M., & Stigliani, I. (2013). Entrepreneurship and growth. International Small Business Journal, 31, 3-22.doi:10.1177/0266242612467359
- Yang, Z., & Su, C. (2014). Institutional theory in business marketing: A conceptual framework and future directions. *Industrial Marketing Management*, 43, 721-725. doi:10.1016/j.indmarman.2014.04.001
- Yazdanfar, D., Abbasian, S., & Hellgren, C. (2014). Competence development and performance among Swedish micro firms. *European Journal of Training and Development*, 38, 162-179. doi:10.1108/EJTD-10-2013-0106
- Yeasmin, N. (2016). The determinants of sustainable entrepreneurship of immigrants in Lapland: An analysis of theoretical factors. *Entrepreneurial Business and Economics Review*, 4(1), 129-159. doi:10.15678/EBER.2016.040109
- Yeo, T. D. (2016). Communicating legitimacy. Journalism & Mass Communication Quarterly, 93, 609-626. doi:10.1177/1077699016628823
- Yildirim, H. S., Akci, Y., & Eksi, I. H. (2013). The effect of firm characteristics in accessing credit for SMEs. *Journal of Financial Services Marketing*, 18, 40-52. doi:10.1057/fsm.2012.28
- Yilmaz, K. (2013). Comparison of quantitative and qualitative research traditions: Epistemological, theoretical, and methodological differences. *European Journal* of Education, 48, 311-325. doi:10.1111/ejed.12014.
- Yin, R. K. (2011). Qualitative research from start to finish. New York, NY: Guilford.
- Yin, R. K. (2013). Validity and generalization in future case study evaluations.

Evaluation, 19, 321-332. doi:10.1177/1356389013497081

- Young, M. N., Tsai, T., Wang, X., Liu, S., & Ahlstrom, D. (2014). Strategy in emerging economies and the theory of the firm. *Asia Pacific Journal of Management*, *31*, 331-354. doi:10.1007/s10490-014-9373-0
- Zapata, M. I. B., Brito, A. E. P., & Triay, J. H. B. (2014). Financial management in the family and non-family SME's in the textile industry in Mexico. Accounting & *Taxation*, 6(2), 49-57. Retrieved from http://www.theibfr.com/at.htm
- Zivkovic, J. (2012). Strengths and weaknesses of business research methodologies: Two disparate case studies. *Business Studies Journal*, 4(2), 91-99. Retrieved from http://www.alliedacademies.org/business-studies-journal

## Appendix A: Interview Protocol

- 1. Introductions between interviewer and interviewee.
- 2. Present consent form and withdrawal form, verify contents, and answer questions and concerns of the interviewee, if any.
- 3. Allow interviewee to sign consent form.
- 4. Give interviewee a copy of a signed consent form.
- 5. Position and turn on recording device.
- Introduce interviewee with pseudonym identification and note the location, date, and time.
- 7. Commence interview and proceed as listed.
- 8. Follow up with additional questions.
- 9. End interview.
- 10. Discuss member checking with interviewee.
- 11. Thank interviewee for participation in the study.
- 12. Reconfirm contacts, and remind the interviewee that follow up questions and concerns from him/her are welcome.
- 13. End protocol.

## Appendix B: Interview Questions

- 1. What practices do you use to manage the finances of the business?
- 2. What are the essential strategies you use to manage the finance of the business?
- 3. What strategies do you use to select the financial management?
- 4. What assessment have you used to determine the success of the strategies that you use to manage finance in your business?
- 5. What educational background and experience do you have in the area of financial management?
- 6. What additional information can you share about your strategies for effective financial management?